DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL VACCINATION STRATEGIES AGAINST EMERGING

BUNYAVIRUSES

Tomaz Berquo Manzoni

A DISSERTATION

in

Cell and Molecular Biology

Presented to the Faculties of the University of Pennsylvania

in

Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

2022

Supervisor of Dissertation

Paul Bates, PhD Professor of Microbiology

Graduate Group Chairperson

Daniel S. Kessler, PhD Associate Professor of Cell and Developmental Biology

Dissertation Committee

Sunny Shin, PhD, Associate Professor of Microbiology Matthew D. Weitzman, PhD, Professor of Microbiology Jorge Henao-Mejia, MD, PhD, Associate Professor of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Scott Hensley, PhD, Professor of Microbiology

DEVELOPMENT OF NOVEL VACCINATION STRATEGIES AGAINST EMERGING

BUNYAVIRUSES

COPYRIGHT

2022

Tomaz Berquo Manzoni

This work is licensed under the

Creative Commons Attribution-

NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 International

License

To view a copy of this license, visit

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Completion of this thesis would not have been possible without the help of countless people. Unfortunately, not all were able to be named here, but to anyone reading this who took part in my graduate career, thank you.

Firsts and foremost I would like to thank Dr. Paul Bates for taking me into his lab and allowing me to pursue my interests both in the lab and outside of the lab as I tried to learn what careers interested me. I would also like to thank him for all the support and advice he has given me as well as for taking me into his lab under unusual circumstances. I would also like to thank my thesis committee members, Dr. Sunny Shin, Dr. Matthew Weitzman, Dr. Jorge Henao-Mejia, and Dr. Scott Hensley for their guidance and encouragement throughout my graduate career. I would especially like to thank Dr. Sunny Shin for always being willing to take time out of her busy schedule to give me advice when things were not going well. I would also like to thank Dr. Carolina López for all that I learned in her lab, and all the interesting science and fun outings that I had a chance to be a part of. Of special note are the people who make CAMB work, thank you Dr. Daniel Kessler, Anna Kline, Meagan Schofer, Kathy O'Connor-Cooley, and Christina Strathearn for all you have done to support the program.

The work presented here would not have been possible without all the lab members of the López and Bates lab. First, to the members of the López lab, thank you all for your support, feedback, and friendship. In particular I'd like to thank Devin Fisher for teaching me how to do mouse work, which is kind of a big part of this thesis; and Emmanuelle Genoyer, who was a great mentor and was always willing to chat when I had scientific questions. To all López lab members, Devin Fisher, Emmanuelle Genoyer, Jie Xu, Yan, Sun, Sebastien Felt, Lavinia Gonzalez, Alex Valenzuela, and Geyon Garcia, thanks for all the memories, the donut runs, and for getting me hooked on coffee. Next, thank you to the Bates lab members past and present for all your help and for making lab a fun place. Thank you in particular to Phil Hicks for providing feedback on science, for making terrible jokes, and for the collaboration on various papers. Also, thank you to Kendall Lundgreen for all her help with ELISAs and FRNTs, I know they were not fun to do. No Bates lab acknowledgement would be complete without the inclusion of Steve Bart who provided other graduate students and myself with some golden nuggets of wisdom and was very helpful during my rotation in the Bates lab.

I would like to thank all my wonderful friends from St. Olaf College who have come to visit me in Philly, supported me, and given me countless laughs. Special thank you to Andy Reiter, Elias Beretta, Michael Schroeder, Britta Kronzer, Joey Kronzer, and Sam Weaver. You guys are amazing, and I couldn't have done it without you.

To my grad school roommates, Kelly Fagan, Mckenzie Collins, and Lucas VanGorder, I appreciate you guys and couldn't have asked for better roommates (well, the kitchen could have been cleaner). We had some really fun times, thanks for always being there to make terrible jokes, and for helping turn the bad times into good ones with the help of some margaritas!

In grad school I started a new hobby, rock climbing, with some friends. In the process we ended up having a lot of fun, learning a lot, and having some great adventures. Thank you, Josh Hatterschide, Grace Hatterschide, Chris Gu, Jaz Cheung, Katie Marquis, Tyler Rehak, Emily Kugler, and Brandon Wenz, for going on some fun adventures with me and for the motivation to climb harder.

An especially huge thank you to my CAMB friends/bug out crew/montana compound members – Seth Zost, Steve Bart, Mary Margaret Addison, John Paul Bisciotti, Louis Taylor, Devin Fisher, Shannon Christensen, Chris Christensen, and Courtney Comar. And let's not forget the 4-legged members of the crew, Turk, Charlie, Odin, Myshka, and Harper. You were all very welcoming of me when I came to graduate school and included me in your group despite me being a younger student. I appreciate all the scientific help, the memes, parties, karaoke, and countless burgers and beers at Grace Tavern. I can't imagine having gone through grad school without you all. When the end times come, I'll see you all in Montana.

To my family, thank you all for the love and support. Mom, and Dad, thank you for always believing in me and for encouraging me to do my best and pursue my interests. Thank you for all you've done to ensure that I've had the experiences that led me to where I am today.

Finally, thank you to my fiancée and my dog Harper. Harper is an amazing pup and has brough me immense joy, love, and emotional support. I can't imagine having gone through the pandemic without Harper, home isn't complete without her excited grunting and butt wiggles. Courtney, thank you for all your support. I've been extremely lucky to have had you by my side to help with all the hard times in grad school and to share the joy from all the good times. Thank you for the science help, supporting me in all my hobbies, going climbing with me, and for pushing me to become a better scientist and person!

ABSTRACT

DEVELOPMENTOF NOVEL VACCINATION STRATEGIES AGAINST EMERGING BUNYAVIRUSES

Tomaz Berquo Manzoni

Paul Bates, PhD

Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus (SFTSV) is a highly pathogenic emergent bunyavirus. First isolated in 2009 in China, SFTSV is now endemic to several east Asian countries where high case fatality ratios of 6-30% are reported. The primary tick vector of SFTSV, Haemaphysalis longicornis, has a large range and is a well reported invasive species throughout the world. This, in addition to SFTSV's ability to spread in the absence of its vector in nosocomial and veterinary settings, suggests SFTSV is well suited to cause widespread lethal outbreaks. Currently no vaccines or therapeutics against SFTSV exist, prompting health agencies to list SFTSV as a high priority pathogen. Here, we first develop a single dose recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) encoding the SFTSV glycoproteins Gn/Gc as a virus vectored vaccine. We demonstrate that this vaccine (rVSV-SFTSV) is safe in immunocompromised mice and not neuropathogenic when delivered intracerebrally. Additionally, this vaccine induces robust antibody responses that are protective from lethal challenge. Furthermore, we demonstrate that this vaccine elicits cross-protective responses against the closely related Heartland virus. We then developed an mRNA vaccine encoding SFTSV Gn/Gc and compared this platform with our rVSV-SFTSV vaccine in single dose, homologous prime-boost, and heterologous prime-boost regimens. We found that mRNA immunizations in single dose and homologous prime-boost regimens achieved the highest neutralizing antibody titers. Immunizations with rVSV-SFTSV also reached high antibody titers though they were the lowest titers of any immunization regimen, with

heterologous prime-boost having intermediate titers. When T-cell responses were analyzed, mRNA immunization achieved robust CD4+ and CD8+ responses in single dose and homologous prime-boost regimens. Heterologous vaccine regimens elicited similar responses to homologous mRNA strategies despite weak cellular activity after rVSV-SFTSV prime. Despite some differences in immunogenicity, all vaccines were protective from lethal SFTSV challenge. Overall, this work demonstrates the effectiveness of two vaccine platforms in their ability to elicit robust protective responses against SFTSV.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS III
ABSTRACTVI
LIST OF TABLESXI
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION1
1.1 - Emerging Bunyaviruses11.1.1 Introduction to Emergent Bunyaviruses11.1.2 SFTSV Epidemiology51.1.3 SFTSV Biology71.1.4 Animal Models for SFTSV11
1.2 - Vaccines151.2.1 Vaccines Overview.151.2.2 Characteristics of Immune Responses201.2.3 Type 1 vs Type 2 Immunity.281.2.4 Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vaccines.321.2.5 mRNA Vaccines351.2.6 Heterologous Vaccination Strategies39
1.3 - Current SFTSV Vaccine Candidates411.3.1 DNA Vaccines411.3.2 Protein Subunit Vaccines431.3.3 Viral vectored vaccines44
1.4 – Experimental Questions
CHAPTER 2: SAFETY, IMMUNOGENICITY AND EFFICACY OF A RECOMBINANT VESICULAR STOMATITIS VIRUS VECTORED VACCINE AGAINST SEVERE FEVER WITH THROMBOCYTOPENIA SYNDROME VIRUS AND HEARTLAND BANDAVIRUSES
2.1 – Abstract
2.2 – Importance
2.3 – Introduction
 2.4 – Results

2.4.3 rVSV-SFTSV protects Ifnar ^{-/-} mice from lethal SFTSV challenge and reduces vira	I titers in
tissues	61
2.4.4 Passive serum transfer imparts protective immunity to naïve mice	63
2.4.5 rVSV-SFTSV vaccination cross protects against lethal HRTV challenge	65
2.5 – Discussion	67
2.6 – Acknowledgements	72
27 – Author Contributions	72
2.8 – Materials and Methods	73
2.8.1 Cells, Viruses, and Mice	73
2.8.2 Western Blot	75
2.8.3 rVSV-SFTSV replication kinetics assay	75
2.8.4 Measurement of plaque area	75
2.8.5 Immunization	
2.8.6 Intracranial infection and neurologic sign scoring	76
2.8.7 Blood collection	77
2.8.8 Pseudovirus neutralization assav	
2.8.9 Virus titer determination	
2.8.10 Passive transfer	
2.8.11 Statistical and Data Analysis	79
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS IN POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS	81
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS	81
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS	81
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81 82 83
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81 82 83 87
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INIPOTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS	81
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INIPOTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS	81
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INIPOTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS	81 82 83
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INIP POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INIP POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INIP POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract. 3.2 – Introduction 3.3 – Results 3.3.1 IFNAR antibody blockade recapitulates lethal infection in WT mice. 3.3.2 Prime-boost vaccination strategies induce powerful antibody responses against S 3.3.3 Homologous mRNA and heterologous immunizations stimulate powerful type I Cl CD8+ responses 3.3.4 Antibody isotype analysis indicate mRNA induces some type 2 associated immuni- despite lack of type 2 cytokines in stimulated T-cells	81 82
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract. 3.2 – Introduction 3.3 – Results 3.3.1 IFNAR antibody blockade recapitulates lethal infection in WT mice. 3.3.2 Prime-boost vaccination strategies induce powerful antibody responses against S 3.3.3 Homologous mRNA and heterologous immunizations stimulate powerful type I Cl CD8+ responses 3.3.4 Antibody isotype analysis indicate mRNA induces some type 2 associated immuni despite lack of type 2 cytokines in stimulated T-cells. 3.3.5 Prime-boost vaccination regimens are fully protective from SETSV challenge	81 82 83 87 SFTSV 89 D4+ and 93 nity 96 go
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract. 3.2 – Introduction 3.3 – Results 3.3.1 IFNAR antibody blockade recapitulates lethal infection in WT mice 3.3.2 Prime-boost vaccination strategies induce powerful antibody responses against S 3.3.3 Homologous mRNA and heterologous immunizations stimulate powerful type I Cl CD8+ responses 3.3.4 Antibody isotype analysis indicate mRNA induces some type 2 associated immuni despite lack of type 2 cytokines in stimulated T-cells. 3.3.5 Prime-boost vaccination regimens are fully protective from SFTSV challenge. 3.3.6 High levels of antibody are maintained for months after vaccination	81 82 83 87 SFTSV 89 D4+ and 93 hity 96 94
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81 82 83 87 SFTSV 89 D4+ and 93 nity 96 93 nity 96 91
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81 82 83 87 SFTSV 89 D4+ and 93 hity 96 90 101 103
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract. 3.2 – Introduction 3.3 – Results 3.3.1 IFNAR antibody blockade recapitulates lethal infection in WT mice 3.3.2 Prime-boost vaccination strategies induce powerful antibody responses against 9 3.3.3 Homologous mRNA and heterologous immunizations stimulate powerful type I C CD8+ responses 3.3.4 Antibody isotype analysis indicate mRNA induces some type 2 associated immun despite lack of type 2 cytokines in stimulated T-cells 3.3.5 Prime-boost vaccination regimens are fully protective from SFTSV challenge. 3.3.6 High levels of antibody are maintained for months after vaccination. 3.4 – Discussion. 3.5 – Acknowledgements	81 82 83 87 87 SFTSV 93 D4+ and 93 nity 96 99 101 103 110
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81 82 83 87 87 SFTSV 93 D4+ and 93 nity 96 91 101 110 110
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS	81 82 83 87 87 SFTSV 89 D4+ and 93 nity 93 nity 90 101 110 110
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS IN POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81 82 83 87 87
CHAPTER 3: VACCINATION WITH MRNA AND RVSV PLATFORMS INI POTENT PROTECTIVE IMMUNE RESPONSES AGAINST SFTSV IN HOMOLOGOUS AND HETEROLOGOUS REGIMENS 3.1 – Abstract	81 81 82 83 87 SFTSV 89 D4+ and 93 hity 9101 110 110 110 110

3.8.2 Cells, Viruses, and Mice	
3.8.3 Production of mRNA-LNP Vaccines	
3.8.4 Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	113
3.8.5 Immunizations	
3.8.6 Blood collection	
3.8.7 Pseudovirus neutralization assay	
3.8.8 Flow Cytometry	
3.8.9 Serum and Tissue Virus Titers	117
3.8.10 Statistical and Data Analysis	117
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	
4.1 – Summary of findings	
4.2 – General discussion and future directions	122
4.2.1 rVSV-SFTSV vaccine	122
4.2.2 mRNA SFTSV vaccine	126
4.2.3 Heterologous vaccines	128
4.2.4 Animal models & cross protection	130
4.3 – Closing remarks	
-	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Current animal models of SFTSV.	.12	2
---	-----	---

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure 1.1 Global Distribution of Pathogenic Bunyaviruses	2
Figure 1.2 STSV Virion Structure and Genome Organization	8
Figure 1.3 Signals 1, 2, and 3 in T-cell activation	.25
Figure 1.4 Type 1 vs Type 2 Immunity	.30
Figure 2.1 rVSV-SFTSV has a favorable safety profile compared to rVSV-EBOV and	
parental VSV	57
Figure 2.2 rVSV-SFTSV induces neutralizing antibodies across different mouse	~ ~
strains	60
Figure 2.3 Vaccination with rVSV-SFTSV protects <i>Itnar</i> ⁴⁻ mice from lethal SFTSV	
challenge	.62
Figure 2.4 Passive transfer of sera from immunized mice protects naïve mice against	64
Figure 2.5 rV/SV_SETSV/vaccination cross_protects animals against MA_HRTV	.04
challenge	66
Figure 2 S1 rVSV-SETSV expresses SETSV alycoproteins and is attenuated in vitro	.00 80
	.00
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α -IFNAR blockade	88
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α -IFNAR blockade Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humor	.88 ral
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α -IFNAR blockade Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humor responses	.88 ral 90
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α-IFNAR blockade Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humor responses Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce pot	.88 ral 90 ent
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α-IFNAR blockade Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humor responses Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce pot cellular responses.	.88 ral 90 ent .94
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α-IFNAR blockade Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humor responses Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce pot cellular responses Figure 3.4 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV platforms do not induce type 2 cytokin	.88 ral 90 ent .94 es
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD50 in α-IFNAR blockade.Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humorresponses.Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce potcellular responses.Figure 3.4 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV platforms do not induce type 2 cytokinIL-4 and IL-5.	.88 ral 90 ent .94 es 98
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α-IFNAR blockade Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humon responses Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce pot cellular responses Figure 3.4 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV platforms do not induce type 2 cytokin IL-4 and IL-5 Figure 3.5 All immunization conditions are protective from lethal SFTSV challenge1	.88 ral 90 ent .94 es 98 00
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α-IFNAR blockade Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humor responses Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce pot cellular responses	.88 ral 90 ent .94 es 98 00 02
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α-IFNAR blockade Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humor responses. Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce pot cellular responses. Figure 3.4 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV platforms do not induce type 2 cytokin IL-4 and IL-5. Figure 3.5 All immunization conditions are protective from lethal SFTSV challenge1 Figure 3.6 All immunization conditions elicit long lived antibody responses	.88 ral 90 ent .94 es 98 00 02
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α-IFNAR blockade. Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humor responses. Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce pot cellular responses. Figure 3.4 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV platforms do not induce type 2 cytokin IL-4 and IL-5. Figure 3.5 All immunization conditions are protective from lethal SFTSV challenge1 Figure 3.6 All immunization conditions elicit long lived antibody responses. 1 Figure 3.51 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS continue having strong cellular responses 14 days after immunization.	.88 ral 90 ent .94 es 98 00 02
Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD ₅₀ in α-IFNAR blockade	.88 ral 90 ent .94 es 98 00 02 118 IL-

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1.1 – Emerging Bunyaviruses

As humans come into increasingly close contact with wild animals due to urban sprawl, the likelihood of encountering emergent viruses, newly discovered viruses with increasing incidence, increases concurrently¹. In the last several decades there have been many new pathogenic viruses including Middle East respiratory syndrome virus, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronaviruses 1 and 2 (SARS-CoV-1 and SARS-CoV-2), and Nipah virus, among many others, have caused significant impact to humans. Indeed, many of the major epidemics and pandemics of the last century, including Ebola virus (EBOV), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), and various coronaviruses (CoV), have been associated with zoonotic transmission from animal reservoirs²⁻⁴. Among the recent emergent viruses are the viruses in the *Bunyavirales* order which pose serious public health and economic threats⁵.

1.1.1 Introduction to Emergent Bunyaviruses

The *Bunyavirales* order encompasses a large and diverse set of viruses found throughout the world (Figure 1.1). These viruses are generally characterized by having multisegmented, single stranded RNA genomes that are either ambisense or negative sense⁶. The genomes of these viruses are generally comprised of three segment (with the exception of the Arenaviruses, which have two segments and are a recent addition to the order *Bunyavirales*)^{6,7}. Most viruses in this order are spread by arthropod vectors such as mosquitos, flies, or ticks; the two exceptions to this are the Hantaviruses, which are spread by aerosolization of rodent feces, and the Arenaviruses which cause chronic asymptomatic infections in their rodent hosts (due to their significant differences in virology, Arenaviruses are not discussed further)⁶. This order of viruses includes many



Global Distribution of Pathogenic Bunyaviruses



important pathogens with high economic and health burdens associated with livestock and human disease.

Many bunyaviruses pose public health and economic hazards including Rift Valley fever virus (RVFV), Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever virus (CCHFV), and severe fever with thrombocytopenia virus (SFTSV). One of the first identified bunyaviruses was RVFV which was first isolated in the 1930's during a large outbreak that led to the death of many livestock animals and hemorrhagic fever in humans^{8,9}. Since this outbreak, retrospective studies have identified suspected RVFV outbreaks dating as far back as 1912 and outbreaks continue to this day^{8,9}. A member of the *Phenuiviridae* family, RVFV is spread by mosquitos. In mosquitos, it infects the midgut after a blood meal from an animal carrying the virus at a high enough viremia⁶. Once the virus replicates in the midgut it eventually travels to the salivary glands of the mosquito where, upon the next blood meal, it is injected into the skin of the bitten animal⁶. As is seen in many other bunyaviruses, RFVF can be transmitted transovarially and is seasonal/cyclical according to conditions favoring its vector⁸. RVFV is endemic to sub-Saharan Africa and the Arabian Peninsula where it represents a major economic and health hazard (Figure 1.1)^{8,9}. The virus infects domestic ruminants causing high rates of mortality and abortions or fetal malformations in pregnant animals^{8,9}. In humans, RVFV generally causes a self-limiting febrile illness but in some cases can cause severe disease including hemorrhagic fever, neurologic disorders, and blindness^{8,9}. These symptoms, including hemorrhagic fever and neurologic disorders are common symptoms of many other bunyaviruses⁶. The potential for RVFV to cause large outbreaks and significant economic damage cannot be overstated. Since the discovery of RVFV, many more deadly bunyaviruses have been identified which often share similar disease manifestations and life cycles to those of RVFV.

Many other bunyaviruses represent public health threats. The hantaviruses include several species such as Sin Nombre virus (SNV) and Andes virus (ANDV) which are spread by aerosolized mouse feces (Figure 1.1)⁶. Human infection by hantaviruses often manifests itself through hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (HFRS) or hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome (HPS)¹⁰. HFRS is caused by old world hantaviruses, such as Hantaan virus (HTNV), Dobrava-Belgrade virus (DOBV), and Puumala virus (PUUV), with reported cases in China alone reaching as high as 100,000 cases a year¹⁰. New world hantaviruses, such as SNV, ANDV, and Black creek canal virus (BCCV), cause HPS which has a case fatality ratio of 40-50%¹⁰. Infection by new world hantaviruses is less common with 816 cases reported from 1993 to 2019 by the Centers of Disease Control¹¹.

The tick-borne virus CCHFV is another source of significant health and economic burden. Disease caused by CCHFV was originally described in 1944 and the virus was later identified in 1968^{12,13}. CCHFV has a high case fatality rate of approximately 30% and shares a similar disease course and range to RVFV¹³. Like many bunyaviruses, the burden of disease for CCHFV remains understudied due to it primarily impacting rural farmworkers. More recently discovered bunyaviruses include SFTSV and heartland virus (HRTV), identified in 2009 and 2011 respectively¹⁴⁻¹⁶. HRTV was discovered in the Midwest of the United States and is transmitted by the lone-star tick¹⁶. Despite the prevalence of the HRTV tick in the Midwest, the disease remains uncommon with few recorded cases. Its Asian counterpart, SFTSV, on the other hand has become commonplace in East Asia and is considered an endemic seasonal disease (Figure 1.1)^{17,18}. SFTSV has quickly become a major public health concern due to its high case fatality ratio, lack of treatment options, and the expanding range of its tick vector. A

common theme among the Bunyaviruses is the pervasiveness of high case fatality ratios and a lack of effective treatment and preventative therapies.

1.1.2 SFTSV Epidemiology

SFTSV first emerged in 2009 in the rural Hubei and Henan provinces of China¹⁵. An unknown illness with a case fatality ratio (CFR) of 30% was observed in patients presenting with fever, thrombocytopenia, leukopenia, and gastrointestinal symptoms¹⁵. After ruling out anaplasmosis and other suspected pathogens, a virus was isolated by culturing a variety of cell lines with patient serum¹⁵. Sequencing of viral RNA identified a novel Bunyavirus, SFTSV¹⁵. Since the initial report of SFTSV in China, several other countries including Japan, Vietnam, and South Korea, have reported CFRs ranging from 6-30%^{17,19,20}. These numbers are likely overestimates of actual CFR due to SFTSV incidence in rural areas and the likelihood of unreported asymptomatic cases.

Clinical disease of SFTSV is characterized by fever, leukopenia, and gastrointestinal symptoms including nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea^{21,22}. These initial symptoms generally occur 3-7 days after a tick bite or other exposure^{21,22}. In general, patients with mild disease recover from these symptoms after approximately a week and see viral titers decrease over 2 weeks after initial disease onset²¹. In patients with severe disease, however, virus titers continue increasing and new symptoms manifest. These symptoms are far more serious including hemorrhagic manifestations such as disseminated intravascular coagulation and pulmonary and gastrointestinal bleeding, central nervous system (CNS) disorders such as tremors, convulsions, and comas, and acute respiratory distress^{21,22}. Patients with severe illness often experience multiorgan distress which may be reversible in some patients, however, this often leads to multiorgan failure and death²¹. Infection by the closely related HRTV induces similar

disease manifestations²³. Currently no approved therapeutics exist against SFTSV, thus, patients can only be treated for manifested symptoms, not the underlying disease.

Like other viruses in the *Phenuiviridae* family, SFTSV is a tick-borne disease. The primary vector of SFTSV is the Asian long-horned tick, *Haemophysalis longicornis*, though other tick species have been found to be positive for SFTSV²⁴. Work with the closely related HRTV suggests that these viruses can be transmitted among ticks transstadially and transovarially^{25,26}. Additionally, cofeeding of ticks allows uninfected ticks to acquire the virus, though this transmission method appears to be rare²⁶. It remains unknown whether ticks, mammals, and/or birds are reservoir species for SFTSV and HRTV. Several serologic studies have found a wide range of animals to be seropositive for SFTSV, including sheep, cattle, dogs, and chickens²⁷. As a tick-borne disease, SFTSV incidence increases seasonally from early spring to late fall. Additionally, environmental predictors of tick populations including cattle density, temperature, rainfall, and forest coverage correlate with incidence of SFTSV²². Of particular concern is the expanding range of the invasive H. longicornis tick. Originally endemic to China, Japan, Korea, and eastern Russia, H. longicornis was introduced to Australia, and New Zealand in the 19th century and has been recently identified in eastern United States^{28,29}. Spatial modeling of climates suitable for *H. longicornis* suggest a potential for the tick to greatly expand its range leading to ecologic, and economic damage²⁸. Indeed, tick surveys in New Jersey have found all immature life stages of *H. longicornis* suggesting a viable population³⁰. Currently, no ticks outside of eastern Asia have been found positive for SFTSV, yet the expanding presence of this vector threatens to increase SFTSV incidence around the world.

Though primarily tickborne, SFTSV has been shown to be infrequently transmitted by other means. Ferret studies have shown that SFTSV can be transmitted

in the absence of ticks when animals are co-housed or co-housed with a separator³¹. This transmission is thought to be due to contact with bodily fluids, as SFTSV was detected at high titers in ferrets' saliva, urine, and feces³¹. Indeed, several cases of nosocomial transmission have been reported in humans that have been exposed to blood from infected individuals³². Additionally, zoonotic transmission from cat bites have been reported in veterinary settings^{33,34}. Due to the potential for severe disease, evidence of human-to-human transmission, the ever-increasing range of the SFTSV vector, and a lack of vaccines or therapeutics, SFTSV is classified as a Category C Priority Pathogen by the National Institutes of Health and is often included in lists of high priority pathogens by other health organizations^{35,36}.

1.1.3 SFTSV Biology

As with other members of the *Phenuiviridae* family of viruses, SFTSV has a tripartite RNA genome composed of a large (L), medium (M), and small (S) segment (Figure 1.2)¹⁵. Both the 6.3 kilobase-pair (kb) L and the 3.3 kb M segments are negative sense and encode the RNA dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) and the glycoproteins (Gn/Gc) respectively¹⁵. The 1.7kb S segment is ambisense with the nucleocapsid (N) encoded in one direction and a non-structural protein (NSs) encoded in the opposite orientation¹⁵. Each RNA segment has terminal complimentary regions and thus each segment is predicted to form a noncovalently closed loop (Figure 1.2)⁶. The N protein encapsidates the viral genome and is essential for transcription and replication by the RdRp, which is found in complex with the viral RNA and N⁶. The glycoproteins Gn/Gc are found on the membrane of the virus and confer specificity and enables viral entry into cells^{6,37}. The NSs protein is an interferon (IFN) antagonist³⁸. Fully formed SFTSV virions are pleiomorphic and range from 80-100nm¹⁵.





The infection cycle of SFTSV and other Bunyaviruses begins with interaction of the glycoproteins, Gn/Gc, and their receptor, which induces receptor-mediated endocytosis^{6,39}. As endosomes acidify, Gn/Gc mediated fusion of viral and endosomal membranes occurs, releasing viral nucleoproteins into the cytoplasm where SFTSV and other bunyaviruses replicate^{6,39}. The RdRp mediates viral transcription and replication within the cytoplasm, which is thought to be membrane associated. Replication and transcription are dependent on both the presence of RdRp and N⁶. The SFTSV glycoproteins Gn/Gc are produced as a single polyprotein which is then cleaved by a yet to be identified protease^{6,39}. In cells, the uncleaved precursor of Gn/Gc is not observed, indicating that cleavage occurs co-translationally⁶. Once cleaved, Gn and Gc remain associated as dimers within the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and golgi compartments due to the presence of ER and golgi localization signals⁴⁰. Interestingly, Gn can exit the ER when expressed alone, but Gc cannot⁶. This indicates that oligomerization of the two glycoproteins is necessary to overcome the ER retention signal found in Gc⁶. The Gn/Gc complex is capable of budding and is sufficient for the formation of virus like particles⁶. Viral particles are made when Gn/Gc bud into the golgi with S, M, and L fragments. Once in the golgi the virus is transported out of the cell by vesicles.

SFTSV entry is mediated by Gn/Gc presenting a potential target for therapeutic and vaccine development. It is unclear which glycoprotein subunit is responsible for imparting specificity; both proteins are likely involved in binding. Multiple studies have failed to isolate an SFTSV receptor, and entry factors remain poorly characterized. Several studies have indicated that the lectin dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule 3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN) is likely involved in SFTSV entry, as knockout cells showed decreased viral infection³⁷. While DC-SIGN is involved in SFTSV entry it cannot be the sole receptor, as cell types lacking DC-SIGN can be infected by

SFTSV³⁷. After receptor-mediated endocytosis, fusion is then mediated by the Gc subunit^{37,41}. This has been shown to occur in late endosomes and is pH dependent with fusion occurring at a pH of approximately 5-5.5⁴². Proteins associated with viral entry are also poorly characterized, though studies show that UDP-glucose ceramide glucosyltranferase (UGCG) is a contributing factor. In UGCG-knockout cells, SFTSV virions are unable to fuse and fail to exit late endosomes, preventing viral replication⁴³. It is known that antibodies against either Gn or Gc can neutralize virus^{37,44,45}. This indicates that both subunits likely play a role in interacting with receptors. Neutralization of Gn/Gc thus presents a potential target in the development of vaccines, although further work is needed to identify key entry factors on the host cell.

Although the receptor for SFTSV is unknown, several groups have investigated the cellular and tissue tropism of the virus. In one study in humans, it was found that in fatal disease the primary target organs for SFTSV were the lymph nodes⁴⁶. High levels of SFTSV were also detected by immunohistochemistry and real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) in the spleen and bone marrow⁴⁶. The primary cell types infected by SFTSV were macrophages and class-switched B cells⁴⁶. Mouse models of SFTSV have shown similar targets with virus detected in the spleen, lymph nodes, liver, and kidney of infected animals⁴⁷. The targets of infection in mice appear to be primarily macrophages and B cells, resembling human infections⁴⁷. Another similarity between infections in mice and humans is the high levels of virus detected in the lymph nodes in fatal disease⁴⁷. Notably, a difference between infection in mice and humans is the absence of hemophagocytosis in the mouse model⁴⁷. This symptom is characteristic of fatal cases in humans but not observed in mice. This is perhaps due to the lack of IFN signaling in the most commonly used SFTSV animal models.

1.1.4 Animal Models for SFTSV

The development of efficacious vaccines and therapeutics is dependent on the availability of good animal models to test potential therapies. Quality animal models must meet several criteria, among them: achieving similar disease course as in humans, reasonable cost of use, and availability of tools to assess immune responses. In general, all animal models currently employed to study of SFTSV are lacking in at least one of these areas (Table 1.1). The current animal models of SFTSV infection are aged ferrets, cats, and immunosuppressed or newborn mice and hamsters (Table 1.1).

One of the better models at recapitulating human disease is the SFTSV aged ferret model^{31,48}. In a study with various mouse strains as well as aged and young ferrets it was found that aged ferrets (\geq 4 years old) succumbed to SFTSV by 8 days post challenge⁴⁸. In contrast, young ferrets challenged equivalently exhibited no lethality and only minor clinical symptoms⁴⁸. Aged ferrets showed a variety of clinical symptoms of disease that mimicked what is seen in human patients; this included fever, severe thrombocytopenia, decreased white blood cell count, and increases in both aspartate aminotransferase and alanine aminotransferase⁴⁸. High viral titers were detected in the spleen, liver, and serum of aged animals⁴⁸. Overall, this model captures clinical manifestations of SFTSV well, despite a lack of CNS symptoms and a lack of any mortality in young animals (despite a higher mortality in older humans, SFTSV can be fatal in younger individuals). Notably, an aged ferret model is unlikely to gain traction as a widely used animal model. Very few vendors offer ferrets ≥ 4 years old, and when they are available these animals carry a significant financial cost. Labs are also unlikely to purchase and maintain ferrets until they are old enough to manifest clinical symptoms, again due to the overwhelming cost associated with such an experiment. Finally, few tools are available for the analysis of immunological responses limiting the ability to

Animal	Strain/Age	Immunocompetence	Lethality	Immunolo- gic tools	Accessibility/barriers to use
Mouse	WT Newborn	Incompletely developed immune system	Lethal		Not a good model for vaccine studies
	WT Adult	Immunocompetent	Non-lethal		
	WT Aged	Immunocompetent	Non-lethal		
	IFNAR Ab	Temporarily immunocompromised	Lethal	Readily available	Expense of IFNAR Ab
	lfnar≁	Immunocompromised	Lethal		Lacks full immune capabilities useful for vaccine studies
	Stat1 ^{.,}	Immunocompromised	Non-lethal		
	Stat2 ^{-/-}	Immunocompromised	Lethal		Lacks full immune capabilities useful for vaccine studies
Hamster	WT Newborn	Incompletely developed immune system	Non-lethal		
	WT Adult	Immunocompetent	Non-lethal	Somewhat available	
	Stat2 ^{-/-}	Immunocompromised	Lethal		Lacks full immune capabilities useful for vaccine studies
Ferret	≤2 Years Old	Immunocompetent	Non-lethal	Lacking	
	≥4 Years Old	Immunocompetent	Lethal		Not readily available; Expensive; Risk of bites and scratches; Known transmission of SFTSV in absence of tick
Cats	Russian blue, American shorthair	Immunocompetent	Lethal	Lacking	Expensive; Risk of bites and scratches; Known transmission of SFTSV in absence of tick; Ethical concerns
Non-Human Primates	Rhesus macaque	Immunocompetent	Non-lethal	Somewhat available	

Table 1.1 Current animal models of SFTSV

dissect responses elicited by potential vaccines. Taken together, ferrets recapitulate human SFTSV disease well, but are limited in their use for the development of treatment strategies. This model may however become useful in the end-stages of development of therapeutics.

Another animal that shows clinical symptoms mirroring what is seen in humans is the SFTSV cat model. It has been widely reported that cats (including domestic cats and in one case a cheetah) can be infected by SFTSV and manifest clinical symptoms^{49,50}. A small study of 6 cats experimentally infected with SFTSV demonstrated a 66% fatality rate⁵⁰. All animals showed severe thrombocytopenia and decreased white blood cell counts, surviving animals began recovery at approximately day 14 post infection⁵⁰. Additionally, cats infected with SFTSV developed high fever, extensive gastrointestinal symptoms, and hepatic and renal damage consistent with what is seen in humans infected with SFTSV⁵⁰. As previously discussed with the ferret model, an SFTSV cat model has many shortcomings such as cost and lack of tools for deep analysis of immune responses. Both ferrets and cats are also far more difficult to handle and pose a danger to researchers who must conduct these studies in animal biosafety level 3 facilities (ABSL3). Transmission of SFTSV through a cat bite has been documented and ferrets have been shown to transmit SFTSV to cohoused animals³³. Both animal models have been shown to contain high titers of SFTSV in their bodily fluids^{48,50}. Therefore, a bite or scratch from a challenge animal could prove fatal making these animal models potentially dangerous and unlikely to become commonplace.

The most common animal used as a model in research is the mouse. Extensive work has been done to identify mouse models that effectively recapitulate human SFTSV disease. The mouse model is ideal for research and development of novel vaccines and therapeutics due to the short lifespan, rapid reproduction, and ease of

handling, as well as their affordability and availability of extensive genetic and biological tools. Unsurprisingly, due to the ease of use of this animal model various groups have attempted to find mouse strains that recapitulate with reasonable accuracy human SFTSV disease. One study analyzed 12 immunocompetent mouse strains (including aged mice in these strains) and found that none of the tested immunocompetent mouse strains succumbed to lethal disease⁴⁷. This study demonstrated that wild type C57/BL6 mice did have some weight loss upon challenge despite no lethality⁴⁷. SFTSV has been shown to cause lethal disease in wild type mice only when mice are newborn⁴⁷. This is likely due to newborn mice lacking a developed immune system capable of mounting a significant response to infection. As such, newborn mice are not useful in vaccination studies or for the analysis of pathologic responses.

Due to the lack of lethality of SFTSV in wild type mice, most groups rely on immunocompromised animals. The primary immunocompromised mouse model is the IFN alpha/beta receptor knockout (*Ifnar^{-/-}*) mouse^{47,51,52}. Most studies developing novel SFTSV targeted therapies or vaccines have made use of *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice as SFTSV causes lethal disease that closely mimics SFTSV symptoms in humans. The caveat of studies using *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice in vaccine studies is that IFN signaling is critical in initiating immune responses that lead to immunity. Regardless, even without an IFN response many studies have been able to make strides in the development of SFTSV therapeutics. Other immunocompromised animals that have been identified to be susceptible to lethal SFTSV infection are mice and hamsters that are *Stat2^{-/-53}*. Like *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice, the IFN signaling pathway is disrupted in *Stat2^{-/-}* mice allowing them to succumb to SFTSV infection.

The most recent SFTSV animal model is the use of wild-type mice treated with an α -IFNAR monoclonal antibody (mAb)⁵⁴. This group reported (and we later confirmed,

see chapter 3) that use of this α -IFNAR mAb strategy led to complete lethality in all mice given a sufficient challenge dose⁵⁴. α -IFNAR mAb was administered at low doses on day -1 and day 2 post infection⁵⁴. The use of this mAb treatment likely stifles the animal's immune response, allowing the virus to rapidly expand and cause tissue damage. When compared to *Ifnar* ^{-/-} mice, lethality in α -IFNAR mAb treated animals lagged and SFTSV in mAb treated animals did not reach titers as high as those in *Ifnar*^{-/-} mice⁵⁴. This is likely due to the inability of the mAb to control all IFN signaling resulting in weak immune responses that slightly dampen SFTSV mediated disease. For vaccine work this model represents a great improvement in available tools by allowing vaccine candidates to be tested in immune competent animals, thereby enabling a better understanding of the characteristics of the immune response elicited by vaccine candidates. Additionally, it allows for challenge studies with animals that can mount a full immune response with the caveat that this immune response is briefly dampened by the α -IFNAR mAb therapy.

1.2 – Vaccines

1.2.1 Vaccines Overview

Vaccines are the most effective public health intervention available and save an estimated 2-6 million lives each year from preventable diseases^{55,56}. Vaccination is a powerful strategy to combat infectious diseases and has allowed for the elimination of rinderpest and smallpox as well as the near elimination of polio virus⁵⁶. The primary function of vaccines is to expose an individual's immune system to immunogens from disease causing pathogens thereby eliciting protective immune responses⁵⁵. An immunogen here is defined as a component of a pathogen against which an immune response can be directed, most commonly these are proteins, though sugars and lipids are also potential immunogens. Successful vaccines drive an immune response that will be recalled if the vaccinated individual ever encounters the immunogen again⁵⁵.

Immunization is safer than infection from the pathogen and once a sufficient portion of the population is immunized, herd immunity can be achieved⁵⁶. Achieving high vaccine efficacy requires vaccination with appropriate immunogen using the ideal delivery method for the chosen immunogen and eliciting the correct type of immune response.

Vaccines vary widely on how an immunogen is delivered, each delivery strategy comes with benefits and drawbacks. Here, four classes of vaccines approved for human use will be discussed, these include live attenuated pathogens, inert vaccines, virus vectored vaccines, and nucleic acid vaccines, the most recently approved class of vaccines. Historically, most licensed vaccines have used live attenuated or inert vaccine platforms, however, these platforms present difficulties that underscore the need for new vaccine platforms⁵⁵. Broadly, live attenuated vaccines contain a version of the live pathogen which has been weakened sufficiently to no longer cause significant disease in humans⁵⁵. Inert vaccines deliver one or more non-replicating immunogens⁵⁵. New vaccine technologies such as virus vectored and nucleic acid vaccines are becoming more common and hold the promise of improving upon the historical vaccine platforms. Virus vectored vaccines use live viruses that are non-pathogenic to humans to deliver an immunogen from another pathogen⁵⁵. Finally, nucleic acid vaccines deliver mRNA or DNA (currently no DNA based vaccines are approved for human use) encoding an immunogen which is then produced by cells in the vaccinated individual⁵⁵.

The first vaccines developed were attenuated live vaccines⁵⁷. These vaccines are generally produced by passaging pathogens many times through various animals or cell lines that are slightly permissive of pathogen replication or by using related pathogens that do not cause disease in humans^{55,57}. For example, the oral polio virus vaccine was developed by passaging polio virus through rats and monkeys which are not infected efficiently^{55,57}. Due to this passaging, the virus accumulated various

mutations that enabled it to adapt to growth in the animals where it was passaged. The adaptation of the virus to infect these animals in turn resulted in a virus that is less virulent in humans. Another example of an attenuated vaccine is the smallpox vaccine^{55,57}. The original smallpox vaccine used by Edward Jenner used the cowpox virus, which is related to variola virus, the cause of smallpox⁵⁷. Patients immunized with the cowpox virus would develop immunity that cross-protects them from smallpox⁵⁷. Live attenuated vaccines continue to be widely used to this day, some examples of this vaccine type include the measles, mumps, and rubella vaccine, rotavirus vaccine, chickenpox vaccine, and the yellow fever vaccine⁵⁷.

There are many advantages and disadvantages to consider in using live attenuated vaccines. The primary advantages lie in the robust long-lived responses they generate^{55,58}. Because they are live viruses the immune polarization (see section 1.2.3) is similar to what would be achieved by natural infection⁵⁸. These vaccines thus elicit powerful responses optimal for the pathogen they target while largely eliminating the risk of severe disease^{55,58}. The disadvantage of these vaccines, however, is the potential for reverted virulence⁵⁷. Because the immunogens in these vaccines are replicating, there is the potential for the accumulation of mutations that revert the pathogen to a virulent strain⁵⁷. The oral polio vaccine is an example of the risks associated with live attenuated vaccines. Every year a small number of children vaccinated with the oral polio vaccine develop polio disease due to the virus reverting to wild type^{57,59}. An additional consideration that is needed for the use of live attenuated vaccines is the immune status of patients. While attenuated vaccines are generally safe for immunocompetent people, they can cause severe disease and even death in immunocompromised patients⁶⁰⁻⁶². Additionally, these vaccines are not recommended for pregnant women as their immune systems are somewhat compromised, and they can pose a risk of crossing the placenta

and infecting the baby which is largely unable to respond to infectious pathogens⁶³. Finally, the production of live attenuated vaccines can be complicated and time intensive. It frequently takes many repeated passages through animals or tissue culture cells to achieve a pathogen that is sufficiently attenuated⁵⁷. Additionally, it is unclear what cells or animals will yield the best results in attenuating pathogens or even if the pathogen will be sufficiently attenuated⁵⁷. Because of these drawbacks, live attenuated vaccines may not always be optimal and alternatives should be considered.

The next and perhaps largest class of vaccines are inert vaccines. These vaccines deliver an immunogen that is not capable of replicating and causing disease⁵⁵. These vaccines range from delivering a single immunogen that is sufficient to provide protection up to delivery of a whole killed pathogen⁵⁵. The immunogens delivered in these vaccines can vary widely, in some cases, recombinant proteins are delivered to target an immune response against a single protein that is essential for disease⁵⁵. Vaccines of this type are widely used to target bacterial toxins⁵⁵. In toxoid vaccines, an inactive version of the toxin is delivered to the patient creating immunity against the virulence agent as opposed to the pathogen itself⁵⁵. Polysaccharides, complex sugars coating the exterior of many bacteria, can also be targeted with this vaccination type⁵⁵. In vaccinations against viruses, viral-like particles, which lack nonstructural proteins, or whole killed virus may be used⁵⁵. Some pathogens targeted by inert vaccines currently in use include, tetanus, diphtheria, shingles, hepatitis B, and human papilloma virus⁵⁵.

While inert vaccines are advantageous due to their safety in immunocompromised individuals, their disadvantage lies in their inability to drive a strong immune response alone⁵⁵. Inert vaccines by nature of not replicating or being virulent are unable to elicit the signals associated with infections and responsible for initiating immune responses^{55,64}. Because of this, inert vaccines are often delivered with

adjuvants, which are compounds able to stimulate immune responses^{55,64}. Unfortunately, adjuvants may not always elicit immune responses that are ideal for controlling the targeted pathogen^{58,64}. Inert vaccines are generally associated with immune responses that are not long-lived and thus may require booster immunizations.

A relatively new class of human vaccines are the virus vectored vaccines^{55,66,66}. This type of vaccine typically uses viruses that are non-pathogenic to humans to deliver an immunogen^{65,66}. While extensively studied, only recently have these vaccines become more widely adopted with the development and approval for human use of the vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) vectored Ebola virus vaccine, and adenovirus vectored SARS-CoV-2 vaccines^{66,67}. Virus vectored vaccines are advantageous in their ability to produce robust long-lasting immunity^{55,65,66}. A major concern for viral vectored vaccines is the potential for platform immunity⁶⁶. Delivery of immunogens through a virus elicits immune responses not only to the desired immunogen, but also to the proteins that comprise the viral vector. Therefore, vaccination with a VSV vector may render future immunizations with VSV platforms ineffective due to immune responses against the vector itself⁶⁶. Additionally, insertion of immunogens into a non-pathogenic virus may alter that virus's pathogenicity^{65,66,66}. Because of these characteristics of virus vectored vaccines using the VSV platform are discussed in detail in section 1.2.4.

The most recent class of vaccines approved for human use are the nucleic acid vaccines. Nucleic acid vaccines, both mRNA and DNA based, have been under development for decades^{68,69}. These vaccines rely on the delivery of nucleic acid sequences encoding an immunogen. As an example, the two SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccines, which are the only currently approved nucleic acid vaccines in humans, encode the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2⁷⁰. Cells that take up the mRNAs produce the

encoded immunogen, spike protein in this case, which leads to the induction of a strong immune response⁶⁹. The advantages of nucleic acid vaccines are that once the platform is optimized and an immunogen is found to be protective, they are easy produce and manufacture is scalable⁶⁹. Once an immunogen's nucleic acid sequence is known, producing needed mRNA or DNA sequences for vaccination is a relatively fast process. There are however some disadvantages to these vaccines, the primary challenge is often delivery⁶⁹. Nucleic acids need to be delivered into cells; in DNA vaccines this often involves electroporation which can be painful to the patient⁶⁸. Other concerns for DNA vaccines are the potential for integration into the vaccinated patients' chromosomal DNA⁶⁸. Delivery of mRNA vaccines has been largely addressed (see section 1.2.5) but these vaccines require a strict cold chain to maintain effectiveness⁶⁹. mRNA vaccines must be maintained at -80 °C and once thawed for use they cannot be frozen again due to degradation of the mRNA⁶⁹. This can complicate delivery of vaccines to isolated rural populations where maintaining a cold chain may be unfeasible. It is likely that in the coming years more mRNA-based vaccines will become available due to their various advantages and the robust responses they achieve. Section 1.2.5 delves deeper into mRNA vaccines.

1.2.2 Characteristics of Immune Responses

Immune responses are generally characterized as either innate or adaptive immunity. The innate immune system is non-specific, meaning innate immune responses are not pathogen specific^{71,72}. The innate immune system serves as a broadly acting response that can slow infections while the adaptive immune system is activated^{71,72}. Innate immunity includes physical barriers, cellular populations, and various proteins⁷¹. Physical barriers include skin and mucous membranes which serve as a first line of defense preventing pathogens from entering the body⁷¹. The cellular

populations involved in innate immunity are extensive and indeed can include all nucleated cells^{71,72}. The more commonly discussed cellular elements of the innate immune system include macrophages, dendritic cells, natural killer cells, basophils, eosinophils, and mast cells^{71,72}. In brief, macrophages and dendritic cells are phagocytic cells considered to be professional antigen presenting cells (APCs)⁷². These cells phagocytose proteins and pathogens in the extracellular milieu and present peptides, short protein sequences (approximately 8-15 amino acids long) that are found within protein sequences in pathogens, to B- and T-cells⁷². Natural killer cells cause cytotoxicity to cells infected with pathogens⁷². Eosinophils, basophils and mast cells are associated with tissue damage, large extracellular pathogens, and allergenic responses⁷². All nucleated cells can be considered part of the innate immune system as these cells encode proteins for the detection of pathogens and the initiation of the adaptive immune response^{71,72}. The protein components associated with innate immunity are vast and can be constitutively active or activated by certain danger signals elicited by infections or tissue damage⁷¹⁻⁷³. Recognition of danger signals is done by pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) which recognize pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs)^{72,73}. Many different PAMPs are recognized by the innate immune system including various species of mRNA (ex. double stranded or uncapped mRNA), cytoplasmic DNA, polysaccharides, and lipids^{72,73}. Most PRRs are constitutively active and once activated they initiate a cascade of protein interactions resulting in altered transcription and the production of immune signaling proteins such as interferon (IFN), and various cytokines and chemokines^{72,73}. The subset of cytokines produced is dependent upon the type of PAMPs, each PRR generally results in a slightly different cytokine profile which is able to shape the adaptive immune response⁷³. The cytokines produced directly influence the type of immune response mounted, with detection of

RNA PAMPs leading to different responses than polysaccharide PAMPS. Importantly, the innate immune system is separate from the adaptive immune system but interactions between the two systems are essential to mounting and shaping adaptive responses⁷¹.

The adaptive immune system is composed primarily of B- and T-cells which are activated when they encounter their cognate peptide (Note that B-cells can also recognize nucleic acids and sugars. T-cells have also been described to respond to lipids instead of peptides)^{71,72,74-76}. Each B- and T-cell is specific to one specific epitope giving these cells very narrow specificities^{71,72}. While innate immunity is important to initiate an immune response to vaccines, the adaptive immune response is typically examined when analyzing vaccine responses.

The adaptive immune system can be further broken down into humoral and cellular immunity^{71,72}. Humoral immunity is associated with immunoglobulins (Ig), which are produced by B-cells^{71,72}. Cellular immunity is associated with T-cells which are broken into two subsets CD4+ helper cells, and CD8+ cytotoxic cells^{71,72}. Both B- and T-cells share a similarity in having a receptor that is highly specific^{71,72}. In the case of B-cells, this receptor is the B-cell antigen receptor (BCR). The BCR genes encode the immunoglobulin proteins which are referred to as the BCR when anchored to B-cell membranes, and antibodies when secreted^{71,72}. In T-cells, the T-cell receptor (TCR) is responsible for the detection of antigens presented by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) ^{71,72}. Both these receptors are formed by somatic rearrangements of germline-encoded elements. This somatic rearrangement allows for the recognition of millions of epitopes with each having a unique specificity⁷². This vast repertoire of B- and T-cell specificities allows almost any encountered immunogen to be recognized and an immune response mounted.

T-cells can be further subdivided into two main subtypes which are defined by surface expression of CD4 or CD8. CD8+ T-cells are called cytotoxic T-cells and function primarily to kill cells infected with intracellular pathogens, though they also secrete cytokines thereby regulating immune responses^{71,72}. CD4+ T-cells on the other hand act primarily by regulating the immune cellular and humoral response through cytokine secretion and are often referred to as helper T-cells (Th)^{71,72}. There are many subpopulations of CD4+ T-cells that have been described, these populations are characterized by the cytokines they secrete and the types of pathogens that they help in controlling.

T-cells must encounter their cognate epitope to be activated. For T-cells to become activated they must form an interaction through the TCR and a peptide containing MHC^{71,72,77}. Notably, the TCR is not activated upon interaction with its cognate peptide or MHC proteins alone; they must both be found in complex⁷¹. T-cell activation is broken down into three signals (Figure 1.3). The first signal occurs when the T-cell recognizes, through the TCR, its cognate peptide presented in an MHC (Figure 1.3). The initial activation of T-cells results in the CD4 or CD8 molecules then binding the MHC to stabilize the complex^{72,77}. Signal two includes a variety of protein interactions that lead to further activation and clonal expansion of activated T-cells (Figure 1.3)^{72,77}. In the case of CD4+ T-cells, CD28 activation by B7.1(CD80) or B7.2(CD86) found on the APC is critical in initiating proliferation^{72,77}. To control T-cell expansion CTLA-4(CD152) is produced to compete for CD28 interaction, thereby slowing the expansion of Tcells^{72,77}. CD8+ T-cells also rely on CD28 signaling though to a lesser extent, other costimulatory molecules which are used by CD8+ T-cells are CD70 and 4-1BB(CD137)^{72,77}. To generate a strong response, pro-survival signals are given to Tcells at this stage through ICOS, 4-1BB, and OX4072,77. If co-stimulation does not occur

at this stage, the T-cells become inactive again without replicating, thereby preventing aberrant activation^{72,77}. Once a T-cell has become active, it is then able to induce an immune attack the next time it encounters its antigen without the need for further co-stimulation. Signal three occurs once the activated T-cell encounters cytokines, this often occurs at the site of infection or tissue damage (Figure 1.3)^{72,77}. These cytokines shape the activity of the T-cell by polarizing it to best response for the type of damage detected^{72,77,78}. For further discussions on T-cell polarization see section 1.2.3.

As discussed above, T-cells are activated through interactions with MHC proteins which are divided into two main classes. Class I are present in all nucleated cells and present peptides from within the cell^{71,72}. Class II presents internalized and proteolytically digested peptides within specialized APCs^{71,72}. Since MHC class I cells present endogenous peptides (note, exogenous presentation can also occur for more information see cited source), they are particularly important for protection from intracellular pathogens^{71,72,79}. Cells infected with intracellular pathogens present proteolytically processed peptides on MHC class I proteins^{71,72,80}. Upon recognition of the MHC class I and it's cognate peptide, CD8+ T-cells are activated secrete perforin and granzyme which kills the infected cell and, in many circumstances, the infecting pathogen^{71,72}. In contrast, MHC class II proteins are primarily expressed on "professional" APCs such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and B-cells^{71,72,80}. During inflammation epithelial and endothelial cells can also express MHC class II⁷¹. CD4 Tcells recognize MHC class II-presented antigens. Once CD4+ T-cells are activated, the cytokines secreted by the APC or present at the site of infection or tissue damage impacts their maturation and the cytokines that will be produced by the T-cell. Both CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells can be categorized into subtypes that have different functions⁷⁸. CD4+ T-cells in particular have various subpopulations characterized by their secreted


Figure 1.3 Signals 1, 2, and 3 in T-cell activation The first signal in activation of T-cells comes when the TCR interacts with an MHC molecule containing it's cognate peptide. This interaction is stabilized by CD4 or CD8. Co-stimulatory signal occurs inducing survival and proliferation. Many co-stimulatory proteins exist, shown here are CD28 and 4-1BB and their respective ligands. The presence of tissue damage or pathogen associated cytokines is signal three. The presence of these cytokines polarizes T-cells to have functions suited for the elimination of the pathogen they respond to. Created with BioRender.com

cytokine profiles⁷⁸. Polarization into each subtype is largely dependent on the cytokines present upon initial activation of the T-cell. Once polarized, T-cells secrete cytokines which are important for instructing other aspects of the immune response⁷⁸. One consequence of T-cell polarization is the induction of antibody class switching by B-cells. Further discussion into certain immune polarizations is described in the next section.

Production of antibodies is driven by B-cell activation. Several types, called isotypes, of antibodies may be produced by B-cells. These isotypes in mice are IgM, IgD, IgG (which is found in isotypes IgG1, IgG2a/c, IgG2b, and IgG3), IgA, and IgE^{71,72,81}. Humans have similar antibody isotypes, though functions are not necessarily homologous between mouse and human antibodies of the same isotype. Some differences between human and mouse isotypes include human IgA antibodies having the subclasses IgA1 and IgA2, and IgG being split into IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, and IgG4 in humans (all further antibody discussion focuses on mouse antibodies)⁸¹. These different isotypes are structurally and functionally distinct, for example secreted IgM is pentameric and cannot cross into mucosa^{72,81}. In contrast, IgA antibodies are found as monomers or dimers and are capable of crossing into mucosa when dimerized^{72,81}. Naïve B-cells generally produce antibodies of isotypes IgM and IgD. Once activated isotype switching and somatic hypermutation of the variable region, the epitope sensing region of antibodies, occur. This allows for selection of higher affinity antibodies and production of antibodies in isotypes that have functions useful in the response against a pathogen^{71,72,81}. The process by which a B-cell is activated and matures is the determinant of antibody isotype produced after class switching.

Activation of B-cells leads to class switching and production and secretion of antibodies. B-cell activation may occur in a T-cell dependent or independent manner. In T-cell dependent activation, a B-cell binds its cognate antigen by the BCR⁷¹. The antigen

is then internalized and degraded for presentation on MHC class II proteins⁷¹. In this way B-cells can act as antigen presenting cells which activate CD4+ T-cells. Activation of Bcells occurs in lymphoid organs in highly organized structures called germinal centers^{72,82}. In these structures B-cells interact primarily with a specialized subset of CD4+ T-cells called follicular helper cells (Tfh)⁸². Upon recognition of the antigen by a Tfh cell's TCR, CD40 on the B-cell interacts with its ligand found on the T-cell and cytokines secreted by the T-cell lead to activation of the B-cell and rapid clonal expansion^{71,72}. Cytokines secreted by the Tfhs induce and control isotype switching. Of particular importance for later discussions, the cytokines interleukin (IL)-4 and IFN_Y are associated with the induction of IgG1 and IgG2c, respectively, in C57/BL6 mice^{71,72,78,81}. Once B-cells are activated, a subset of cells differentiates into short-lived plasma cells which produce large amounts of antibodies before their eventual death some weeks after differentiation⁸³. Another subset of cells undergoes affinity maturation, then differentiates into either memory B-cells or long-lived plasma cells⁸³. Memory B-cells generally remain dormant until their cognate antigen is encountered again, allowing for rapid response and increased antibody production⁸³. Long-lived plasma cells reside in the bone marrow and constantly secrete their antibody providing passive immunity from further infection by its cognate pathogen⁸³. Long-lived plasma cells can survive and continue producing antibodies for decades.

Antibodies have several mechanisms of action during an infection. Most antibody isotypes can neutralize a pathogen preventing further infection or virulence (Note that neutralization is dependent not on antibody isotype but where on the immunogen the antibody binds to)^{71,72,81}. In viruses for example, neutralization occurs when an antibody binds to the virus's glycoprotein. This prevents the virus from infecting a cell by either blocking recognition of the virus receptor or preventing conformational changes

necessary for viral fusion. Another function important during viral infections is antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) where antibodies bind to antigens on the surface of infected cells and recruit natural killer cells or CD8+ T-cells to kill the infected cell^{71,72,81,84}. Various antibody isotypes can activate the complement pathway leading to complement-mediated cytotoxicity^{81,84}. Finally, another important function of some antibodies is the ability to drive opsonization^{81,84}. Opsonization occurs when an antibody binds it's cognate antigen, the constant region of the antibody (Fc) is then bound by an Fc receptor in a phagocytic cell (such as a macrophage) inducing phagocytosis^{81,84}. Taken together, the role of B-cells is to produce antibodies, the repertoire of secreted antibodies provides passive protection from pathogens and aids in directing other cellular responses.

1.2.3 Type 1 vs Type 2 Immunity

T-cell polarization can lead to different immune functions. Type 1 and type 2 immune responses are often discussed in vaccination due to their differing abilities to provide protection against various pathogen types. It is accepted that a type 1 response is important for clearance of intracellular pathogens and that type 2 immune responses are more suited in directing responses to inflammation caused by large extracellular pathogens and allergic responses (Figure 1.4)^{78,85}. When developing vaccines, it is important to drive a response best suited to the targeted pathogen.

Type 1 immunity is important for clearance of intracellular pathogens. Cytokines that drive skewing towards type 1 immunity are the type 1 IFNs, IFN γ , and IL-12 (Figure 1.4)^{78,85}. These cytokines are initially produced during innate immune responses in infected cells that have detected a PAMP from an infecting pathogen. CD4+ T-cells activated in the presence of IFN γ , and IL-12 cytokines become polarized to Th1 cells^{78,85}. Once polarized, Th1 cells start secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IFN γ , IL-

2, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) (Figure 1.4)^{78,85}. These cytokines upregulate antiviral and intracellular pathogen sensing pathways such as PRRs and lead to increased expression of MHC proteins in some cell types thereby allowing further detection of pathogens by T-cells^{71,72}. Secreted cytokines also impact other immune cells such as dendritic cells by instructing them to increase phagocytosis^{71,72}. Further effects are seen with the dilation and increased leakiness of blood vessels, allowing innate immune cells to access areas of inflammation more easily^{78,85}. CD8+ T-cells are also polarized by IFNs and IL-12⁷¹. Type I CD8+ T-cells act in a similar manner as Th1 cells by secreting the pro-inflammatory cytokines IFN_γ, IL-2, and TNF⁷¹. In addition to cytokine secretion CD8+ T-cells also kill infected cells by ADCC or releasing perforin and granzymes when interacting with MHC class I proteins presenting its cognate antigen^{71,72}. Perforin forms pores in the target cell's plasma membrane allowing for the entry of granzyme which leads to cell death⁷².

The skewing of an immune response by Th1 cells also has an impact on humoral immunity. As previously discussed, naïve B-cells express antibodies of the isotypes IgM and IgD. IgM antibodies offer high avidity with its pentameric structure but lacks high affinity which is achieved by somatic hypermutation after class switching. Tfh cells, which can be skewed to aTh1 or Th2 profile, interact with B-cells and the secreted IFN γ drives class switching to IgG2c (in C57/BL6 mice, in other mouse strains IgG2a may be induced by IFN γ) (Figure 1.4)^{81,86}. IgG2c is important during intracellular infections by efficiently activating the complement pathway and having a high affinity for Fc receptors capable of mediating opsonization and ADCC⁸⁵. Together, the various arms of the immune system regulated by type 1 immune polarization can effectively control many intracellular pathogens.



Figure 1.4 Type 1 vs Type 2 Immunity Type 1 immunity is associated with intracellular pathogens such as viruses and bacteria. Type 2 immune responses detect large extracellular pathogens and are associated with tissue damage as well as allergic responses. Different subsets of innate immune cells respond to these infections and recognize PAMPs from the infecting pathogen. This induces APCs to produce cytokines (signal 3) to polarize T-cells. Th1 polarization stimulates CD8+ T-cells and Th1 cells to produce IFN, TNF and other cytokines. Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5 and other cytokines. These cytokines when secreted by polarized Tfh cells lead to isotype switching, IgG2a/c in type 1 and IgE and IgG1 in type 2 immunity. Created with BioRender.com

In contrast to type 1 immunity, type 2 immunity is characterized by effective responses against extracellular pathogens and for causing allergies when overstimulated (Figure 1.4)^{71,85}. The cytokine responsible for activating a type 2 response is IL-4, which is associated with tissue damage and repair⁸⁵. Type 2 immunity polarized CD4+ T-cells are called Th2 and secrete a wide variety of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, IL-13, and GM-CSF⁸⁵. Th2 immunity is primarily characterized by activation and increases in numbers of eosinophils, basophils, and mast cells (Figure 1.4)^{71,85}. Th2 responses lead to tissue infiltration by eosinophils and basophils as well as mast cell degranulation. In some situations, an overabundance of the Th2 cytokines is known to cause allergies and the airway inflammation seen in asthma. Polarization of CD8+ T-cells to a type 2 profile also occurs. In these cases, CD8+ cells can produce IL-4 and IL-5 and cytotoxicity of these cells by perforin and granzyme is decreased⁷¹.

As in type 1 responses, Th2 polarized Tfhs interact with B-cells to induce class switching^{78,85}. The primary isotype induced by B-cell interaction with Th2 cells is IgE (Figure 1.4)^{78,85}. Class switching to IgE cannot occur without the presence of IL-4 or IL-13. Degranulation of mast cells is associated with cross-linking of IgE, a process associated with allergic reactions⁷¹. The presence of type 2 cytokines also drives some IgG antibodies, primarily IgG1 (Figure 1.4)⁸⁵. IgG1 antibodies activate complement weakly and only bind inhibitory Fc receptors. Due to an inability to drive ADCC or activate complement, IgG1 is not suited for elimination of intracellular pathogens⁸⁵.

The polarization of the immune response is necessary for the effective clearance of pathogens. BALB/c mice, which favor a type 2 response, are particularly susceptible to infection by the intracellular parasite *Leishmania*, which is more effectively controlled by type 1 responses⁸⁷. Incorrect immune polarization is well described to worsen

infections with respiratory viruses in humans and small animal models⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰. In these infections, patients tend to have increased mucus production which leads to worsened disease. The initial polarization of the immune response is thus clinically important in determining infection outcomes. This is particularly important in the design of vaccines as Th1 and Th2 cells counteract each other⁷². The presence of IFN_γ is inhibitory of Th2 cells and conversely IL-4 is inhibitory of Th1s⁷². Therefore, initial polarization is likely to be reinforced and not shift over time. If a vaccine skews the response to the wrong polarization, it could not only impact the effectiveness of the vaccine but patient safety. This has been previously demonstrated in vaccines against respiratory syncytial virus, these vaccines drove a strong Th2 immune polarization⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰. This led to vaccine associated enhancement of disease making RSV infections worse. This highlights the importance of immune polarization in the development of vaccines and the need for vaccine platforms that are able to efficiently skew polarization to a desired profile.

1.2.4 Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vaccines

One of the more recently approved vaccine platforms, recombinant VSV (rVSV) presents a strong candidate in eliciting potent immune responses against viral glycoproteins. VSV is a member of the *Rhabdoviridae* family. It is a negative sense, single stranded RNA virus with a simple genomic structure comprised of 5 genes. Commonly seen as a livestock pathogen, VSV has low sero-prevalence in humans and causes no known disease to immunocompetent individuals^{91,92}. Researchers have used VSV as a backbone to study glycoproteins of highly pathogenic viruses due to tractable genetic systems and VSVs ability to incorporate foreign glycoproteins into its virion⁹³⁻⁹⁵. Most rVSVs are designed with the removal of the wild-type glycoprotein (G) and addition of a foreign glycoprotein⁹⁵. The use of rVSV as a vaccine platform against viruses has

several advantages such as the efficient elicitation of a type 1 immune response, and the ease of producing large amounts of vaccine virus.

Currently the Ebola virus vaccine is the only FDA approved rVSV vaccine⁹⁶. In the 2016 outbreak of Ebola virus (EBOV) an rVSV-EBOV vaccine was deployed and shown to give strong protection in ring studies⁹⁷. While the vaccine did have strong side effects including arthralgia, fatigue, and myalgia, this deployment successfully demonstrated the capabilities of rVSV vectored vaccines⁹⁷. Despite the rVSV-EBOV vaccine being the only currently approved rVSV-based vaccine, researchers have developed and tested rVSV vaccines for a wide variety of viral diseases^{94,98-102}. Current progress in the field has demonstrated that rVSV can elicit immune responses when expressing the glycoproteins of Lassa fever virus, Marburg virus, various species of Ebola virus, Zika virus, and more recently SARS-CoV-2^{94,98-102}. Another benefit of rVSV vaccines is the ability to elicit rapid immunity. In non-human primate studies using an rVSV expressing Marburg virus glycoprotein (rVSV-MARV), it was demonstrated that protection upon vaccination can occur as soon as 3 days post-vaccination. Macaques vaccinated with rVSV-MARV had 100% survival when challenged 7- or 14-days postimmunization¹⁰³. Impressively, even when challenged 3 days post-immunization 75% of animals were protected from lethal challenge¹⁰³. Other studies with rVSV-MARV have shown that post-exposure vaccination in rhesus macaques is fully protective when administered 30 minutes post lethal challenge, and partially protective (83% of animals survived) when administered 24 hours after challenge^{104,105}. The rapid protective responses elicited by rVSV vaccines make this platform powerful for the development of vaccines against laboratory pathogens where vaccination post-needle-stick could provide protection and useful in the context of controlling rapidly spreading epidemics and pandemics.

The immune response elicited by rVSV vaccines is favorable for immunization against viral pathogens. Infection with VSV elicits high levels of IFNs which drive a type 1 immune response as expected in a viral infection^{95,102,106,107}. This skewing ensures that rVSV elicits the appropriate immune response for protection from viral diseases. Vaccinations with rVSV elicit both high levels of antibodies and T-cell responses^{95,102,106,107}. Many studies have demonstrated that rVSV based vaccines are particularly capable of eliciting high levels of neutralizing antibodies which are often sufficient for protection in passive transfer models.

A major consideration in the use of vaccines to control epidemics and pandemics is the ability to deliver vaccines to rural and hard to reach areas, and the necessity for cold chains. The effective roll-out of the rVSV-EBOV vaccine in Africa demonstrated that rVSV vaccines can be delivered in rural areas. Additionally, research shows that rVSV can be lyophilized or dried and retain infectivity and immunogenicity¹⁰⁸. This represents a mechanism to eliminate the cold chain in delivery of rVSV based vaccines.

Two often cited downsides of rVSV vaccination are the neuropathologic effects of VSV and the potential for platform immunity^{66,109,110}. As a member of the *Rhabdoviridae* family, VSV is closely related to the highly neuropathic rabies virus. Due to this and the neuropathogenicity of VSV itself it is important to verify rVSV vaccines are safe. In wild type VSV, neuropathogenicity has been conclusively linked to the virus's glycoprotein^{109,110}. Therefore, most rVSV based vaccines have removed the innate risk of pathogenicity from VSV with a deletion of the wild type VSV glycoprotein. However, it is then important to consider the potential neuropathic effects of the newly inserted glycoproteins. It has been shown that addition of certain viral glycoproteins into the VSV genome leads to gain of neuropathogenesis⁹⁸. In the development of novel rVSV based

vaccines it is thus important to ensure that vaccine candidates do not cause neurologic symptoms.

The concern of platform immunity is also an important consideration. Upon vaccination with rVSV, immune responses develop not just to the foreign glycoprotein but to the other viral proteins such as nucleoprotein and polymerase¹¹¹. T-cell immunity against these proteins has the potential to inhibit infection with following rVSV based vaccines thereby leading to a less potent immune response that may not be protective. Studies have shown that despite the potential for platform immunity, booster shots and subsequent heterologous vaccinations are still effective^{94,112}. Overall, studies have demonstrated that vaccination against differing pathogens as well as booster doses of rVSV are effective at eliciting immune responses to the foreign glycoprotein and provide protection. These studies suggest that rVSVs are a powerful vaccine platform to deliver viral antigens but must be thoroughly verified for safety.

1.2.5 mRNA Vaccines

The most recently approved vaccine platform is the mRNA platform. In light of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic (often referred to as coronavirus disease 2019, COVID19) the FDA granted emergency use authorization to two mRNA vaccines in 2020, both of which have since been given full FDA approval^{113,114}. Despite only being recently approved, mRNA vaccines have been in development for decades^{69,115}. These vaccines are safe, modular, and efficacious with an ability to induce high levels of antibodies. The mRNA vaccine platform also has downsides that have prevented earlier use, these include the instability of mRNA, considerations of delivery, and previous issues with overstimulation of the immune system^{69,115,116}. After decades of research and innovation, many of these concerns have now been addressed to achieve a powerful vaccine platform.

mRNA vaccines mimic endogenous mRNA with a few modifications. Like endogenous mRNA, mRNA vaccines encode a molecule with a 5' cap, 5' untranslated region (UTR), open reading frame (ORF), 3' UTR, and a polyA tail^{69,115}. In brief, the 5' cap is key in preventing recognition of the mRNA by cytosolic RNA sensors^{69,115}. Without this cap, the mRNA may be detected as viral and initiate innate immune responses. The UTRs are important determinants of stability and half-life of mRNAs^{69,115}. The polyA tail together with the 5' cap is critical for translation initialization and tail length is a determinant of half-life¹¹⁷. The ORF is critical as this section encodes the desired immunogen. To design an ORF, you must first select a protein that will be a suitable immunogen at driving protective immune responses. The coding sequence of the desired antigen must be known, due to advances in sequencing technologies, rapid sequencing of novel pathogens is possible allowing for fast development of mRNA vaccines. Modifications to the ORF are critical in optimizing immunogenicity of mRNA vaccines. Some pathogens use rarely used codons in their genomic sequence, modifying these to more commonly used codons is often done to increase efficiency of translation¹¹⁵. The use of modified nucleosides is also critical in mRNA vaccines. Unmodified nucleosides are markers of viral infections and elicit innate immune responses shutting down protein production, thus modified nucleosides are often included in mRNA vaccines^{118,119}. Once delivered to a cell, mRNA vaccines function similarly to endogenous mRNA and lead to production of the coded immunogen and an eventual targeted immune response against the delivered immunogen.

RNA delivery and production are critical processes to consider when designing mRNA vaccines capable of generating effective immune responses. DNA plasmids are used as templates in the production of mRNA^{69,115}. Plasmids encoding mRNAs allow for the rapid production of vaccines at scale with relative ease. The primary concern when

preparing mRNA vaccines is the presence of double stranded (ds)RNA, a production contaminant¹²⁰. Many PRRs can detect the presence of dsRNA and initiate immune responses preventing translation of the encoded antigen⁶⁹. Additionally, exogenous mRNA can also be detected by PRRs in endosomes, initiating antiviral pathways and thereby preventing effective immunization¹²¹. To address these issues, thorough dsRNA decontamination is done on synthesized mRNA by chromatographic methods prior to delivery¹²⁰. To ensure intracellular delivery of mRNA, several strategies have been developed. The most widely used strategy is currently lipid nanoparticles (LNPs)^{69,115}. LNPs resemble commonly used lab reagents such as Lipofectamines that are used to transfect cells in vitro. Clinically used LNPs are specially formulated to deliver mRNA into cells in vivo and contain four components: an ionizable cationic lipid, cholesterol, a lipid-linked polyethylene glycol (PEG), and phospholipids^{69,115}. Briefly, ionizable cationic lipids are important in the production of LNPs as they promote assembly of the particle. their positive charge attracts negatively charged mRNA for inclusion in particles. Ionizable cationic lipids are preferable to non-ionizable cationic lipids as the latter are immunostimulatory^{122,123}. Ionizable cationic lipids used are neutral at blood pH but positively charged in acidic environments such as endosomes allowing for fusion and delivery of mRNAs into the cytoplasm. Cholesterol helps stabilize the lipid structures. Lipid-linked PEG increases the half-life of LNP particles and regulates particle size. Finally, phospholipids are key for formation of a lipid bi-layer and modulate membrane fluidity which aids in fusion at endosomes. Together, these developments in mRNA production and delivery have made the mRNA platform viable for use in humans.

Vaccination with mRNA vaccines induce strong immune responses characterized by robust antibody responses^{69,115}. Recent work has indicated that mRNA vaccines induce IFNs which skew immune responses towards type 1 immunity¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶. CD4+ T-cells are stimulated to high levels and tend to be strongly Th1 polarized. Studies have shown that mRNA vaccines are powerful inducers of Tfhs which are critical in controlling B cell responses and inducing class switching¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶. Recent studies have shown that Tfh cell polarization can be dependent on the antigen delivered¹²⁴. Some antigens drive a strong Th1 polarized response while other antigens can drive a mixed Th1/Th2 response^{124,127}. mRNA vaccines are widely lauded for their ability to induce high antibody titers which remain stable for extended periods of time^{128,129}. This is likely due to the strong induction of Tfh cells and long-lasting germinal centers¹²⁴. Due to the propensity of some antigens to drive a mixed Th1/Th2 response, it has been noted that antibodies produced upon vaccination likewise can have a mixed IgG1/IgG2 phenotype^{124,127}. This mixed phenotype has been posited as a potential benefit as IL-4 (a Th2 cytokine) is associated with increased B-cell survival¹²⁷. Notably, mRNA studies have not noted a strong Th2 response and thus there have been no reports of vaccine-induced enhancement of infection as is common with some respiratory viruses¹²⁷. The ability of mRNA to induce CD8+ T-cells remains unclear. In mice, it has been shown that powerful CD8+ responses are elicited upon vaccination with SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccines¹²⁵. However, macaques immunized with mRNA vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 had no or poor induction of CD8+ immunity except when high dosages were used¹³⁰. In humans, few studies have broken down T-cell responses into CD4+ and CD8+ subsets. Therefore, it remains largely unclear what CD8+ responses are elicited in humans, though early studies suggest that mRNA can in fact induce CD8+ T-cells. Overall, mRNA vaccines elicit powerful immune responses well suited to protect against viral infections.

Despite improved mRNA vaccine technologies, these vaccines are still not widely adopted and continue to be challenging in rural settings. The first approval of a novel vaccine platform is often the most difficult due to the need to meet a high bar of safety. Due to the high efficacy of the COVID19 mRNA vaccines, it is likely that there will be an increased prevalence of mRNA vaccines in the coming years. Indeed, many mRNA vaccines to other pathogens including Zika virus, respiratory syncytial virus, and influenza are already in clinical trials^{69,115,131-135}.

Despite the widely understood efficacy and safety of mRNA vaccines by scientists, certain populations of the public remain skeptical of mRNA vaccines. Nucleic acid vaccines are misunderstood by the general public with a common misconception that mRNA can alter a person's genes. Further public education is thus required to highlight that mRNA is non-integrative and is incapable of genetic modification. Another currently problematic property of mRNA is its instability and requirement for storage at - 80° C. Delivery to hard-to-reach areas is currently difficult or impossible due to the difficulty of maintaining this cold chain. Taken together, mRNA is a powerful vaccine platform that is safe and efficacious and will likely see increased use in the coming years.

1.2.6 Heterologous Vaccination Strategies

Heterologous vaccination, in the context of this work, refers to prime-boost vaccination strategies where the first and second dose vaccines utilize different platforms. Heterologous vaccinations have been studied for decades and the data consistently shows that they can have beneficial effects on the immune response. As previously described, different vaccine platforms have benefits and drawbacks in their abilities to elicit specific immune responses. Heterologous vaccination offers the potential for combining the benefits of each platform to attain a more well-rounded response. Some of the first heterologous vaccine studies focused on human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) vaccines where it was observed that immunization with recombinant proteins elicited potent antibody responses but weak cellular responses¹³⁶.

Conversely, immunization with recombinant vaccinia viruses expressing HIV proteins induced strong T-cell responses but low antibody titers¹³⁶. These initial studies found that combining these two platforms in a prime-boost model induced both strong antibody and cellular immunity. The responses generated by heterologous immunization was stronger than that of homologous prime boosts indicating that heterologous vaccinations may be a useful vaccine regimen.

No currently approved vaccines have been designed for heterologous use, however, during the COVID19 pandemic several governments around the world have approved heterologous boosting with emergency use authorized vaccines¹³⁷. Studies around the world using either adenovirus based or mRNA based SARS-CoV-2 vaccines have found that heterologous vaccination provides better protection and induces better immune responses. In a Swedish study comparing heterologous vaccination (adenovirus prime and mRNA boost) to adenovirus homologous vaccination, it was found that heterologous vaccination was 68% effective compared to 50% for homologous immunization¹³⁸. These findings are corroborated in other studies that measured cellular and humoral responses in homologous and heterologous vaccinated individuals¹³⁹⁻¹⁴¹. One such study from Hannover found that heterologous vaccination induced significantly higher neutralizing antibody titers and T-cell activity than homologous vaccination¹³⁹. In mice, it has also been shown that heterologous vaccination (using adenovirus and selfamplifying RNA platforms) induced stronger humoral and cellular immune responses than homologous vaccination¹⁴². While most studies show that differences exist between heterologous immunization and homologous adenovirus-vectored regimens, these differences are less pronounced when comparing heterologous immunization and homologous immunization with mRNA^{140,141}. Two studies in humans show that homologous mRNA regimens induce higher levels of antibodies than heterologous

immunization using adenovirus and mRNA platforms^{140,141}. Conversely, cellular responses are significantly better after heterologous vaccination^{140,141}. Overall, current data on SARS-CoV-2 heterologous mRNA vaccination suggests that immune responses are superior or identical to homologous vaccination.

Heterologous vaccination using the rVSV platform has been done in the context of HIV. These studies often combined a DNA vaccine platform prime with rVSV boosts. One such study demonstrated that immunization with a plasmid encoding simian HIV (SHIV) SIVgagp39 and IL-12 followed by a boost with an rVSV expressing env89.6P gp160 and SIVmac239 gag p55 had improved immunogenicity and efficacy upon challenge¹⁴³. This was associated with preserved CD4+ cells in the peripheral blood, and increased antibody titers¹⁴³. Heterologous vaccination represents a clearly understudied area with few pathogens having had experimental heterologous vaccines tested, immune responses remain not fully characterized, and few vaccine platform combinations have been tested.

1.3 – Current SFTSV Vaccine Candidates

Currently, no approved SFTSV vaccines exist. Several groups have developed experimental SFTSV vaccines and tested for efficacy and immunogenicity in *Ifnar*^{-/-} mice or aged ferrets. A variety of vaccine platforms have been used to immunize animals, these include DNA, protein subunit, and viral vectored vaccines. Most vaccines target the SFTSV glycoprotein Gn/Gc, though some also target other viral proteins such as N and NSs. The currently tested vaccines and characteristics of their responses are discussed below.

1.3.1 DNA Vaccines

A DNA vaccine encoding SFTSV Gn, Gc, N, and NSs elicited weak immune responses⁴⁵. In this study, Kang et al. immunized *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice with a single plasmid

encoding several SFTSV proteins (Gn, Gc, N, and NSs)⁴⁵. In this study, no antibody responses were detected in vaccinated mice and only slight, not statistically significant, increases were observed in T-cell activity. To elicit cellular responses, the authors added IL-12 to the vaccine plasmid⁴⁵. In mice immunized with the IL-12 containing plasmid, antibodies were detected against SFTSV N, but no antibodies against Gn or Gc were detected⁴⁵. This suggests that immunization with this DNA vaccine would not lead to antibody mediated neutralization of viruses, as Gn/Gc are the only viral proteins found on the virion surface. Addition of IL-12 led to increased cellular responses as the authors predicted⁴⁵. The original plasmid protected only 40% of animals from lethal challenge with SFTSV, while the IL-12 containing vector was 100% protective⁴⁵. The lack of high titer Gn/Gc antibodies indicates that protection was mediated by T-cells⁴⁵. Overall, this vaccine platform did provide protective immunity, though it failed to stimulate antibody responses. Additionally, DNA vaccines are currently not approved for human use and are problematic due to complications in delivery methods.

Another group tested a different DNA vaccine consisting of 5 plasmids encoding SFTSV Gn, Gc, N, NSs, or RdRP¹⁴⁴. This vaccine was initially tested in wild type BALB/c mice with two doses given 21 days apart, each dose was given with electroporation to induce more efficient take up of the plasmids. This vaccination protocol elicited potent cellular immunity and modest levels of neutralizing antibodies¹⁴⁴. To test whether this DNA vaccine was protective, 3 doses were given to aged ferrets which were then challenged with a lethal dose of SFTSV. Immunized animals were fully protected and displayed strong cellular immunity particularly to the glycoproteins, Gn and Gc¹⁴⁴. As with the mouse model, vaccination elicited modest levels of neutralization. Experiments using only plasmids encoding only SFTSV Gn and Gc demonstrated that these antigens are sufficient for protection from lethal challenge. Furthermore, serum transfer from mice

immunized against Gn and Gc to naïve mice was protective upon lethal challenge¹⁴⁴. Immunization with a combination of plasmids excluding Gn and Gc showed that full protection occurred only when animals were immunized with all three plasmids containing N, NSs, and RdRP¹⁴⁴. Importantly, passive transfer of sera from these animals to naïve ferrets did not impart protection. Several important conclusions can be made from the data shown in this paper, the first being that SFTSV Gn and Gc are sufficient to impart protection from lethal challenge. The second important finding of this paper addresses the correlates of protection in SFTSV infection. Protection upon challenge in mice that received passively transferred sera suggests that antibodies against SFTSV are sufficient to prevent lethal disease. This protection is even more impressive given the modest levels of neutralizing antibodies reached in vaccinated mice. Additionally, full protection achieved by immunizing animals against N, NSs, and RdRp suggests that cellular immunity may also be sufficient for protection, though this is not directly tested. Therefore, future vaccine development against SFTSV can focus primarily on antibody responses as this is sufficient for protection, but the presence of cellular immunity is likely to provide a more thorough response that could be beneficial. The downside of this vaccination platform is the requirement for electroporation which is often painful. Despite that drawback, this SFTSV vaccine is guite promising.

1.3.2 Protein Subunit Vaccines

Only one study to date has investigated the immunogenicity of protein subunit vaccines against SFTSV. This study fused SFTSV Gn or Gc to the Fc region of a human antibody and immunized mice with each of these proteins using the adjuvant Alum⁴⁵. As expected from protein subunit vaccines, antibody titers in immunized animals reached impressive levels of approximately 3,500 for both protein vaccines⁴⁵. Interestingly, neutralizing titers were higher in Gn immunized mice (mean titer = 929) than Gc

immunized mice (mean titer = 209)⁴⁵. Total antibody titers were identical in both vaccines, yet Gn produced higher levels of neutralizing antibodies suggesting the Gn subunit may be a better target for vaccine development. Alternatively, this result may be due to expression of these proteins individually as opposed to in complex as it is naturally found in SFTSV infections. Expression of the proteins individually may lead to Gn neutralizing epitopes being maintained, while misfolding or a lack of Gc-Gn interactions leads to a loss of Gc neutralizing epitopes. When animals were challenged with a lethal dose of SFTSV, all of the Gc immunized mice succumbed, with deaths delayed 3 days compared to unimmunized mice, and half of the Gn immunized mice succumbed to infection⁴⁵. On the surface, these results seem to conflict with results from other groups who have demonstrated that antibodies are sufficient for protection and antibody titers elicited by these protein vaccines are higher than any currently discussed vaccine has achieved. The explanation for this incongruency may be two-fold: protein subunit vaccines are known to be poor inducers of cellular immunity, therefore immunized mice likely did not have high levels of CD8+ T-cell activity. Additionally, Alum is well described to drive a type 2 skewed immune response¹⁴⁵. Therefore, antibodies produced by this immunization are unlikely to drive opsonization, ADCC, or activation of complement pathways effective for controlling viral infections. Cellular responses are also unlikely to be optimized for responding to intracellular pathogens resulting in a lack of protection. Overall, protein subunit vaccination against SFTSV appears to be an ineffective platform.

1.3.3 Viral vectored vaccines

To date, three different studies have reported SFTSV immunization using viral vectors. The virus vectors that have been studied so far include vaccinia virus, rabies virus, and rVSV. The study with vaccinia virus used three different viruses for

immunizations in a two-dose regimen, each virus was an LC16m8 strain of vaccinia virus encoding either SFTSV N, Gn/Gc, or both N and Gn/Gc¹⁴⁶. Immunization with either virus encoding Gn/Gc led to high levels of total IgG (approximate titer of 4,000) but incredibly low neutralizing antibody titers with serum at a dilution of 1:40 not neutralizing 50% of virus particles¹⁴⁶. Despite low levels of antibodies these vaccines all were fully protective against lethal challenge. Interestingly, these investigators determined that preexisting immunity to vaccinia virus inhibited protective responses. Ifnar^{-/-} mice were first inoculated with the vaccinia lister strain, then vaccinated one month later with each of the three vaccines in a two-dose regimen. In this experiment, mice were only partially protected from lethal challenge indicating that pre-existing immunity to vaccinia virus negatively impacts immunization efficacy¹⁴⁶. In this study, serum transfer only partially protected against SFTSV disease. This was despite a two-dose serum transfer and a low dose SFTSV challenge, further highlighting the weak neutralizing activity elicited by this vaccine. To assess CD8+ contributions to protection, immunized mice were depleted of their CD8+ T-cells through anti-CD8 antibodies. No change in lethality was observed which is interpreted by the authors as CD8+ T-cells being unnecessary for protection from SFTSV infection¹⁴⁶. This interpretation however is confounded since the challenge was done in immunized mice which had previously been shown to have high IgG titers against SFTSV. The authors had previously shown that antibodies alone did provide partial protection in a passive transfer model. Additionally, vaccinia virus is known to induce robust type 1 immunity meaning antibodies present in these mice likely neutralized low amounts of virus and carried out other protective functions such as increased opsonization, activation of the complement pathway, and increased cytotoxicity by natural killer cells through ADCC^{147,148}. A better model to assess CD8+ Tcell contribution to infection would be an adoptive transfer which would exclude all

antibody mediated immunity. Overall, the vaccinia virus SFTSV vaccine does induce protective immunity though neutralizing antibodies are of relatively low titer. Additionally, this vaccine platform may not be ideal as the authors demonstrated decreased efficacy when pre-existing immunity to vaccinia virus existed. This is likely a downside of many viral vectored vaccines, though this remains to be fully determined.

Another report describes SFTSV vaccine using an avirulent strain of rabies virus as a vaccine platform¹⁴⁹. Rabies virus is a close relative of VSV, however unlike VSV, rabies virus infection is fatal in humans and highly neurotropic. A human vaccine using a rabies virus vaccine is unlikely to ever pass FDA approval due to fears of neurotropism. therefore the authors therefore present this as a veterinary vaccine designed for use in dogs and cats to immunize against both rabies virus and SFTSV¹⁴⁹. The virus platform used does not remove the cognate glycoprotein as has been discussed with VSV platforms. Instead, SFTSV Gn (note Gc is not present) is added to the rabies genome after its cognate glycoprotein, thereby giving the virus an additional open reading frame¹⁴⁹. Single dose immunization of BALB/c mice with this vaccine led to high titers of SFTSV neutralizing antibodies by 4 weeks after immunization¹⁴⁹. These neutralizing titers notably had high variability in immunized animals, and titers decreased rapidly over the next 4 weeks. Immunization of mice with this vaccine was protective upon lethal challenge with rabies virus however protection is unknown for SFTSV as the authors used C57BL/6 mice which do not display lethal disease upon infection with SFTSV¹⁴⁹. The only protection data displayed was a significant decrease in SFTSV viral load in the spleen 7 days after challenge in immunized animals relative to unimmunized mice¹⁴⁹. This vaccine is interesting as it presents the possibility of controlling both SFTSV and rabies, however, it is unlikely to ever be used in humans and we currently lack information of its efficacy against SFTSV.

The final virus vectored SFTSV vaccine that has been evaluated in animals is an rVSV based vaccine. This vaccine removes the cognate VSV glycoprotein and inserts SFTSV Gn/Gc¹¹². The authors demonstrate that insertion of SFTSV glycoprotein slows replication of rVSV relative to a virus with the wild-type glycoprotein¹¹². Single dose immunization of Ifnar^{-/-} mice with rVSV-SFTSV was completely protective against lethal challenge with all vaccine doses used (lowest dose given was 2x10¹ focus forming units)¹¹². Passive transfer of sera was partially protective with 60% of challenged mice surviving¹¹². This group tested whether pre-existing immunity against VSV would prevent effective immunization¹¹². Mice were first immunized with an rVSV containing a hantavirus glycoprotein, then vaccinated with rVSV-SFTSV, and finally the animals we challenged with a lethal dose of SFTSV. It was found that pre-existing immunity did not affect protection imparted by rVSV-SFTSV, as all challenged mice survived¹¹². Finally, this group showed that immunization of animals with rVSV-SFTSV produced high titers of neutralizing antibodies against SFTSV as well as the closely related HRTV¹¹². Overall, this study demonstrated the power and efficacy of rVSV-SFTSV vaccines suggesting that this is a powerful platform with good efficacy, although neuropathogenesis and protection from HRTV challenge were not assessed.

1.4 – Experimental Questions

The goals of this dissertation are to develop novel vaccine platforms against bunyaviruses, with a particular focus on SFTSV, and to assess the safety and immunogenicity of these vaccine platforms. As previously discussed, there are currently no approved vaccines or therapeutics against SFTSV in any country. Additionally, the vaccines that have been reported in the literature to date often have immunological short-comings, or the safety and immunogenicity are not fully characterized. To address this, we developed an rVSV-SFTSV and an mRNA SFTSV vaccine. Both platforms are currently in use and approved for human use with a proven track record for other viral diseases. We then sought to answer the broad question, are these vaccines safe and protective, and do they stimulate a favorable immune response against SFTSV?

To begin addressing these questions, in chapter 2 we determine the safety and efficacy of a single dose rVSV-SFTSV vaccine. While this study is similar to the previously described study by Dong et al. which was published in the midst of our own study, we add further data reinforcing the safety and cross-reactivity of the vaccine¹¹². We hypothesized that single dose immunization with rVSV-SFTSV would be fully protective in *Ifnar*^{-/-} mice and safe when injected intracranially. This would address widespread concerns of safety for rVSV based vaccines, which can in some cases cause neuropathogenesis, that have not previously been addressed in other studies. Additionally, we hypothesized that immunization with rVSV-SFTSV would be fully protective upon challenge with the related HRTV. While Dong et al. found that rVSV-SFTSV vaccination induced cross-neutralizing antibodies, they did not assess survival upon lethal challenge with HRTV.

In chapter 3 we use wild type C57/BL6 mice to dissect the immune responses to rVSV-SFTSV and mRNA SFTSV vaccines in both single dose and prime-boost regimens, including a heterologous strategy. Detailed analysis of both the humoral and cellular adaptive immune responses were done to compare the different vaccination strategies. This study is novel in not only in its use of mRNA as a platform for immunization against SFTSV, but in the testing of heterologous vaccination strategies and the use of wild-type mice treated with anti-IFNAR antibodies for our challenge studies. We hypothesized that all immunization conditions would be protective, but that heterologous rVSV-SFTSV + mRNA SFTSV would induce the most potent cellular immune responses. These studies address important, unknown safety concerns for the

rVSV vaccine platform, and carefully analyze the immune responses elicited by the tested vaccine platforms, which have previously been unclear. Furthermore, we drive the field forward by developing an mRNA vaccine, representing a novel vaccine platform against SFTSV, and demonstrating the utility of an IFNAR antibody blockade mouse model for immunological and challenge studies. Ultimately, the goal of this study was to further our understanding of immune responses elicited by various vaccine strategies with the hope that this work may further the development of safe and efficacious human vaccines against SFTSV.

CHAPTER 2: Safety, Immunogenicity and Efficacy of a Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vectored Vaccine Against Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Virus and Heartland Bandaviruses

Philip Hicks*, Jonna B. Westover*, Tomaz B. Manzoni*, Brianne Roper, Gabrielle L. Rock,

Kirsten M. Boardman, Dallan J. Blotter, Brian B. Gowen, Paul Bates

*Authors contributed equally

Manuscript in revision

2.1 – Abstract

Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus (SFTSV) is a recently emerged tickborne virus in east Asia with over 8,000 confirmed cases. With a high case fatality ratio, SFTSV has been designated a high priority pathogen by the WHO and the NIAID. Despite this, there are currently no approved therapies or vaccines to treat or prevent SFTS. Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) represents an FDA-approved vaccine platform that has been considered for numerous viruses due to its low sero-prevalence in humans, ease in genetic manipulation and promiscuity in incorporating foreign glycoproteins into its virions. In this study, we developed a recombinant VSV (rVSV) expressing the SFTSV glycoproteins Gn/Gc (rVSV-SFTSV) and assessed its safety, immunogenicity and efficacy in mice. We demonstrate that rVSV-SFTSV is safe when given to immunocompromised animals and is not neuropathogenic when injected intracranially into young immunocompetent mice. Immunization of *lfnar^{-/-}* mice with rVSV-SFTSV resulted in high levels of neutralizing antibodies and protection against lethal SFTSV challenge. Additionally, passive transfer of sera from immunized Ifnar^{/-} mice into naïve animals was protective when given pre- or post-exposure. Finally, we demonstrate that immunization with rVSV-SFTSV cross protects mice against challenge with the closely related Heartland virus despite low neutralizing titers to the virus. Taken together, these data suggest that rVSV-SFTSV is a promising vaccine candidate.

2.2 – Importance

Tick borne diseases are a growing threat to human health. Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome (SFTS) and Heartland viruses are recently recognized, highly-pathogenic, tick-transmitted viruses. The fatality rates for individuals infected with SFTSV or HRTV are high and there are no therapeutics or vaccines available. The recent introduction of the tick vector for SFTSV (Haemaphysalis longicornis) to the

eastern half of the United States and Austrailia raises concerns for SFTSV outbreaks outside East Asia. Here we report the development of a potential vaccine for SFTSV and HRTV based on the viral vector platform that has been successfully used for an Ebola vaccine. We demonstrate that the rVSV-SFTSV protects from lethal SFTSV or HRTV challenge when given as a single dose. We evaluated possible pathogenic effects of the vaccine and show that it is safe in immune compromised animilas and when introduced into the central nervous system.

2.3 – Introduction

Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome (SFTS) is an emerging tickborne disease caused by the SFTS virus (SFTSV, recently renamed *Dabie bandavirus*, formerly known as *Huaiyangshan Banyangvirus*). First identified in 2011 in China, SFTSV is a novel bunyavirus that can cause fever, thrombocytopenia, and leukocytopenia in infected individuals ^{14,15}. Subsequent reports later showed that SFTSV had been causing human disease since 2009 with a high case fatality ratio of approximately 30% ^{14,15}. Retrospective studies have found SFTSV to be endemic to, and causing disease in, South Korea, Japan, and Vietnam ^{17,19,150}. Recent literature indicates the case fatality ratios range from 6-20% depending on the country studied, and disease progression is characterized by hemorrhagic tendency with fatal cases exhibiting multiorgan failure ¹⁵¹. In 2009 a novel related bunyavirus named Heartland virus (HRTV) was discovered in Missouri exhibiting a similar disease progression and transmission cycle to SFTSV ¹⁶.

The recently discovered SFTSV and HRTV are both bandaviruses in the order *Bunyavirales* and family *Phenuiviridae*. These viruses have a trisegmented, single-stranded RNA genome encoding 4 proteins. The S segment is ambisense and encodes the nucleoprotein (N) in the negative sense and a nonstructural protein (NSs) in positive

sense ¹⁵. The L and M segments are negative sense and encode the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) and envelope glycoproteins, respectively. The glycoprotein is translated as a polyprotein which is proteolytically cleaved into two subunits, Gn/Gc ^{6,15}. The Gn/Gc complex recognizes its receptor or binding factor and entry is mediated by the fusion peptide within Gc ^{37,41,152}. While studies have failed to isolate a receptor for SFTSV and HRTV Gn/Gc, some molecules have been identified as important binding or entry factors, including DC-SIGN and UGCG ^{37,43,152}. Antibodies against both Gn and Gc have been shown to inhibit viral entry into cells ^{37,44,153}.

The primary vector for SFTSV is the tick Haemaphysalis longicornis found throughout eastern Asia ^{154,155}. However, SFTSV has been found in other tick genera as well including *Ixodes* and *Amblyoma* suggesting that numerous tick species might transmit this pathogen ^{156,157}. Due to transmission resulting from contact with ticks, SFTSV generally infects rural farmworkers. In recent years, the geographic distribution of *H. longicornis* has expanded and now includes Australia, New Zealand, and the United States, presenting further opportunities for SFTSV to spread ^{28,158-160}. Although likely more rare, other transmission routes have been shown to be possible for SFTSV. Ferret studies have shown that SFTSV can be transmitted in the absence of ticks between co-housed ferrets or ferrets co-housed with a separator ³¹. The detection of SFTSV in ferret saliva, feces, and urine suggests that these fluids are a likely route of SFTSV transmission in the absence of ticks ³¹. Indeed, one report indicates that SFTSV can spread between humans in a nosocomial setting through contact with patient blood ³². Another case report showed likely zoonotic transmission to a human through the bite of an infected cat ³⁴. Due to the high potential of SFTSV to cause deadly outbreaks, it has been categorized as a high priority pathogen for the development of vaccines and

therapeutics by both the World Health Organization (WHO), and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) ^{35,36}.

Currently no approved therapeutics or vaccines exist for use against SFTSV. This is in part due to lack of adequate animal models. Wild-type mice do not develop severe disease upon challenge thus alternatives must be used ^{47,161,162}. Animals that succumb to SFTSV infection include cats, aged ferrets, *Stat2^{-/-}* hamsters, and *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice ^{47,48,50,52,53}. Despite these difficulties, several groups have designed and tested SFTSV vaccines, primarily using *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice. Tested vaccine platforms include DNA, virus-vectored, and attenuated recombinant SFTSV vaccines ^{112,144,146,149,163}. These vaccines vary in their effectiveness and come with drawbacks. Here, we focus on developing and characterizing a recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) vaccine.

The livestock pathogen vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) is generally nonpathogenic to humans and of low sero-prevalence ^{91,92}. Additionally, VSV is a powerful vaccine platform with genetically tractable models and a promiscuity to incorporate foreign glycoproteins in the virion ⁹³. An often cited detriment of rVSV vaccines is the propensity for VSV to be neurotropic. It is, however, known that neuropathogenicity is conferred by the tropism of the viral glycoprotein ^{109,110}. Currently, the rVSV vaccine platform is approved for use against Ebola virus (EBOV) and has been successfully distributed in Africa during recent EBOV outbreaks ^{96,97}. Due to the proven nature of the rVSV platform, we made an rVSV-SFTSV virus containing the SFTSV Gn/Gc glycoprotein in place of the cognate VSV glycoprotein VSV-G.

It has been previously reported by another group that rVSV-SFTSV confers protective immunity to *lfnar*^{-/-} mice ¹¹². To go beyond what has been previously shown, we demonstrate that our rVSV-SFTSV is non-neurotropic and safe in immunocompromised animals. We also show that a single administration of vaccine

virus is sufficient to induce protection against SFTSV challenge. Additionally, rVSV-SFTSV vaccination induces high levels of antibodies in wild-type animals suggesting it can effectively be used in immune competent animals. Both therapeutic and prophylactic passive transfer of sera from immunized animals leads to protection upon challenge of unvaccinated animals suggesting antibodies correlate with protection against SFTSV. Finally, we demonstrate that our rVSV-SFTSV vaccine is cross-protective upon lethal HRTV challenge.

2.4 – Results

2.4.1 rVSV-SFTSV is attenuated in Ifnar^{-/-} mice and exhibits a favorable safety profile

rVSV-SFTSV was launched in HEK293T cells as previously described⁴³. Expression of SFTSV Gn and Gc was confirmed by Western blot of cell lysates prepared from VeroE6 cells infected with rVSV-SFTSV (Fig. S2.1A). Before performing in vivo studies, we first determined if rVSV-SFTSV was attenuated in cell culture relative to parental VSV. To evaluate growth kinetics, VeroE6 cells were inoculated at a multiplicity of infection of 0.01 with rVSV-SFTSV or VSV. Cell supernatants were sampled every 24 hours and infectious virus was titrated by plaque assay. At 24 hours post infection, infectious titers of VSV were nearly 90-fold higher than titers of rVSV-SFTSV (Fig. S2.1B). Both viruses achieved similar maximum titers by 72 hours post infection. rVSV-SFTSV caused cytopathic effect in VeroE6 cells as evidenced by cell rounding and detachment, as well as the formation of plaques on VeroE6 cell monolayers by 48 hours post infection (Fig. S2.1C). However, the plaques created by rVSV-SFTSV were significantly smaller than those created by parental VSV (Fig. S2.1D). Taken together, these results suggest that rVSV-SFTSV is attenuated in cell culture and replicates with slower kinetics than parental VSV.

One safety concern with rVSV vaccines is the potential for neurotropism ^{164,165}. VSV-G, the cognate glycoprotein of VSV, is sufficient to catalyze viral entry into neurons, and VSV can replicate efficiently in neuron-like cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* ^{166,167}. In addition, other rhabdoviruses such as rabies virus are known human pathogens that cause lethal neurotropic infections ¹⁶⁸. It is currently unclear whether neurons can be infected by SFTSV or viruses harboring SFTSV glycoproteins. Neurologic symptoms have been observed in human SFTS cases, but it remains unclear whether the SFTSV glycoproteins can initiate entry into neurons in vivo ¹⁶⁹. To test the neuropathogenic potential of rVSV-SFTSV, we injected escalating doses of rVSV-SFTSV or VSV Indiana strain intracranially into the right cerebral hemisphere of 4-week-old C57BL/6 mice and observed the mice for 14 days. All groups of mice lost 2-5% body weight the day following intracranial injection independent of inoculum composition (Fig. 2.1A). Weight loss in mice injected with rVSV-SFTSV was reversed by 4 days post-infection (dpi). In contrast, weight loss was more severe in mice challenged with VSV and survivors exhibited slower recovery. None of the mice injected with rVSV-SFTSV met humane endpoints during the experiment (Fig. 2.1B). In contrast, lethal disease was seen in mice injected with VSV that trended with inoculum dose. Neurologic effects were quantified by using a neurologic sign scoring scale that ranged from 0 (no neurologic signs) to 4 (severe neurologic signs). No neurologic signs were observed in mice inoculated with rVSV-SFTSV or vehicle. In contrast, a range of neurologic manifestations were observed in most mice injected with VSV (Fig. 2.1C). All the observed neurologic effects occurred between 2-7 dpi (data not shown).

The rVSV-EBOV vaccine received FDA approval despite severe pathogenicity in *Ifnar^{-/-}* and *Stat1^{-/-}* immunocompromised mice ^{164,165}. To evaluate the pathogenicity of rVSV-SFTSV, we challenged groups of *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice with escalating doses of rVSV-



Figure 2.1 rVSV-SFTSV has a favorable safety profile compared to rVSV-EBOV and parental VSV. (A) Weight change, (B) challenged intraperitoneally with PBS or 10¹, 10², 10³, or 10⁴ PFU of either rVSV-SFTSV or rVSV-EBOV. Weight changes were survival proportions, (C) and maximal neurologic disease severity score in C57BL/6 mice challenged intracranially (IC) with 10¹ reported as percentages of body weight measured immediately pre-challenge. (Mantel-Cox test; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; *** ANOVA; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; ***, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001) (D) Survival proportions and (E) weight loss of Itnar/ mice 10², or 10³ PFU of parental VSV or rVSV-SFTSV into the right cerebral hemisphere (Mantel-Cox test and ordinary one-way P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001)

SFTSV or rVSV-EBOV. All mice injected with rVSV-SFTSV were alive 14 dpi (Fig. 2.1D). In contrast, at least 50% of mice infected with rVSV-EBOV met humane endpoints by 4 dpi, and all mice challenged with at least 10³ PFU succumbed by 6 dpi. All groups of mice challenged with rVSV-EBOV exhibited weight loss beginning 2 dpi which progressed with time (Fig. 2.1E). The surviving mice challenged with rVSV-EBOV lost at least 20% body weight prior to their recovery. Mice challenged with rVSV-SFTSV also began losing weight by 2 dpi, but the weight loss was less severe compared to rVSV-EBOV groups. Of the groups of mice challenged with rVSV-SFTSV, only the group infected with 10⁴ PFU lost more than 10% body weight. Recovery from weight loss began between 4-5 dpi for all mice challenged with rVSV-SFTSV. Collectively, these experiments showed that rVSV-SFTSV was not neuropathogenic and demonstrated a significantly more favorable safety profile than the currently approved rVSV-EBOV vaccine in immunocompromised mice.

2.4.2 Single vaccination with rVSV-SFTSV induces high levels of neutralizing antibodies

To functionally characterize humoral responses to rVSV-SFTSV vaccination we assessed antibody neutralization potential by focus reduction neutralization titer of 50% (FRNT₅₀) in several animal models. To assess whether the lethal *lfnar*^{-/-} mouse model could mount an antibody response, mice were immunized intraperitoneally (IP) with 10², 10³, or 10⁴ plaque forming units (PFU) of rVSV-SFTSV. At 21 dpi sera were collected and analyzed for FRNT₅₀. Approximately half of the animals vaccinated with 10² PFU failed to seroconvert (Fig. 2.2A). Increasing the vaccination dose increased rates of seroconversion and neutralization titers (Fig. 2.2A). These titers are promising given thay previous work on influenza and SARS-CoV-2 suggest that neutralizing titers of 40-80 are sufficient for protection ^{170,171}.

The high levels of neutralizing antibodies achieved with vaccination of *lfnar*^{/-} mice was somewhat surprising as interferons (IFN)s are important drivers of immune responses. To determine whether mice deficient in both type I and type II IFN receptors also elicit high levels of neutralizing antibodies, we immunized AG129 (IFN- α/β and γ receptor-deficient) mice with 10¹-10⁴ PFU of rVSV-SFTSV. Notably, 2 of 4 mice immunized with 10⁴ PFU rVSV-SFTSV succumbed to viral infection (Fig. 2.2B). Mice receiving 10 PFU rVSV-SFTSV failed to generate a neutralizing antibody response (Fig. 2.2C). Animals receiving higher doses had mean neutralizing titers ranging from 60 to 240 with increasing dosage (Fig. 2.2C). These results demonstrate that rVSV-SFTSV elicits humoral responses even in highly immunocompromised animals lacking type I and II IFN responses.

It is well documented that VSV infection is highly sensitive to IFN responses ^{172,173}. To determine whether rVSV-SFTSV can induce a neutralizing antibody response in immunocompetent mice, we immunized C57BL/6 mice with 10⁴, 10⁵, or 10⁶ PFU of rVSV-SFTSV. Dosages were increased relative to *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice to account for IFN responses interfering with rVSV-SFTSV replication and thus reducing the humoral immune response in the immune competent mice. In contrast to what was seen with the immune deficient mice, no weight loss was observed in the C57BL/6 mice at any vaccine dose (data not shown). Additionally, despite the increased dosages, neutralizing titers were far lower than those observed in *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice suggesting that rVSV-SFTSV is sensitive to IFN, consistent with previous reports (Fig. 2.2D). A dosage dependent increase in FRNT₅₀ titers was observed with mice receiving 10⁶ PFU rVSV-SFTSV achieving a mean titer of 113 (Fig. 2.2D). Notably, all mice immunized with 10⁶ PFU rVSV-SFTSV sero-converted (Fig. 2.2D). These data indicate that despite VSV's



Figure 2.2 rVSV-SFTSV induces neutralizing antibodies across different mouse strains (A) *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice were immunized with PBS, 10², 10³, or 10⁴ PFU rVSV-SFTSV. Serum neutralizing antibodies were quantified by measuring 50% decrease in pseudovirus foci, the reciprocal endpoint dilution is shown (Ordinary one-way ANOVA; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; ***, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001). (B, C) AG129 mice were vaccinated with varying doses of rVSV-SFTSV and monitored for survival (B) and had serum collected 21 days post vaccination and FRNT₅₀ was assessed (C) (Mantel-Cox test and ordinary one-way ANOVA; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; ****, P<0.0022; ****, P<0.0021; ****, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001). (D) Wild-type C57/BI6 mice were immunized with rVSV-SFTSV and had serum neutralization titers determined at 21 days post treatment (Ordinary one-way ANOVA; *, P<0.0021; ****, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001). (D) Wild-type C57/BI6 mice were immunized with rVSV-SFTSV and had serum neutralization titers determined at 21 days post treatment (Ordinary one-way ANOVA; *, P<0.0021; ****, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001).
sensitivity to IFN, rVSV-SFTSV induces responses in immunocompetent animals that reach neutralizing titers predicted to be protective.

2.4.3 rVSV-SFTSV protects Ifnar^{/-} mice from lethal SFTSV challenge and reduces viral titers in tissues

Because of the high neutralizing antibody titers measured in *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice vaccinated with rVSV-SFTSV, we hypothesized that the vaccine would protect these mice against lethal SFTSV challenge. To test this hypothesis, vaccinated mice were challenged subcutaneously with 10 PFU of SFTSV 23 days post-vaccination (2 days after blood collection for neutralizing antibody titration). A single group of unvaccinated mice received 8 days of 100 mg/kg/day of favipiravir therapy following SFTSV challenge as a positive control for protection ¹⁷⁴. As expected, all mice vaccinated with PBS succumbed by 8 dpi (Fig. 2.3A). In contrast, only 60% of mice vaccinated with 10² PFU, and all *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice vaccinated with at least 10^3 PFU, survived the lethal SFTSV challenge. Mice vaccinated with at least 10³ PFU were protected from weight loss following SFTSV challenge while rapid weight loss was observed in PBS-vaccinated mice beginning by 3 dpi (Fig. 2.3B). Mild weight loss occurred post-challenge in mice that received 10² PFU of vaccine, but this trend was driven primarily by the three individuals that succumbed to disease. Vaccination-associated weight loss was also observed in this experiment and was consistent in magnitude to that shown previously (Fig. 2.1E).

To assess the effect rVSV-SFTSV vaccination has on SFTSV viremia and tissue viral loads, groups of 4 mice were vaccinated and challenged in, parallel following the timeline described above. These subsets of mice were sacrificed 5 days following SFTSV challenge and serum, liver, spleen, and kidney were collected for SFTSV quantification by endpoint titration on Vero E6 cells. All groups of vaccinated mice had



Figure 2.3 Vaccination with rVSV-SFTSV protects *Ifnar*^{-/-} **mice from lethal SFTSV challenge.** (A) Survival proportions and (B) percent weight change in *Ifnar*^{-/-} mice challenged subcutaneously with 10 PFU SFTSV (blue arrow) 23 days after intraperitoneal vaccination with PBS, or 10², 10³, or 10⁴ PFU rVSV-SFTSV (red arrow). Weight change is reported as percentage change in body weight relative to starting weight prior to vaccination. One group of mice received favipiravir daily for eight days following SFTSV challenge to serve as a positive control for protection. (Mantel-Cox test; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; ***, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001). (C) SFTSV titers in serum liver, spleen, and kidney of mice five days post-challenge in mice subjected to the same vaccination schedule as those in (A) and (B). Horizontal dotted lines indicate the limit of detection of the assay (Ordinary one-way ANOVA; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; ****, P<0.0001).

significantly reduced SFTSV serum and tissue viral titers (Fig. 2.3C). In the liver and kidney, there was a trend towards dose-dependence with mice vaccinated with the highest dose of rVSV-SFTSV having the lowest viral titers. Favipiravir treatment also reduced SFTSV titers compared to mice vaccinated with PBS. These data demonstrate that rVSV-SFTSV does not provide sterilizing immunity to SFTSV challenge but rather reduces replication in the vaccinated animals.

2.4.4 Passive serum transfer imparts protective immunity to naïve mice

Although our data demonstrate that rVSV-SFTSV vaccination induces neutralizing antibody response and protects against lethal SFTSV infection, it remains unclear if antibody-mediated immunity is sufficient to confer SFTSV protection. To assess whether antibodies alone impart protection against lethal SFTSV infection, we performed passive serum transfer. 60 µl or 20 µl of sera from rVSV-SFTSV-immunized or negative control *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice were administered to naïve *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice either prophylactically (2 days prior to challenge) or therapeutically (2 days post challenge). The pooled sera used for passive transfer had an approximate FRNT₅₀ titer of 450, while the FRNT₅₀ titer for negative control sera was below the limit of detection. Approximately 33% of *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice receiving 60 µl of immune sera prophylactically were protected against lethal SFTSV challenge (Fig. 2.4A). When 60 µl of immune sera was administered therapeutically, 62% of mice survived (Fig. 2.4A). Animals given 20 µl of immune sera were not protected from challenge regardless of when sera were administered (Fig. 2.4A). All mice in the positive control group receiving 10³ PFU rVSV-SFTSV 7 days prior to challenge survived (Fig. 2.4A).

Animal weights measured daily during the study positively correlated with the survival data (Fig. 2.4B). The most dramatic weight loss after the SFTSV challenge occurred in the group treated with the non-immune sera and the groups treated with the



Α



lower quantities of immune sera. All surviving mice treated with the 60 µl dose of immune sera recovered fully from the infection after losing approximately 10% body weight (Fig. 2.4B). The mice vaccinated with 10³ PFU rVSV-SFTSV did not experience any weight loss due to the vaccine virus or upon SFTSV infection (Fig. 2.4B). *2.4.5 rVSV-SFTSV vaccination cross protects against lethal HRTV challenge*

Next, we evaluated whether vaccination with rVSV-SFTSV confers cross protection against HRTV challenge. In AG129 mice, a dose of 10⁴ PFU rVSV-SFTSV was partially lethal (Fig. 2.2B). Thus, we modified immunization dosages to 10², 10^{2.5}, and 10³ PFU rVSV-SFTSV. Mice were then challenged with a lethal dose of a mouseadapted HRTV (MA-HRTV) 21 days post vaccination. A group of unvaccinated mice were treated with 100 mg/kg/day favipiravir for 8 days following MA-HRTV challenge. Eighty percent of the mice that received the two highest doses of 10^{2.5} or 10³ PFU rVSV-SFTSV survived the challenge, with 60% of the mice vaccinated with the lowest dose (10² PFU) also surviving (Fig. 2.5A). As expected, all PBS-vaccinated mice succumbed to MA-HRTV disease by 8 dpi and all the favipiravir-treated animals were protected (Fig. 2.5A). Most of the infected mice experienced considerable weight loss beginning 4 to 6 days post MA-HRTV challenge (Fig. 2.5B). Surviving mice fully recovered and had weight gain comparable to favipiravir-treated animals.

Subsets of 4 mice per experimental group were sacrificed on day 5 post MA-HRTV challenge for collection of blood, liver, and spleen tissue for measurement of viral loads by endpoint titration using an infectious cell culture assay. Mice immunized with rVSV-SFTSV had significantly reduced MA-HRTV titers comparable to the favipiravir positive control (Fig. 2.5C). In parallel, serum from vaccinated animals was analyzed for FRNT₅₀ to determine whether cross neutralization of HRTV occurred. Mice vaccinated with 10² or 10³ PFU rVSV-SFTSV had moderate SFTSV neutralization titers of 40 and



loss curves are shown from immunization until completion of experiment. Black arrows indicate vaccination and challenge times ANOVA; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; ***, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001) (D) Sera was collected from subsets of animals 21 days post Figure 2.5 rVSV-SFTSV vaccination cross-protects animals against MA-HRTV challenge. AG129 mice were IP immunized immunization and prior to HRTV challenge. Sera was analyzed for neutralizing antibodies against HRTV using a pseudotyped virus with the HRTV Gn/Gc glycoprotein (Ordinary one-way ANOVA; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; ***, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001). each vaccination group were sacrificed 5 days post challenge to assess serum, liver, and spleen virus titers (Ordinary one-way with escalating doses of rVSV-SFTSV then challenged with MA-HRTV 21 days post immunization. (A) Survival and (B) weight at -21 and 0 days respectively (Mantel-Cox test; *, P<0.0332; **, P<0.0021; ***, P<0.0002; ****, P<0.0001). (C) Four animals in

60, respectively, with one mouse in each group failing to seroconvert (Fig. 2.2C). Mice receiving 10⁴ PFU immunization doses reached higher neutralization titers against SFTSV but 2 of 4 animals succumbed the vaccine virus (Fig. 2.2B, C). Interestingly, cross neutralization of HRTV was only observed in sera from 2 of 4 mice receiving 10³ PFU immunizations and the surviving 10⁴ PFU immunized animals from the safety and immunogenicity study (Fig. 2.5D). In mice immunized with 10³ PFU rVSV-SFTSV, neutralizing titers against HRTV were at or just above the limit of detection indicating weak cross reactivity (Fig. 2.5D). Sera from mice receiving lower immunization doses did not have neutralization activity despite partial protection from MA-HRTV challenge (Fig. 2.5A, C, D). Lack of cross neutralization titers suggests that the protective effect in the context of survival and reduced viral loads may be due to cell-mediated immunity or other non-neutralizing antibody functions.

2.5 – Discussion

SFTSV is an emerging public health threat in southeast Asia with case fatality rates ranging from 4 to 30%. This high variability in case fatality rates may reflect access to health care, the genetic background of infected populations, and the virulence of the infecting SFTSV strain ¹⁷⁵⁻¹⁷⁷. Given that no therapeutics or vaccines are available to curtail or prevent an outbreak of SFTS and that the virus is transmitted by multiple tick species with expanding geographic ranges, the threat SFTSV poses to public health is significant ^{157,178}. This has caused the WHO to list SFTSV in its prioritized pathogen research blueprint and the NIAID to include it as a category C priority pathogen ^{35,36}. In response to the potential threat from SFTSV, many SFTSV vaccines are being developed using a variety of different technologies including protein subunit, DNA, and recombinant viral platforms ^{45,112,144,146,163,179}.

Ifnar -- mice are susceptible to lethal SFTSV challenge and have therefore been used to evaluate an array of SFTSV vaccines that use DNA, protein subunit, and recombinant viral technologies ^{45,112,146,163}. A DNA vaccine encoding the ectodomains of Gn and Gc and a chimeric N-NSs fusion protein on a single plasmid only protected 40% of mice from lethal challenge after three doses of vaccine ⁴⁵. However, a similar vector that contained an additional open reading frame encoding IL-12 was fully protective using an identical vaccination schedule ⁴⁵. Interestingly, neither regimen induced neutralizing antibodies. This same group also developed a protein subunit vaccine by fusing Gn and Gc to the Fc region of human immunoglobulin heavy chain to create Gn-Fc and Gc-Fc, respectively ⁴⁵. Vaccination of mice with either Gn-Fc or Gc-Fc in alum induced neutralizing antibody titers greater than 1:100 in a FRNT₅₀ assay. This vaccination regimen, however, achieved only 50% and 0% protection from lethal SFTSV challenge with Gn-Fc or Gc-Fc, respectively ⁴⁵. Recombinant vaccinia virus and VSV technologies have also been explored. LC16m8 strain recombinant vaccinia virus vaccines encoding SFTSV N alone, SFTSV Gn/Gc alone, or both N and Gn/Gc in combination fully protected against lethal SFTSV challenge ¹⁴⁶. These vaccines however failed to induce FRNT₅₀ neutralizing titers greater than 1:40, and not surprisingly, the vaccine encoding N alone failed to induce detectable neutralizing activity. Of the vaccine platforms evaluated thus far in *Ifnar* -/- mice, recombinant VSVs induced the highest neutralizing titers. In our study, mean FRNT_{50} neutralizing titers ranging from 282 to 642 were induced by a single dose of rVSV-SFTSV HB29 strain that ranged from 10² - 10⁴ PFU. A similar rVSV encoding the SFTSV AH12 strain glycoprotein sequence elicited a neutralizing titer of 682 following vaccination with a single dose of 2 x 10⁴ PFU ¹¹².

Aged ferrets have also been used as a lethal SFTSV model to study the efficacy of both DNA vaccines and live-attenuated vaccines harboring mutations in NSs^{144,163}.

Representative vaccines from these platforms that fully protected ferrets from lethal challenge included a combination of two plasmids that encoded SFTSV Gn and Gc, a combination of five plasmids that encode SFTSV Gn, Gc, RdRp, N, and NSs, a recombinant SFTSV HB29 strain virus encoding the P102A substitution in NSs, and a recombinant SFTSV HB29 strain virus encoding an NSs containing a truncated carboxy-terminus of 12 amino acids. Both DNA vaccine platforms are given in a three dose regimen and elicit modest levels of neutralizing antibodies. Passive transfers from animals vaccinated against SFTSV Gn/Gc were protective suggesting neutralizing antibodies are a correlate of protection ¹⁴⁴. It remains unclear what contribution cellular responses make to protection from SFTSV challenge. Unfortunately, the age-related changes that render ferrets susceptible to lethal SFTSV challenge are unknown. This makes it difficult to directly compare results obtained from aged ferrets to other SFTSV animal models.

The only currently FDA-approved rVSV vaccine, rVSV-EBOV, is highly pathogenic and lethal in *Ifnar* ^{-/-} mice. In contrast, rVSV-SFTSV only caused mild-to-moderate weight loss at doses that elicited protective immunity. Unlike the parental VSV vector, rVSV-SFTSV did not cause neurologic disease when injected intracranially into 4-week-old C57BL/6 mice, suggesting that this vaccine strain is not neurotropic. Despite these promising results, it is possible that rVSV-SFTSV may be too attenuated in animals containing a functional IFN system. This possibility is supported by the lower neutralizing antibody titers measured in vaccinated C57BL/6 mice compared to those in *Ifnar* ^{-/-} mice. However, neutralizing serum levels in vaccinated C57BL/6 mice were higher than titers that are typically expected to protect against other viruses such as influenza ¹⁷⁰. This uncertainty highlights the need for immune-competent animal models to evaluate the efficacy of SFTSV vaccines and therapeutics.

Neutralizing antibodies elicited in the context of a functional humoral response are thought to be a correlate of protection against lethal SFTS in humans ¹⁸⁰. As such, passive transfer of sera from vaccinated animals has been previously shown to be protective when used prophylactically in an *lfnar* ^{-/-} mouse model of lethal SFTSV ¹¹². Extending these findings, our results demonstrated that serum from mice vaccinated with rVSV-SFTSV could protect against lethal SFTSV challenge when used either prophylactically or therapeutically suggesting the protective capacity of Gn/Gc-targeted antibodies against SFTSV. In support of the role for antibodies in protection against SFTSV disease, a monoclonal antibody recognizing Gn protects *lfnar*^{-/-} mice from lethal challenge ¹⁸¹. The efficacy of neutralizing sera administered therapeutically has implications for monoclonal antibody or antibody cocktail management of patients with SFTS.

In addition to direct neutralization by elicited antibodies, our data also suggest other mechanisms for protection against SFTSV pathogenesis. In our passive transfer studies, following redistribution of transferred sera from the peritoneal cavity to the circulation and subsequent dilution within the host's blood, it is likely that the neutralizing titer of the recipient's sera would be below the limit of detection of our FRNT₅₀ assay. Still, the dose of antibodies contained within 60 μL of donor sera was sufficient to protect mice under both prophylactic and therapeutic conditions. Surprisingly, we observed better protection when sera were transferred therapeutically (2 dpi) compared to prophylactically (-2 dpi). While the mechanisms underlying this observation are unknown, it is possible that uncharacterized variables such as the pharmacokinetics and bioavailability of the sera components responsible for protection at sites of virus replication may be responsible. In addition, our results suggest that passive transfer intervention may be beneficial in areas endemic for SFTSV within high-risk populations

for severe SFTS that have reported recent tick bites but are yet to show symptoms. Further studies using appropriate animal models should be conducted to better evaluate the temporal relationship of passive transfer therapies with both infection (by experimental inoculation or tick bite) and clinical disease onset.

Protection against lethal challenge in the absence of high neutralizing antibody titers has been observed in SFTSV vaccines using recombinant vaccinia virus and DNA technologies ^{45,146}. These observations suggest that other mechanisms in addition to neutralizing antibodies may also contribute to protection against SFTS. In this study, we demonstrated that vaccination with rVSV-SFTSV either 7 or 21 days prior to SFTSV challenge was fully protective (Figures 3A and 4A). Protection at 7 days, a time at which humoral responses are not fully developed, suggests that mechanisms other than antibodies can be protective. Since the T cell immune response peaks at approximately 7 days post-vaccination, it is possible that these cells also contribute to the protection elicited by the vaccine ^{182,183}. Additionally, we noted protection against SFTSV lethality in some of the rVSV immunized mice where the neutralizing titer was below the limit of detection. rVSVs are known to stimulate robust T_H1 immune responses in vaccinated animals and humans ^{102,106,107}. The data presented here suggest that rVSV-SFTSV may also confer protection by inducing type 1 immunity and CD8+ T cells. It is also possible that NK cells or other components of the innate immune system are important mediators of this early protective effect of the rVSV vaccine. More studies will be required to elucidate the potential role of T cells following vaccination with rVSV-SFTSV or infection by authentic SFTSV.

HRTV is an emerging bandavirus closely related to SFTSV that can cause lethal disease ^{184,185}. Previous studies have shown that sera raised by vaccination against SFTSV glycoproteins can cross-neutralize viruses harboring HRTV glycoproteins ¹¹². In

addition, this same study showed that a rVSV-HRTV protects *lfnar* $\stackrel{-}{\sim}$ mice against lethal SFTSV infection. The present study is the first to report that rVSV-SFTSV protects *lfnar* $\stackrel{-}{\sim}$ mice against a lethal HRTV challenge. Despite protection against lethal disease, sera from rVSV-SFTSV-vaccinated mice neutralized viruses pseudotyped with HRTV glycoproteins much less efficiently than viruses pseudotyped with SFTSV glycoproteins. Of the four serum samples collected from AG129 mice vaccinated with 10² PFU of rVSV-SFTSV, only one had a detectable neutralizing antibody titer (reciprocal dilution of 20) against VSV pseudotyped with HRTV glycoproteins. Despite this, 60% of AG129 mice that received this dose of vaccine survived MA-HRTV challenge. These data suggest that other systems stimulated by rVSV-SFTSV vaccination, such as a T_H1 response, could have contributed to the protection against HRTV. Additionally, alternative effector functions of antibodies beyond neutralization may contribute to the protective effect described here. Further studies are needed to elucidate which immune system components are responsible for cross-protection as the results of these studies could inform future vaccine development for these recently emerged bandaviruses.

2.6 – Acknowledgements

We thank Ashley Dagley, Julio Landinez, Brittney Downs and Parker Webber for technical support with vaccine and passive transfer efficacy studies. This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (R21AI142638, R01AI152236,

T32AI055400, T32AI007324 and HHSN272201700041I).

2.7 – Author Contributions

P.B. and B.B.G. conceived and supervised the study. P.H., J.B.W., T.B.M., B.R., G.L.R., K.M.B. and D.J.B. performed the experiments. P.B., B.B.G., P.H., J.B.W., T.B.M., analyzed the data. P.H., J.B.W., T.B.M wrote the manuscript.

2.8 – Materials and Methods

2.8.1 Cells, Viruses, and Mice

ATCC verified and mycoplasma free 293T and Vero E6 cells were maintained in DMEM (Corning, #10-013-CV) containing 10% FBS (Corning, #35-010-CV), and 2mM L-glutamine (Corning, #25-005-CI). Cells were passaged every 2-3 days.

Recombinant viruses harboring an additional open reading frame encoding EGFP (refered to as VSV throughout this paper) in genomic position 5, or encoding heterologous viral glycoproteins in genomic position 4 (rVSV-SFTSV and rVSV-EBOV) were launched and described previously ^{43,186}. rVSV-SFTSV and rVSV-EBOV also contain an additional open reading frame in position five encoding mCherry. All recombinant viruses were grown in Vero E6 cells by infecting a confluent T-175 flask at an MOI of 0.3-0.5. Virus was collected at 48-72 hours post infection with the addition of Hepes buffer pH7.4 to 25mM. Media was clarified by centrifuging at 6000 times gravity for 5 minutes at 4 °C twice. Virus was then frozen at -80 °C until used for ultracentrifugation. Virus was concentrated by ultracentrifuging virus-containing media through a 20% sucrose gradient at 26,000rpm for 2 hours at 4 °C using SW-32 tubes in a Beckman Coulter Optima XPN-80 ultracentrifuge. After removal of the sucrose and media, pelleted virus was placed on ice with 500 µl hepes buffered saline overnight. The next day virus pellets were resuspended and frozen at -80 °C. Viral titer was determined by plaque assays on Vero E6 cells with a 1.25% Avicel RC-591 NF (DuPont, #RC591-NFBA500) overlay and then stained with 1% crystal violet. Due to the size difference of plaques created by VSV and rVSV-SFTSV, plates were processed at 36 or 72 hours post infection, respectively unless otherwise stated.

SFTSV, strain HB29, was obtained from Dr. Robert Tesh (WRCEVA; World reference Center for Emerging Viruses and Arboviruses at the University of Texas

Medical Branch, Galveston, TX). The virus stock (5.6 x 10⁶ PFU/ml; 1 passage in Vero E6 cells) used was from a clarified cell culture lysate preparation. Virus stock was diluted in sterile minimal essential medium (MEM) and inoculated by subcutaneous injection of 0.2 ml containing approximately 10 PFU.

The mouse-adapted HRTV (MA-HRTV) strain used was derived from the MO-4 strain obtained from Dr. Robert Tesh (WRCEVA). The MA-HRTV stock ($4.7 \times 10^8 50\%$ cell culture infectious dose (CCID₅₀/mI); 1 passage in Vero E6 cells, 5 passages in AG129 mice) used was prepared from clarified liver homogenate. The virus stock was diluted in sterile MEM and inoculated bilaterally in two IP injections of 0.1 ml each for a total inoculation of 40 CCID₅₀.

C57BL/6 mice were ordered from Jackson Labs (Bar Harbor, ME). AG129 and *Ifnar*^{-/-} mice were obtained from breeding colonies at Utah State University. 4 week old C57BL/6 mice were used for intracranial challenge experiments. 8 week old C57BL/6 mice or *Ifnar*^{-/-} mice on the C57BL/6 background were used for all other experiments. All mouse experiments were done using equal numbers of male and female mice. All mice were given approximately 7 days to acclimate to their cages and vivarium prior to each experiment. Mice were weighed immediately prior to all vaccination and infection procedures. All mice were anesthetized using 1% isoflurane in air delivered by vaporizer (Northern Vaporisers, Skipton, UK) to the anesthesia chamber. Injection sites were first prepared by cleaning with a 70% ethanol pad. Intracranial injection experiments and some vaccination experiments without authentic SFTSV challenge were performed under animal biosafety level (ABSL) 2 conditions at the University of Pennsylvania. All other vaccination experiments that included authentic SFTSV challenged were performed in BSL3 conditions at Utah State University.

All animals were treated ethically using complying with guidelines set by the USDA and Utah State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and the University of Pennsylvania Laboratory Animal Resources guidelines.

2.8.2 Western Blot

Vero E6 cells were mock infected or infected with rVSV-SFTSV. At 24 hours post infection cells were lysed, Laemmli buffer was added and samples were denatured at 95°C for 5 minutes. Samples were run on a 4-15% Biorad gel (Bio-Rad, #5671084). Protein was transferred to a PVDF membrane (Millipore, #IPVH00010) and stained with anti-SFTSV Gn (ProSci, #6647) or Gc (ProSci, #6651) polyclonal antibodies followed with a secondary HRP conjugated antibody (GE Healthcare, #NA934V). Between staining's, membrane was stripped for an hour at room temp using restore western blot stripping buffer (Thermo Scientific,#21059). Western blots were developed using SuperSignal west pico PLUS chemiluminescent substrate (Thermo Scientific, #34580) and read on an GE Healthcare Amersham 600 imager (Piscataway, NJ).

2.8.3 rVSV-SFTSV replication kinetics assay

Vero E6 cells were infected at a multiplicity of infection of 0.01 with rVSV-SFTSV or VSV diluted in DMEM + 10% FBS for 2 hours. The inoculum was then removed and cells were gently washed three times with PBS. Cells were then covered in fresh complete growth medium and incubated at 37 °C. Every 24 hours, 5% of the growth medium was removed and replaced with an equal volume of fresh growth medium. Samples were clarified by centrifugation, transferred to fresh tubes, and frozen at -80 °C until they were titrated by plaque assay as previously described.

2.8.4 Measurement of plaque area

Wells were imaged individually using a GelDoc XR+ with Image Lab Software (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) with Coomasie Blue settings. Images were analyzed using FIJI (ImageJ). First, images were thresholded using a pixel intensity cutoff of 216. Thresholded images were then converted to binary masks. Regions of interest were automatically drawn around plaques using the "Analyze Particles" command. Regions of interest that contained two or more plaques were discarded and redrawn using the "polygon ROI" tool such that regions of interest only included a single plaque. The area of each region of interest was then measured using the "Measure" tool. *2.8.5 Immunization*

Vaccines were diluted to the desired concentrations with sterile PBS just prior to vaccination by IP injection. All immunizations were done with a 200 µl inoculum. Favipiravir, the positive control for the rVSV-SFTSV vaccine efficacy study, was kindly provided by the Toyama Chemical Co., Ltd. (Toyama, Japan) and prepared in a meglumine solution for administration by IP injection.

2.8.6 Intracranial infection and neurologic sign scoring

To evaluate neuropathogenesis, 4-week-old C57BL/6 mice were injected intracranially into the right cerebral hemisphere using a 1ml Hamilton syringe with Repeating Syringe Dispenser (Hamilton Company, Reno, NV). Inocula contained 0, 10¹, 10², or 10³ PFU of rVSV-SFTSV or rVSV-EGFP and were diluted to a total injection volume of 10 µl with PBS. Mice we monitored during anesthesia recovery until they were ambulatory. Mice were weighed daily and were observed for neurologic signs. Neurologic signs were assigned a severity score ranging from 0-4. Mice scored "0" showed no signs of illness and were bright, alert, and responsive when handled. Mice scored a "1" showed mild signs of illness without clear signs of neurologic illness including body hunching, depressed activity, or mild grimace. Mice assigned a "1" had normal ambulation and responded normally to being handled. Mice assigned a "2" had clinical signs consistent with mild encephalitis including hyperexcitability or altered gait that did not impair linear locomotion and used all four limbs. Mice assigned a "3" had more severe neurologic signs which included paraparesis of one or two limbs, mild head tilt, and altered gait that did impair linear locomotion (such as spinning). Mice assigned a "4" had severe neurologic signs that were inconsistent with life including complete pelvic limb paraplegia, ataxia, or tremors/seizures. Mice scored with a "4" were humanely euthanized with CO₂.

2.8.7 Blood collection

Mice were isofluorane anesthetized and blood was collected through the submandibular route using Goldenrod lancets 5mm (Medipoint, Mineola, NY). Blood was maintained on ice after collection. Serum was separated from blood by centrifugation at 8,000 RPM for 30 minutes at 4 °C in an Eppendorf 5424R centrifuge (Eppendorf, Enfield, CT). Serum was heat inactivated by incubating at 56 °C for 30 minutes. While running neutralization assays, serum was stored at 4 °C, for long term storage serum was frozen at -80 °C.

2.8.8 Pseudovirus neutralization assay

Production of VSV pseudotype with SFTSV Gn/Gc: 293T cells plated 24 hours previously at 2 X 10⁷ cells per T-175 flask were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, #11668-019) using manufacturers protocol. Briefly, tubes each containing 1.75ml optimem (Gibco, #31985-070) were made. In one tube 100ul of Lipofectamine 2000 reagent was added and gently mixed. In the other, 45ug of pCAG-SFTSV Gn/Gc expression plasmid was added, tubes were allowed to sit for 5 minutes at room temperature. Lipofectamine and DNA containing tubes of optimum were combined and gently mixed, after 20 minutes incubating at room temperature. Solution was added to flask of 293T cells, after 4 hours cells were fed with fresh media. Thirty hours after transfection, the SFTSV Gn/Gc expressing cells were infected for 2-4 hours with VSV-G

pseudotyped VSV Δ G-mNeon at an MOI of ~1-3 (Generated by deleting the cognate VSV-G and linking mNeon to the n-terminus of P. Virus was launched as previously described ⁴³). After infection, the cells were washed twice with FBS-free media to remove unbound virus. Media containing the VSV Δ G-mNeon SFTSV Gn/Gc pseudotypes was harvested 30 hours after infection and clarified by centrifugation twice at 6000g then aliquoted and stored at -80 °C until used for antibody neutralization analysis.

Antibody neutralization assay using VSV Δ G-mNeon SFTSV Gn/Gc: Vero E6 cells were seeded in 100 µl at 2x10⁴ cells/well in a 96 well collagen coated plate. The next day, 2-fold serially diluted serum samples were mixed with VSV Δ G-mNeon SFTSV Gn/Gc pseudotype virus (100-200 focus forming units/well) and incubated for 1hr at 37 °C. Also included in this mixture to neutralize any potential VSV-G carryover virus was 1E9F9, a mouse anti-VSV Indiana G, at a concentration of 600 ng/ml. The antibody-virus mixture was then used to replace the media on VeroE6 cells. 16 hours post infection, the cells were washed and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde before visualization on an S6 FluoroSpot Analyzer (CTL, Shaker Heights OH). Individual infected foci were enumerated and the values compared to control wells without serum. The focus reduction neutralization titer 50% (FRNT₅₀) was measured as the greatest serum dilution at which focus count was reduced by at least 50% relative to control cells that were infected with pseudotype virus in the absence of mouse serum. FRNT₅₀ titers for each sample were measured in two to three technical replicates performed on separate days. 2.8.9 Virus titer determination

Virus titers were assayed using an infectious cell culture assay as previously described¹⁸⁷. Briefly, a specific volume of tissue homogenate or serum was serially diluted and added to triplicate wells of Vero E6 (African green monkey kidney) cell

monolayers in 96-well microtiter plates. The viral cytopathic effect (CPE) was determined 11 days after plating and the 50% endpoints calculated as described¹⁸⁸. The lower limits of detection were 1.67 log₁₀ CCID₅₀/ml serum and 2.43-3.14 log₁₀ CCID₅₀/g tissue. In samples presenting with virus below the limits of detection, a value representative of the limit of detection was assigned for statistical analysis.

2.8.10 Passive transfer

The immune sera from mice vaccinated with rVSV-SFTSV (approximate FRNT₅₀ of 453), non-immune sera, and recombinant vaccine rVSV-SFTSV (7.12 x 10^7 PFU/ml) were diluted with sterile PBS so that the volume of each treatment was 100 µl. Sera was delivered by IP injection 2 days prior to or post challenge with SFTSV. Mice receiving the rVSV-SFTSV vaccine were immunized 7 days prior to challenge. Monitoring of mouse weight began at 7 days prior to challenge and continued 21 days post SFTSV challenge. *2.8.11 Statistical and Data Analysis*

The Mantel-Cox log-rank test was used for analysis of Kaplan-Meier survival curves. A one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the Dunnett's post test to correct for multiple comparisons was used to assess differences in virus titers. A one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons post-hoc test was used to assess FRNT₅₀ titers and maximum neurologic sign scores. Two-way ANOVA with Tukeys multiple comparisons test was used for replication kinetics. Unpaired student's t-test with unequal variance was used to assess differences in plaque area. All statistical evaluations were done using Prism 9 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA).



Figure 2.S1 rVSV-SFTSV expresses SFTSV glycoproteins and is attenuated *in vitro*. (A) Expression of SFTSV Gn and Gc by cells infected by rVSV-SFTSV. (B) Growth kinetics of rVSV-SFTSV and VSV in Vero E6 cells infected at a multiplicity of infection of 0.01(Two-way ANOVA; *, P<0.0332, **, P < 0.0021). Images (C) and surface area (D) of plaques created by VSV and rVSV-SFTSV on Vero E6 cell monolayers 48 hours post infection. (Unpaired t-test with unequal variance; ****, P < 0.0001)

CHAPTER 3: Vaccination With mRNA and rVSV Platforms Induce Potent Protective Immune Responses Against SFTSV in Homologous and Heterologous Regimens

Tomaz B. Manzoni*, Jonna B. Westover*, Kendall A. Lundgreen, Gabrielle L. Rock,

Kirsten M. Boardman, Philip Hicks, Jordan T. Ort, Drew Weissman, Ying K. Tam, Scott

E. Hensley, Norbert Pardi, Brian B. Gowen, Paul Bates

*These authors contributed equally

Manuscript in preparation

3.1 – Abstract

Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus (SFTSV) is a highly pathogenic emergent bunyavirus first isolated in China in 2009. Since its discovery, SFTSV has been shown to have a high case fatality rate and wide distribution throughout eastern Asia where it is endemic in China, Japan, South Korea, and Vietnam. Currently, no therapeutics or vaccines are available for the treatment or prevention of SFTSV infection. Due to its pathogenicity, expanding range of its tick vector, and the ability for person-to-person transmission, SFTSV is a high-priority pathogen for the development of vaccines and therapeutics. Here, we develop a novel lipid nanoparticle (LNP)-encapsulated nucleoside-modified mRNA-based vaccine targeting the SFTSV glycoproteins, Gn and Gc. We compare this vaccine to the previously described recombinant VSV SFTSV (rVSV-SFTSV) vaccine in single dose, homologous, and heterologous prime-boost regimens. We conducted our immunizations utilizing a newly described mouse model with an α -IFNAR antibody blockade allowing us to determine vaccine immunogenicity in a non-immunocompromised animal model. We show that all vaccine regimens used are protective from lethal challenge and elicit strong long-lasting antibody responses. Furthermore, strong cellular immunity is elicited by mRNA-LNP immunizations and by heterologous immunization with an rVSV-SFTSV prime and mRNA-LNP boost. Cellular responses have a robust functional type 1 immune polarization characterized by high levels of IFN γ , TNF α , and IL-2. Immunization with mRNA led to a mixed type 1/type 2 immune response, as determined by antibody isotypes IgG1 and IgG2c, despite no detectable levels of the type 2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-5 in spleenocytes. In comparing homologous immunization to heterologous strategies, we found that homologous immunization leads to stronger antibody responses while heterologous immunization drives a slightly stronger cellular response. Taken together,

the vaccine platforms described here represent strong vaccine candidates for further development.

3.2 – Introduction

Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus (SFTSV, also known as Dabie bandavirus, and formerly Huaiyangshan banyangvirus) is an emergent tickborne bunyavirus. First identified in China in a 2011 study, SFTSV has since been identified and is considered endemic to several southeast Asian countries including Japan, South Korea, Vietnam, and most recently Taiwan^{14,15,17,19,150,189}. Infection with SFTSV results in a variety of disease symptoms including leukopenia, thrombocytopenia, fever, and the presence of gastrointestinal symptoms^{14,15,151}. In more severe cases hemorrhage and multiorgan dysfunction can occur with patients generally succumbing to multiorgan failure in fatal cases¹⁵¹. The initial discovery of SFTSV reported a case fatality ratio (CFR) of 30%, more recent studies have found CFRs ranging from 6-20%^{14,15,151}. The wide distribution of SFTSV coincides with the range of its primary vector, the tick Haemophysalis longicornis^{154,155}. Other tick genera such as *Ixodes* and *Amblyoma* have also been found positive for SFTSV though these are more uncommon^{156,157}. The geographic distribution of H. longicornis has been greatly expanding and now includes Australia, New Zealand, and the United States presenting the opportunity for further spread of SFTSV^{28,158-160}. Additionally, though less common, SFTSV has been found to be able to spread without its tick vector. Ferret studies show that the virus is can be transmitted to co-housed animals in the absence of ticks, presumably through contact with blood, feces, urine, or saliva which contain high viral loads³¹. Transmission from a cat bite to a human, and human-to-human nosocomial transmissions have also been reported^{32,34}. Taken together, the high CFR and potential for rapid spread of SFTSV along with a lack of approved therapeutics and vaccines have led to SFTSV being

categorized as a high priority pathogen by both the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) and the World Health Organization (WHO)^{35,36}.

SFTSV is in the order *Bunyavirales* and the family *Phenuiviridae*. Like other viruses in this family, SFTSV is a tri-segmented, single-stranded RNA virus with a negative and ambisense genome. The three segments of the virus are named by their sizes with a small (S), medium (M), and large (L) segment of which S is ambisense with M and L being negative sense¹⁵. The S segment encodes the nucleoprotein (N) and a non-structural protein (NSs) which antagonizes interferon (IFN) signaling^{15,38}. The L segment encodes the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) which is essential along with N for virus replication. The M segment encodes the envelope glycoprotein which is translated as a polyprotein and then proteolytically cleaved into its two subunits Gn and Gc¹⁵. The Gn/Gc complex coats the exterior of the SFTSV virion and mediates receptor binding and entry through the fusion peptide found in the Gc subunit^{37,41,152}. The receptors and entry factors for SFTSV remain poorly defined. It has been shown that DC-SIGN may be a potential receptor with studies showing that cells refractive to SFTSV infection can be made susceptible with the expression of DC-SIGN^{37,152}. Additionally, UGCG has been shown to be an entry factor with SFTSV virions becoming unable to exit endosomes in UGCG knockout cells⁴³. Studies have indicated that antibodies directed against Gn or Gc are able to inhibit viral entry into cells making the Gn/Gc complex the primary target for vaccine development^{44,45,153}.

Currently there are no approved vaccines against SFTSV. In part, the lack of vaccines and therapeutics can be attributed to the limitations of animal models. Infection with SFTSV does not cause severe disease in wild-type mice so other mouse genotypes or animals must be used for SFTSV vaccine development^{47,161,162}. Currently the only immunocompetent animal models with lethal SFTSV disease are cats and aged ferrets,

the use of these animals for immunologic studies is limited due to lack of tools for the analysis of immune responses and difficulty in handling^{48,50}. This leaves small animal models such as *Stat2^{-/-}* hamsters, and *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice which have been the primary animal models used for vaccine development against SFTSV^{47,53,161}. More recently, one study has shown that using anti-IFNAR (α -IFNAR) antibodies in wild-type mice makes them susceptible to lethal SFTSV challenge⁵⁴. Previous vaccine development against SFTSV has included platforms such as DNA, virus-vectored, and attenuated recombinant SFTSV vaccines^{45,112,144,146,163}. Here we focus on the development of a novel mRNA-LNP based SFTSV vaccine and a heterologous prime-boost strategy with a recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) vaccine we have previously described¹⁹⁰.

Vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) is a livestock pathogen that has been considered as a vaccine platform for a wide variety of pathogens^{91,94,97}. The primary draw of VSV as a vaccine is the low sero-prevalence in humans suggesting most individuals would not have a pre-existing immune response against the vaccine platform⁹². Many groups have incorporated foreign glycoproteins into the VSV backbone due to the genetically tractable models available and the inherent ability of VSV to incorporate foreign viruses glycoproteins into virions^{93,94,97}. Currently, an Ebola virus (EBOV) vaccine using an rVSV platform is approved for use by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and this vaccine has been successfully distributed to combat recent EBOV outbreaks in Africa^{96,97}. As a virus platform, rVSV-based vaccines also elicit strong type 1 immune responses which are ideal for the elimination of intracellular pathogens such as viruses^{85,102,106,107}. A shortcoming of many vaccine platforms is the skewing of immune responses to a type 2 response which is more suited to attack extracellular pathogens⁸⁵. Here, we use an rVSV-SFTSV vaccine previously shown to be safe and effective in mice^{112,190}.

The most recently FDA-approved vaccine platform utilizes mRNA. mRNA vaccines use an in vitro transcribed mRNA strand, often including various modified nucleosides, to elicit production of an antigen in the vaccinated individual⁶⁹. This platform is powerful, allowing the rapid design and manufacturing of vaccines against emerging pathogens along with the benefits of no platform immunity and the potential to easily modulate the immunogenicity of the delivered mRNA⁶⁹. The biggest detriment of the mRNA platform is the need for storage at -80°C. Recent vaccination campaigns against SARS-CoV-2 have demonstrated the effectiveness of mRNA vaccines in controlling viral infections¹⁹¹. Indeed, mRNA vaccines induce primarily a type 1 immune response with high titers of antibodies and CD4+ T-cells¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶. Recent studies suggest the immunogen used can impact antibody skewing to a mixed type 1/type 2 response and the ability to elicit strong CD8+ T-cell responses is confounded by the strong responses induced in mice but no responses in macaques^{124,127,130}. This platform remains represents a potential strong candidate for future vaccine development but remains unstudied in its use against SFTSV. Here we designed an mRNA vaccine targeting the SFTSV Gn/Gc glycoproteins to define its immunogenicity and efficacy.

In light of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, heterologous vaccination strategies have come to the forefront of discussion in the scientific community. The draw of heterologous vaccination strategies is the potential to combine the best aspects of different vaccine platforms to get a superior response. In our study, we combined an rVSV platform known to drive strong type 1 immune responses, and then boosted with an mRNA vaccine to achieve high antibody titers^{69,107,125}. Recent reports of heterologous vaccination using an adenovirus platform followed by mRNA and vice versa have indicated that an mRNA boost does increase antibody levels further than a heterologous virus boost^{140-142,192}. In regard to cellular immunity, current data indicates heterologous

vaccination induces similar or better responses compared to homologous vaccination^{140-142,192}. Currently, detailed analysis of immunologic phenotypes upon heterologous vaccination remains largely undefined and attempts to analyze these responses are limited to SARS-CoV-2 vaccines¹⁴². Here we utilize a novel mouse model using wild type mice and α-IFNAR antibody blockade to develop a novel mRNA vaccine against SFTSV and compare it to the previously described rVSV-SFTSV vaccine in single dose as well as prime-boost studies. Additionally, we consider a heterologous prime boost strategy and show that all vaccines tested elicit powerful antibody responses. Immunization with homologous mRNA and heterologous vaccination yield comparable antibody and type 1 cytokine responses in T-cells with heterologous immunization being slightly superior in eliciting CD4+ responses and degranulation of CD8+ T-cells. Furthermore, all immunization strategies protect mice from lethal SFTSV challenge. Taken together, the mRNA platform is a strong candidate for development of a human SFTSV vaccine and heterologous prime-boost regimens may induce superior immune responses.

3.3 – Results

3.3.1 IFNAR antibody blockade recapitulates lethal infection in WT mice

Previous studies using various viruses have shown that using an α -IFNAR monoclonal antibody blockade can lead wild type mice to succumb to infections that are generally non-lethal¹⁹³. Indeed, a previous study using a different strain of SFTSV (KH1 strain) showed that wild type C57BL/6 mice succumbed to SFTSV infection with similar, but delayed, symptoms and disease manifestations as seen in the more commonly used *lfnar*^{-/-} mouse model⁵⁴. Since the *lfnar*^{-/-} model cannot mount a comprehensive immune response, we optimized an α -IFNAR blockade model with SFTSV strain HB29 to fully characterize our candidate vaccines in immunocompetent animals and then challenge them with lethal SFTSV doses. Animals were given two doses of the α -IFNAR



Figure 3.1 Determination of SFTSV LD₅₀ in α -IFNAR blockade (A) Scheme for LD₅₀ studies. (B) Weight loss and survival (C) in mice challenged with 26, 260, 2,600, or 26,000 CCID₅₀ of SFTSV following α -IFNAR blockade. Panel A created using BioRender.com

monoclonal antibody, one dose on day -1 from challenge and one dose on day 2 post infection (Figure 3.1 A). Several challenge doses were used ranging from 26 to 26,000 cell culture infectious dose 50% (CCID₅₀) to determine the median lethal dose (LD₅₀). Challenge with SFTSV caused severe weight loss with animals beginning to succumb at 6 days post infection (dpi) (Figure 3.1 B, C). By day 9, all animals challenged with 26,000 CCID₅₀ succumbed. (Figure 3.1 C). Interestingly, the lowest challenge dose (26 CCID₅₀) achieved the second highest mortality with 50% of animals succumbing to infection (Figure 3.1 C). From these data, the LD₅₀ was determined to be 18,000 CCID₅₀. Based on these results, a challenge dose of 26,000 CCID₅₀ was selected for future viral challenges.

3.3.2 Prime-boost vaccination strategies induce powerful antibody responses against SFTSV

To assess the efficacy and immunogenicity of an SFTSV mRNA vaccine relative to the previously described rVSV-SFTSV, we immunized wild type C57BL/6 mice in either single dose or prime-boost regimens (Figure 3.2 A)¹⁹⁰. Single dose vaccine conditions included SFTSV Gn/Gc mRNA (RS), rVSV-SFTSV (VS), and as negative controls, firefly luciferase mRNA (RL), and rVSV-EBOV (VE). Prime boost regimens included mRNA homologous regimens RS+RS and the negative control RL+RL, viral homologous regimen VS+VS, the heterologous regimens VS+RS, and the negative control VE+RL (Figure 3.2 A). A heterologous vaccination strategy using an mRNA prime and rVSV boost was not considered due to rVSV-SFTSV containing SFTSV Gn/Gc on the virion surface which would likely be neutralized by antibodies elicited by an mRNA vaccination thereby preventing any significant boost. Singly vaccinated animals were euthanized at 7 days post immunization for T-cell analysis and at 14 days for antibody assays (Figure 3.2 A). For boosted animals, a boost dose was administered at



Figure 3.2 Immunization with mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV platforms induce potent humoral responses (A) Study schematic. (B) Weight loss in mice immunized in single dose (top panel) or prime-boost regimens (bottom panel). Grey arrows indicate dates of immunization. (C) Analysis of neutralizing antibodies by FRNT₅₀ in single dose (left panel) and prime-boost regimens (right panel). (D) Total IgG titers as determined by ELISAS in single dose (left panel) and prime-boost regimens (right panel). (E) Total IgG and FRNT₅₀ titers plotted against each other from mice receiving prime-boost immunizations at day 35. Simple linear regression r^2 =0.6599. (F) Analysis of mouse sera in single dose (left panel) and prime-boost regimens (right panel) for antibody serotypes IgG1 and IgG2c by ELISA. Each panel includes data from 5-6 mice per group with equally split sexes. Limit of detection (LoD) of 20 and 50 for FRNT₅₀s and ELISAs respectively are represented by a dashed line. Two-way ANOVA with tukey's multiple comparison test used in panels C, D, E, and F (p= *<0.0332, *<0.0021, ***<0.0002, ****<0.0001). Panel A created using BioRender.com.

21 days post prime, and animals were euthanized at day 28 post initial immunization for T-cell analysis and day 35 for antibody assays (Figure 3.2 A). Immunization led to no weight loss regardless of vaccination regimen (Figure 3.2 B). All mice showed a slight drop in weight the day after immunization likely from handling stress. All mice recovered by 2 days post immunization (Figure 3.2 B).

Using an SFTSV Gn/Gc ectodomain enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), we then determined total IgG titers achieved by each vaccination strategy. In single dose vaccinated mice, the total IgG endpoint titers reached were identical in both RS and VS immunized mice (Figure 3.2 C). In sera from 21 days post immunization, mice primed with RS and VS continued to have comparable endpoint titers though these titers are approximately 2-fold higher than on day 14 suggesting continued antibody class switching (Figure 3.2 C). After boost, homologous RS+RS and heterologous VS+RS vaccinated mice had similar endpoint titers with geometric means of approximately 129,000 and 100,000 respectively (Figure 3.2 C). Homologous VS+VS immunized mice had the lowest titers at approximately 32,000 (Figure 3.2 C). Fold changes in total IgG titers upon boost had a similar 15- and 14-fold titer increase upon

boost between RS+RS and VS+RS groups respectively. Mice immunized with the VS+VS regimen had a 3-fold increase in total IgG titers upon boost.

We next sought to characterize the neutralization ability of generated antibodies. At 14 days post vaccination all single dose vaccinated mice had sero-converted, the geometric mean titers reached were 500 and 170 for RS and VS respectively (Figure 3.2 D). Prime-boost vaccination regimens induced powerful neutralizing antibody titers from all groups. At 21 days post vaccination serum titers were slightly increased from what was observed at day 14 in singly vaccinated mice (Figure 3.2 D). Upon boost all mice had increased neutralizing antibody titers (Figure 3.2 D). Homologous RS+RS immunized mice had higher titers than all other groups with a mean neutralizing titer of 9,000, though this was not significantly higher than heterologous VS+RS immunized mice with a mean titer of 7,240 (Figure 3.2 D). Homologous VS+VS vaccinated mice had the lowest mean neutralizing titers (1,280) and the greatest variability in neutralizing titers (Figure 3.2 D). Interestingly, heterologous VS+RS immunization had a 31-fold increase in neutralizing titers upon boost, higher than the 23 and 11-fold increases seen in RS+RS and VS+VS regimens respectively. These data suggest that homologous mRNA and heterologous immunizations yield the best neutralizing responses though all conditions tested, both as a single dose and as a prime-boost, induce neutralizing antibody levels theorized to be sufficient for protection. Analysis of FRNT₅₀ titers relative to total IgG titers indicate a positive correlation (Figure 3.2 E). Taken together, these data show that all vaccination strategies elicit strong antibody responses. As expected, homologous RS+RS had the highest responses, however, heterologous boost induced the greatest increase in neutralizing antibody titers.

3.3.3 Homologous mRNA and heterologous immunizations stimulate powerful type I CD4+ and CD8+ responses

To assess differences in T-cell responses from each vaccination strategy, mouse spleens were harvested at 7 days post single dose vaccination or 7 days post boost (day 21 from experiment initiation). Spleenocytes were harvested and stimulated overnight with either a peptide pool covering SFTSV Gn or SFTSV Gc. Cells were then analyzed by flow cytometry for the type 1 cytokines interferon γ (IFN γ), tumor necrosis factor α (TNF α), or interleukin 2 (IL-2) as well as for degranulation markers CD107a and Granzyme B (GranzB). Flow data was analyzed flowing the gating strategy shown in figure 3.3 A. In single dose immunization, only RS vaccinated animals showed strong CD8+ T-cell activation with both the Gn and Gc peptide pools (Figure 3.3 B). Mice receiving a single dose of VS also showed increases in type 1 cytokines above negative controls RL and VE, though cytokine positivity was seen only in cells stimulated with the Gc peptide pool (Figure 3.3 B). Stimulated CD8+ cells in both RS and VS mice showed a large increase in INF γ + cells and modest increases in all other cytokines including polyfunctional cells positive for multiple cytokines (Figure 3.3 B).

In CD4+ T-cells, single dose immunization only induced a detectable response in animals immunized with RS (Figure 3.3 D). CD4+ T-cell activation in RS immunized mice occurred with both the Gn and Gc peptide pools, interestingly, in higher activation of CD4+ T-cells occurred with the Gn peptide pool as opposed to CD8+ T-cells which were more potently activated by the Gc pool. (Figure 3.3 B, D). Activated CD4+ T-cells showed increases in all cytokines tested and particularly large increases in IFN γ and IL-2 (Figure 3.3 D). Taken together this data indicates that in single dose immunizations, RS induces much more potent cellular immune responses than VS.



Figure 3.3 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS induce potent cellular responses (A) General gating strategy used for analysis of flow cytometry data from spleenocytes stimulated overnight with SFTSV Gn or Gc peptide pools 7 days after immunization. Cytokine profiling of CD8+ T-cells in single dose immunized animals (B) and prime-boost immunized animals (C). Throughout figure, Gn peptide pool stimulated cells are shown on the left and Gc peptide pool stimulated cells are shown on the right. CD4+ T-cell cytokine profiling in single dose immunized animals (D) and prime-boost immunized animals (E). Analysis of degranulation in CD8+ T-cells by CD107a and Granzyme B are shown in single dose immunized animals (F) and prime-boost immunized animals (G). Each panel includes data from 5-6 mice per group with equally split sexes. Ordinary one-way ANOVAs with tukeys multiple comparisons test was used in panels B-G (p= *<0.0332, **<0.0021, ***<0.0002, ****<0.0001). In panels B-E analysis was run on total cytokine positive cell percentage, not based on specific cytokine profiles.

In prime-boost studies, CD8+ T-cell responses in RS+RS and VS+RS were relatively comparable and were far superior to a homologous VS+VS strategy. Animals immunized with RS+RS and VS+RS both had potent CD8+ immune responses when stimulated with Gn and Gc peptide pools (Figure 3.3 C). Responses to Gn peptides were of smaller magnitude to Gc stimulation consistent with observations of single dose immunized mice. Interestingly, RS+RS and VS+RS achieved a similar response with stimulation by the Gc peptide pool, with approximately 42% of cells being cytokine positive; In contrast, VS+RS mice had a significantly lower response compared to RS+RS when stimulated with the Gn peptide pool (Figure 3.3 C). As seen in mice receiving a single vaccine dose, cytokine positivity is primarily attributed to the robust production of IFN γ and a large population that is IFN γ +TNF α +IL2- (Figure 3.3 C). Animals receiving a homologous VS+VS immunization regimen did not achieve a detectable CD8+ T-cell response with Gn peptide stimulation and only achieved a mild response over negative controls when stimulated with Gc peptides (Figure 3.3 C).

In contrast to CD8+ T-cells, cytokine profiling of CD4+ T-cells revealed a stronger response in heterologous VS+RS immunization than homologous RS+RS treated mice, though this was not statistically significant (Figure 3.3 E). CD4+ responses were detected with both Gn and Gc peptide pools and were stronger in cells stimulated with Gn peptides, consistent with single dose immunization data (Figure 3.3 D, E). Higher induction of CD4+ T-cells in heterologous immunized mice is surprising due to no detection of CD4+ T-cell responses with either peptide pool in mice receiving a single dose VS immunization (Figure 3.3 D, E). Perhaps differing vaccination strategies lead to different tissue homing for activated T-cells explaining the weak T-cell responses seen in VS and VS+VS immunized mice. CD4+ responses had a cytokine profile featuring high levels of both IFNγ and IL-2 as well as a large population of triple positive cells producing

IFN γ , TNF α , and IL-2 (Figure 3.3 E). All trends shown here are consistent with analysis of spleenocytes 14 days post immunization (Figure 3.S1) and when cells are stimulated for only 6 hours (data not shown), though magnitudes of responses are decreased.

To determine CD8+ T-cell functionality we also assessed positivity to the cytotoxic marker Granzyme B (GranzB) and the degranulation marker CD107a. In animals receiving a single dose immunization only RS induced CD107a+GranzB+ cells when stimulated with both the Gn and Gc peptide pool (Figure 3.3 F). Animals receiving the VS vaccine appeared to have a very slight but statistically insignificant increase in CD107a+GranzB+ CD8+ T-cells stimulated with the Gc peptide pool (Figure 3.3 F). In Animals receiving a boost, RS+RS and VS+RS mice induced equivalent levels of CD107a+GranzB+ CD8+ T-cells when stimulated with Gn peptides (Figure 3.3 G). When stimulated with Gc peptides, VS+RS induced significantly higher levels of CD107a+GranzB+ CD8+ T-cells than the homologous RS+RS strategy (Figure 3.3 G). For mice immunized with VS+VS no significant induction of CD107a+GranzB+ CD8+ T-cells than the homologous RS+RS strategy (Figure 3.3 G). Taken together the T-cell analysis presented here suggests that in single dose immunizations, RS is superior. However, when a boost is given heterologous VS+RS vaccination generally performs equivalently or better than homologous RS+RS.

3.3.4 Antibody isotype analysis indicate mRNA induces some type 2 associated immunity despite lack of type 2 cytokines in stimulated T-cells

To further determine whether immunization strategies skewed responses to type 1 of type 2 immune profiles, we performed SFTSV Gn/Gc ELISAs to quantify IgG1 vs IgG2c levels. In C57BL/6 mice IgG2c is associated with a type 1 immune response with IFN γ driving class switching to IgG2c^{81,194}. In contrast, IgG1 is associated with a type 2 immune response and isotype switch to IgG1 is driven by IL-4^{81,194}. In single dose
immunizations, VS drives primarily an IgG2c response with only low levels of IgG1 as expected from a virus known to drive a type 1 response (Figure 3.2 F). Surprisingly, immunization with RS led to approximately equal levels of IgG1 and IgG2c indicating a balanced type 1 and type 2 response (Figure 3.2 F). Despite a mixed response RS and VS immunized animals had similar titers of IgG2c (Figure 3.2 F). Upon boost, VS+VS immunized animals had increased levels of both IgG1 and IgG2c though IgG2c titers remained approximately 2 logs higher than IgG1 (Figure 3.2 F). Mice receiving the RS+RS regimen had a slight boost to IgG1 though isotype IgG2c showed the biggest boost in titer (Figure 3.2 F). Despite this small boost in IgG1 RS+RS mice had the highest mean IgG1 titer of any group by approximately 1 log (Figure 3.2 F). Finally, heterologous VS+RS vaccination had both IgG1 and IgG2c responses boosted by approximately 1.5 logs. Heterologous VS+RS immunization had an intermediate polarization compared to homologous RS+RS and VS+VS regimens (Figure 3.2 F).

To further determine immune polarization to type 1 or type 2 responses we assessed peptide stimulated T-cells for the presence of the type 2 associated cytokines IL-4 and IL-5 at 7 days post immunization. Confusingly, despite the presence of the IL-4 driven IgG1 antibody isotype in some vaccination groups no IL-4+ CD4+ T-cells were detected in any vaccination regimen (Figure 3.4 B, C). Similarly, another type 2 cytokine IL-5 was not detected in any immunization regimen (Figure 3.4 D, E). Type 2 cytokines continued to not be detected when spleenocytes were analyzed 14 days post immunization (Figure 3.S2). Perhaps different tissues, such as the lymph nodes, may contain IL-4+ CD4+ T-cells or timing for the detection of these cytokines is crucial in our vaccination strategies.





3.3.5 Prime-boost vaccination regimens are fully protective from SFTSV challenge

After characterizing the immune responses elicited by our various vaccination strategies, we next sought to determine whether these vaccines would provide protection from challenge with a lethal dose of SFTSV. Date of challenge was set as day 0, initial immunization occurred on days -35 for animals receiving two vaccine doses, and day -14 for animals receiving a single dose as well as animals receiving a boost. On day -1 and day 2 mice had α -IFNAR antibodies administered IP.

Animals receiving a single dose of eithers RS or VS lost no weight upon challenge and were protected by immunization (Figure 3.5 A, B). A single mouse receiving VS immunization succumbed on day 1 post challenge as a result of injury during the virus challenge (Figure 3.5 B). Negative control immunized mice receiving RL or VE had severe weight loss after challenge and high lethality in RL immunized mice (Figure 3.5 A, B). Surprisingly, VE immunized mice appeared to be protected from lethal challenge with 90% of mice surviving despite severe weight loss (Figure 3.5 A, B). In prime-boost regimens, mice immunized with RS+RS, VS+RS, and VS+VS all were fully protected from lethal challenge and exhibited no weight loss (Figure 3.5 A, B). As with single dose immunized mice, RL+RL and VE+RL mice had severe weight loss and RL+RL mice succumbed by day 6 post-challenge with a 30% survival rate (Figure 3.5 A, B). Animals receiving a VE prime again appeared to be partially protected with an 80% survival rate (Figure 3.5 A, B). Decreased lethality relative to what was seen in Figure 3.1 is hypothesized to be partially attributed to mice being older and more acclimated to the animal facilities, due to a 35 day immunization protocol, as well as long lasting antiviral responses elicited by initial VE immunization.

Two days prior to SFTSV challenge, sera were taken from immunized mice for neutralizing antibody analysis. As previously reported, both single dose and prime-boost



titers in liver, spleen, and serum were determined in a subset of mice sacrificed at 4 days post SFTSV challenge. immunized according to previously described vaccination regimens. Mice received α -IFNAR antibody blockades was collected from all animals 2 days prior to challenge for neutralizing antibody titer determination. (D) SFTSV dose. Weight loss (A) and survival (B) are shown for both single dose and prime-boosted animals. (C) Serum Ordinary one-way ANOVAs with tukeys multiple comparisons test was used in panels C and D (p= *<0.0332, on day -1 and 2 post challenge with challenge (day 0) occurring 14 days after the last received immunization Figure 3.5 All immunization conditions are protective from lethal SFTSV challenge C57/Bl6 mice were **<0.0021, ***<0.0002, ****<0.0001).

immunized animals had high titers of neutralizing antibodies (Figure 3.5 C). In VS immunization group, two animals failed to sero-convert, yet both of these animals survived lethal challenge implying non-neutralizing antibodies or cellular responses mediated protection from lethal challenge (Figure 3.5 C).

Lethal infections of SFTSV in humans are characterized by high viremia. To determine the ability of our vaccine candidates to control SFTSV infection, 4 mice from each immunization group were sacrificed at 4 days post challenge to determine viral titers in the liver, spleen, and serum. In single dose immunized animals both RS and VS immunization decreased tissue SFTSV titers equivalently (Figure 3.5 D). Similarly, all three prime-boost regimens, RS+RS, VS+RS, and VS+VS, induced significant decreases in SFTSV titers in the liver and spleen (Figure 3.5 D). Significant decreases in titers in the serum were only observed in RS+RS and VS+VS immunized mice, though VS+RS immunization did decrease serum titers relative to RL+RL (Figure 3.5 D). Immunization with VE also led to significant decreases in SFTSV titers in liver and spleen when given in single dose (Figure 3.5 D). In prime-boost studies, VE+RL mice also had decreased SFTSV titers though these decreases were not significant and were of lower magnitude than in single dose animals (Figure 3.5 D).

3.3.6 High levels of antibody are maintained for months after vaccination

An important factor in considering the efficacy of vaccines is the longevity of the immune response. To determine whether our vaccine regimens could produce a long-lived immune response, animals were immunized as described in figure 2A and maintained with sera collections occurring approximately every one to two months. Serum analysis by FRNT₅₀ and ELISA showed that immunized mice had similar titers as previously described at days 21 and 35 post immunization (Figure 3.2 C, 3.6 A, B). Over time, animals receiving a single dose VS immunization had the lowest titers of all groups



Figure 3.6 All immunization conditions elicit long lived antibody responses (A) Analysis of neutralizing antibodies by FRNT₅₀ in immunized mice over extended period. (B) Total IgG titers as determined by ELISA in immunized mice. Each panel represents data from 5-6 mice per group with equal sex distribution. Limit of detection (LoD) of 20 and 50 for FRNT₅₀s and ELISAs respectively are represented by a dashed line. which stabilized at approximately 100 and 2500 for FRNT₅₀ and total IgG respectively (Figure 3.6 A, B). Animals receiving a single dose RS immunization and the prime-boost VS+VS regimen reached and maintained identical titers for both neutralizing antibodies and total IgG (Figure 3.6 A, B). For animals receiving the RS+RS or the heterologous VS+RS immunization regimens, titers peaked at day 35 at similar levels but VS+RS animals had decreasing neutralizing titers while RS+RS animals maintained neutralizing antibody titers of approximately 6,000 for 200 days before seeing decreasing titers (Figure 3.6 A). For VS+RS receiving animals neutralizing titers began to plateau at approximately 180 days post initial vaccination with neutralizing titers and a slight downward trend over time despite VS+RS having a more substantial decrease in neutralizing titers over the same period (Figure 3.6 A, B). Taken together, all vaccines induce long lived antibody responses that plateau in the long term with neutralizing antibody titers that are likely protective.

3.4 – Discussion

SFTSV is a recently emerged pathogen with a high case fatality ratio^{14,15}. The expanding range of the vector responsible for transmitting SFTSV and the ability of the virus to spread in nosocomial and veterinary settings highlights the need for development of targeted vaccines and therapeutics to this pathogen^{28,32,34,158}. In light of these factors, several health organizations including the NIAID and WHO have listed SFTSV as a priority pathogen for the development of therapeutics^{35,36}. This has led to several vaccine platforms such as protein subunit, DNA, and recombinant virus platforms to be explored^{45,112,144,146,149,190}. Here we added the mRNA platform as a potential candidate for an SFTSV vaccine. Previous work has shown that mRNA is able to drive high antibody titers and strong T-cell activity¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶. Furthermore, we characterize

and compare both rVSV and mRNA immunizations in single dose and prime-boost regimens including a heterologous model with an rVSV prime and mRNA boost (the reverse regimen was not considered due to the likelihood of mRNA induced antibodies neutralizing the rVSV vaccine boost). Heterologous vaccination has recently come to the forefront of vaccine research due to the approval for heterologous "mix-and-match" use of the SARS-CoV-2 vaccines around the world¹⁹². This vaccine regimen offers the potential to combine the strongest characteristics of each vaccine platform used to impart the strongest possible immune response. Our data suggest that heterologous immunization against SFTSV induces potent immune responses.

Most vaccine studies have thus far used *Ifnar^{/-}* mice as a challenge model to evaluate vaccine efficacv^{45,112,144,146,149,190}. While these models have been sufficient and yielded data suggestive of vaccine efficacy, the model is not suitable for all studies due to its immunocompromised status. IFN signaling is essential for innate immune functions and for the development of adaptive immune responses. Following a previous study that indicated an antibody blockade against IFNAR made wild-type mice susceptible to lethal SFTSV infection, we were able to utilize a novel model wherein we immunized immunocompetent mice for characterization of immune responses⁵⁴. Utilizing an α -IFNAR blockade, these mice could then be made susceptible to SFTSV infection for vaccine efficacy studies. Currently the only other immunocompetent animals available that exhibit lethal disease upon challenge with SFTSV are cats and ferrets^{48,50}. While both animal models are superior to the $a\alpha$ -IFNAR blockade in the sense of not needing any immunomodulation, they have many draw backs. Both cats and ferrets are more expensive to purchase and maintain, and both animals have increased likelihoods of biting or scratching the researcher potentially leading to a transmission event in the absence of a tick as previously described^{31,34}. Ferrets only manifest lethal disease when

aged >4 years, the reason for this age dependence remains unknown though it is likely due to the natural weakening of immune responses as animals age⁴⁸. Finally, there is a lack of available reagents and tools for the analysis of immune responses in both cats and ferrets, making detailed immunological phenotyping as presented in this work not possible.

Currently developed and tested vaccines demonstrate inferior immune responses than what was measured in our homologous mRNA and heterologous rVSV+mRNA strategies. Current vaccine research against SFTSV includes a DNA vaccine encoding the SFTSV Gn and Gc ectodomains along with an N-NSs fusion protein⁴⁵. In a threedose immunization of *Ifnar^{/-}* mice, this vaccine imparted 40% protection from lethal challenge⁴⁵. When the authors added IL-12 to the vaccine plasmid, to aid in cellular responses, full protection was observed⁴⁵. Neither vaccination condition induced any detectable neutralizing antibodies⁴⁵. This group then analyzed responses to recombinant protein vaccines by immunizing mice with Gn or Gc fusions to an Fc region with the adjuvant Alum⁴⁵. These immunizations led to a neutralizing antibody response with titers ranging from 1:100 to 1:1000, interestingly this resulted in only 50% or 0% protection in mice immunized with Gn or Gc respectively⁴⁵. Another strategy used was a vaccinia virus platform to deliver SFTSV Gn/Gc¹⁴⁶. In this vaccine, high levels of total IgG are reached but neutralization is severely lacking with vaccinated mouse sera unable to neutralize 50% of virus at a 1:40 dilution¹⁴⁶. In contrast to these and other studies, we achieve higher total IgG and neutralizing titers. Additionally, we demonstrate that these titers are maintained for almost a year after initial immunization. We and others have previously shown, by passive transfer studies, that antibodies are a correlate of protection against SFTSV^{112,144,146,190}. The high levels of antibodies maintained over time

thus suggest these vaccination regimens are likely to provide long lived immunity from SFTSV infection.

T-cell responses and their contributions to protection from SFTSV remain largely unexplored. One study using vaccinia virus immunizations has shown that CD8+ T-cell depletion does not impact survival upon lethal challenge¹⁴⁶. This data, however, is confounding as depletion was done in mice that were immunized and thus had SFTSV directed antibody responses¹⁴⁶. Despite weak neutralizing titers, total IgG titers were high and could mediate protection through opsonization, complement activation, and natural killer cell mediated antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity¹⁴⁶. Indeed, CD8+ cell depletion did not affect survival in mice immunized with a vaccinia strain encoding SFTSV Gn/Gc but did have an impact in mice receiving just SFTSV N as an antigen¹⁴⁶. Since antibodies cannot bind to N which is only found within cells or virions, this suggests that excluding antibody mediated protection T-cells do in fact contribute to protection¹⁴⁶. Other groups using DNA vaccine platforms have also demonstrated that animals are protected when immunized with internal SFTSV proteins which do not induce neutralizing antibodies¹⁴⁴. These studies suggest that T-cells may be important in the control and clearance of SFTSV upon infection. The cellular responses induced by other SFTSV vaccines are poorly characterized. Here we showed that mRNA vaccination as a single dose or in a prime-boost models potently induces polyfunctional CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells. CD8+ responses in heterologous vaccinated animals is comparable to homologous mRNA immunization though heterologous vaccinated animals exhibit higher degranulation of Granzyme B in cells stimulated with the SFTSV Gc peptide pool. Interestingly heterologous immunization consistently activates more CD4+ T-cells than homologous mRNA vaccination, though these differences are not statistically significant. Surprisingly, immunization with rVSV-SFTSV in a single dose or

prime-boost regimen induced weak or no T-cell responses. This is perhaps due to VSV being considerably attenuated by switching the cognate glycoprotein to SFTSV Gn/Gc which is not abundant on the cell surface where VSV buds^{112,190,195}. This attenuation likely results in weak viral replication which is further controlled by VSV's sensitivity to IFNs. Taken together, heterologous and homologous mRNA immunizations displayed the strongest T-cell responses which other studies suggest may be an important factor in protection from SFTSV infections.

In designing vaccines, it is important to consider the polarization of immune responses towards a type 1 or 2 response⁸⁵. Previous studies have shown that improper immune polarization may have deleterious impacts on the immunized patient⁹⁰. This is best demonstrated in respiratory syncytial virus studies that determined the tested vaccines drove a type 2 response resulting in vaccine associated enhancement of disease⁹⁰. Viral diseases and other intracellular pathogens are best controlled by type 1 responses characterized by cytokines such as type I IFNs, IFNy, TNF α , and IL-2 along with antibody isotypes IgG2a/c (depending on mouse strain)⁸⁵. In contrast, type 2 responses are suited for large extracellular pathogens and produce IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 along with antibody isotypes IgE and IgG1⁸⁵. In antibody analysis of type 1 and 2 responses we found that mRNA immunization led to a mixed polarization with approximately equal titers of IgG1 and IgG2c (Figure 3.2 F). Upon boost with mRNA these animals saw increased titers in both isotypes. In contrast, immunization with the rVSV platform led to a primarily IgG2c response. Heterologous immunization was a mixed phenotype with high levels of IgG2c and intermediate IgG1 titers. Interestingly, cellular analysis indicated a strong type 1 phenotype in mRNA immunized animals (for single and prime-boost regimens) and heterologous immunized mice with no IL-4 and IL-5 being detected. Perhaps this can be explained by mRNA vaccines being potent

activators of T follicular helper cells, which have been previously shown to be driven to a mixed polarization despite strong type 1 polarization in other CD4+ T-cells^{124,127}. Further characterization of T-cell subsets and lymphoid T-cells is necessary to ascertain the reasons for a mixed polarization in antibody analysis versus a strong type 1 skewing in analyzed T-cells.

Despite differences in immune profiling, all tested conditions were protective upon lethal challenge. Interestingly our negative control mice immunized with VE and VE+RL were also partially protected from lethal challenge with SFTSV. This is presumably from activation and long-lasting effects of interferon stimulated genes upon immunization with VE. Similar observations of long-lasting non-specific vaccine responses have been reported after vaccination with the live attenuated polio virus vaccine and the live attenuated pertussis vaccine¹⁹⁶⁻¹⁹⁸. Other studies have implied that long-lasting non-specific immunity may be due to long-lived IFN responses, likely due to upregulation of IFN stimulated genes, inhibiting subsequent infection¹⁹⁹. Infections with VSV induce strong IFN responses which are known to activate pathways that make an animal refractory to subsequent infection. This has previously not been described in other studies using similar rVSV negative controls, likely due to the use of Ifnar^{-/-} mice which cannot initiate the innate immune responses our wild type mice can. Despite this protection in a negative control, we can still conclude that our VS immunizations induce specific protective responses not due to innate immunity as no weight loss was seen in VS or VS+VS immunized animals, in contrast VE and VE+RL immunized animals did survive challenge but suffered severe weight loss. Additionally, a temporal effect can be observed in tissue SFTSV titers in animals receiving a single dose VE immunization as opposed to VE+RL animals. Challenge of VE immunized animals occurred 14 days post immunization, in these animals SFTSV tissue titer was similar to titers in mice receiving

RS or VS immunizations. In prime-boost VE+RL animals, challenge occurred 35 days after the last RE dose was delivered. In these animals SFTSV tissue titers were decreased relative to our RL+RL negative control but not as low as animals receiving RS+RS, VS+RS, or VS+VS. This is consistent with the hypothesis of IFN mediated protection as we would expect waning protection over time.

Overall, the data presented highlight the potential for both mRNA and rVSV based vaccines against SFTSV. In homologous immunization, the mRNA platform greatly outperforms rVSV in immunologic stimulation. However, immune characterization cannot currently be directly correlated to protection. Due to this, extensive work is required to determine whether the differences seen in immunologic responses will translate to clinical differences. Additionally, other considerations must be considered when choosing a vaccine platform. An mRNA platform suffers from necessitating a cold chain which is difficult to maintain in isolated rural areas. Meanwhile, the rVSV-platform is well proven in isolated rural areas as demonstrated by the effective rollout of the rVSV based EBOV vaccine⁹⁷. As has been suggested by other studies, heterologous immunization induces a somewhat superior or equivalent cellular response to homologous mRNA vaccination, and a somewhat weaker or equivalent humoral response^{140-142,192}. These data are supported by human and animal studies of SARS-CoV-2^{140-142,192}. Approval of vaccines designed to be delivered in heterologous strategies faces approval hurdles due to the need to demonstrate safety for two platforms. However, as we have recently seen in the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic, the use of heterologous immunizations has great potential for use in emergency situations where availability of different vaccine platforms may be lacking. Currently there are no approved SFTSV vaccines, in this study we demonstrate two viable platforms for potential development and three highly efficacious prime-boost regimens.

3.5 – Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (R21AI142638,

R01AI152236, T32AI007324, and T32AI055400). NP is supported by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) grants R01-AI146101-01 and R01-AI153064-01.

3.6 – Author Contributions

P.B., B.B.G., N.P., S.E.H. conceived and supervised the study. T.B.M., J.B.W., K.A.L., G.L.R., K.M.B., P.H., J.T.O. performed the experiments. N.P. and D.W. designed and made antigen-encoded mRNAs. Y.K.T. formulated mRNA to LNPs. P.B., B.B.G., T.B.M., J.B.W. analyzed the data. T.B.M., J.B.W. wrote the manuscript.

3.7 – Conflict of interest

N.P. and D.W. are named on a patent describing the use of modified mRNA in lipid nanoparticles as a vaccine platform. They have disclosed those interests fully to the University of Pennsylvania, and have in place an approved plan for managing any potential conflicts arising from licensing of these patents. XY are employees of Acuitas Therapeutics.

3.8 – Materials and Methods

3.8.1 Ethics Statement

All animals were treated ethically complying with guidelines set by the USDA and Utah State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee and the University of Pennsylvania Laboratory Animal Resources guidelines. Animals were humanely euthanized once approved endpoints were reached.

3.8.2 Cells, Viruses, and Mice

ATCC verified and mycoplasma free 293T and Vero E6 cells were maintained in DMEM containing 10% cosmic calf fortified serum (HyClone, #SH30087.03), 2mM L-

glutamine (Corning, #25-005-Cl), and 1mM Sodium Pyruvate (Gibco, #11360-070). Cells were passaged every 2-3 days and maintained for no more than 20 passages.

Recombinant viruses encoding heterologous viral glycoproteins in genomic position 4 (rVSV-SFTSV and rVSV-EBOV) were launched and described previously. rVSV-SFTSV and rVSV-EBOV also contain an additional open reading frame in position five encoding mCherry. All recombinant viruses were grown in Vero E6 cells by infecting a confluent T-175 flask at an MOI of 0.3-0.5. Virus was collected at 48-72 hours post infection with the addition of Hepes buffer pH7.4 to 25mM. Media was clarified by centrifuging at 6000 times gravity for 5 minutes at 4 °C twice. Virus was then frozen at - 80 °C until used for ultracentrifugation. Virus was concentrated by ultracentrifuging virus-containing media through a 20% sucrose gradient at 115,500 times gravity for 2 hours at 4 °C using SW-32 tubes in a Beckman Coulter Optima XPN-80 ultracentrifuge. After removal of the sucrose and media, pelleted virus was placed on ice with 500µl hepes buffered saline overnight. The next day virus pellets were resuspended and frozen at -80 °C. Viral titer was determined by plaque assays on Vero E6 cells with a 1.25% Avicel RC-591 NF (DuPont, #RC591-NFBA500) overlay and then stained with 1% crystal violet.

SFTSV, strain HB29, was obtained from Dr. Robert Tesh (WRCEVA; World reference Center for Emerging Viruses and Arboviruses at the University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX). The virus stock (5.6 x 10^6 PFU/ml; 1 passage in Vero E6 cells) used was from a clarified cell culture lysate preparation. Virus stock was diluted in sterile minimal essential medium (MEM) and inoculated by intraperitoneal injection of 0.2 ml containing approximately 26, 260, 2,600, 26,000 CCID₅₀ for LD₅₀ studies, and 26,000 CCID₅₀ in challenge studies. For challenge experiments, animals were given 1 mg of α -IFNAR1 monoclonal antibody clone MAR1-5A3 (Leinco Technologies, St. Louis,

MO, #I-1188) by intraperitoneal injection on days -1 and 0.5 mg of α -IFNAR1 monoclonal antibody on day 2 post challenge.

C57BL/6 mice were ordered from Jackson Labs (Bar Harbor, ME). All mouse experiments were done using equal numbers of male and female mice. All mice were given approximately 7 days to acclimate to their cages and vivarium prior to each experiment. Mice were weighed immediately prior to all vaccination and infection procedures. Mice receiving intradermal injections at the University of Pennsylvania were anesthetized using 1% isoflurane in air delivered by vaporizer (Northern Vaporisers, Skipton, UK) to the anesthesia chamber. Mice at Utah State University were anesthetized for intradermal injections using a bell jar and open-drop method. Injection sites were first prepared by cleaning with a 70% ethanol pad. Vaccination experiments without authentic SFTSV challenge were performed under animal biosafety level (ABSL) 2 conditions at the University of Pennsylvania. All other vaccination experiments that included authentic SFTSV challenge were performed in ABSL3 conditions at Utah State University.

3.8.3 Production of mRNA-LNP Vaccines

The codon-optimized Gn/Gc glycoprotein gene from SFTSV and firefly luciferase were synthesized (Genscript) and cloned into an mRNA production plasmid. A T7-driven in vitro transcription reaction (Megascript, Ambion) using linearized plasmid template was performed to generate mRNA with 101 nucleotide long poly(A) tail. Onemethylpseudouridine (m1 Ψ)-5'-triphosphate (TriLink) instead of UTP was used to generate modified nucleoside-containing mRNA. RNAs were capped using the m7G capping kit with 2'-O-methyltransferase (ScriptCap, CellScript) to obtain cap1 as described²⁰⁰. Cellulose-based purification of mRNAs was performed as described²⁰¹. All mRNAs were then tested on an agarose gel before storing at -20°C. The cellulosepurified m1 Ψ -containing mRNAs were encapsulated in LNPs using a self-assembly process as previously described wherein an ethanolic lipid mixture of ionizable cationic lipid, phosphatidylcholine, cholesterol and polyethylene glycol-lipid was rapidly mixed with an aqueous solution containing mRNA at acidic pH²⁰². The RNA-loaded particles were characterized and subsequently stored at -80°C at a concentration of 1 mg/ml. *3.8.4 Enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)*

Production of SFTSV Gn and Gc ectodomains: The SFTSV Gn ectodomain (amino acids 20-452) and Gc ectodomain (amino acids 562-996) were cloned from pCAG-SFTSV Gn/Gc and put into the pHLsec expression vector which adds a secretion signal and c-terminal His tag to inserted sequence. FreeStyle 293-F cells grown in FreeStyle 293 Expression Media (Gibco, #12338018) were co-transfected using 293Fectin (Gibco, #12347019) with pHLSec-SFTSV Gn and pHLSec-SFTSV Gc plasmids encoding ectodomains of SFTSV Gn or Gc. Supernatants were collected 4 days post-transfection and purified by nickel-nitrilotriacetic acid resin (Qiagen, #30210) according to the manufacturers protocol. Eluted protein was concentrated and buffer exchanged into PBS using an Amicon Ultra-15 Centrifugal Filter with a 30 kDa MWCO (Millipore, #UFC903024) and frozen at -80°C.

ELISA: Immulon 2HB (Thermo Scientific, #3455) plates were coated with 0.75µg/ml of purified SFTSV Gn/Gc ectodomains in sodium carbonate at 4°C overnight. The next day ELISA plates were washed with phosphate buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween-20 (PBS-T) and blocked for an hour at room temperature with 3% milk in PBS-T. Mouse sera was diluted in 1% milk in PBS-T and serialy diluted 2-fold with an initial dilution of 1:50, 1:800, or 1:3200. Plates were incubated with diluted mouse sera for 2 hours at room temperature. Secondary HRP conjugated antibodies for total IgG (GE Healthcare, #NA931), IgG1 (Cell Signaling Technologies, #96714S), and IgG2c (Cell

Signaling Technologies, #56970S) were diluted in 1% PBS-T at 1:5000, 1:6000, or 1:4000 respectively and staining was done at room temperature for an hour. Prior to experiments IgG1 and IgG2c antibodies were normalized against known concentrations of their target antigens so comparisons between isotypes could be made. SureBlue TMB 1 component substrate (KPL, #52-00-01) was then added to plates and quenched after 5 minutes with 250mM HCI. Absorbance at 450nm was immediately read on a SpectraMax 190 microplate reader (Molecular Devices, San Jose, CA). Endpoints were determined as OD values twice as high as the background on a negative control run on each plate. Samples lacking absorbance at our lowest dilution of 1:50 were assigned a titer of 25 signifying titers below the limit of detection.

3.8.5 Immunizations

Vaccines were diluted to the desired concentrations with sterile PBS just prior to vaccination by IP injection for rVSV based vaccines and intradermal injections for mRNA vaccines. Viral vaccines were done with a 200µl inoculum and mRNA vaccines were done with a 50µl inoculum.

3.8.6 Blood collection

Mice were isofluorane anesthetized and blood was collected through the submandibular route using Goldenrod lancets 5mm (Medipoint, Mineola, NY). Blood was maintained on ice after collection. Serum was separated from blood by centrifugation at 8,000 RPM for 30 minutes at 4 °C in an Eppendorf 5424R centrifuge (Eppendorf, Enfield, CT). Serum was heat inactivated by incubating at 56 °C for 30 minutes. While running neutralization assays and ELISAs, serum was stored at 4 °C, for long term storage serum was frozen at -80 °C.

3.8.7 Pseudovirus neutralization assay

Production of VSV pseudotype with SFTSV Gn/Gc: 293T cells plated 24 hours previously at 2 X 10⁷ cells per T-175 flask were transfected using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, #11668-019) using manufacturers protocol. Briefly, tubes each containing 1.75ml optimem (Gibco, #31985-070) were made. In one tube 100ul of Lipofectamine 2000 reagent was added and gently mixed. In the other, 45ug of pCAG-SFTSV Gn/Gc expression plasmid was added, tubes were allowed to sit for 5 minutes at room temperature. Lipofectamine and DNA containing tubes of optimum were combined and gently mixed, after 20 minutes incubating at room temperature. Solution was added to flask of 293T cells, after 4 hours cells were fed with fresh media. Thirty hours after transfection, the SFTSV Gn/Gc expressing cells were infected for 2-4 hours with VSV-G pseudotyped VSV∆G-mNeon at an MOI of ~1-3 (Generated by deleting the cognate VSV-G and linking mNeon to the n-terminus of P. Virus was launched as previously described ⁴³). After infection, the cells were washed twice with FBS-free media to remove unbound virus. Media containing the VSVAG-mNeon SFTSV Gn/Gc pseudotypes was harvested 30 hours after infection and clarified by centrifugation twice at 6000g then aliquoted and stored at -80 °C until used for antibody neutralization analysis.

Antibody neutralization assay using VSVΔG-mNeon SFTSV Gn/Gc: Vero E6 cells were seeded in 100 µl at 2x10⁴ cells/well in a 96 well collagen coated plate. The next day, 2-fold serially diluted serum samples were mixed with VSVΔG-mNeon SFTSV Gn/Gc pseudotype virus (100-200 focus forming units/well) and incubated for 1hr at 37 °C. Also included in this mixture to neutralize any potential VSV-G carryover virus was 1E9F9, a mouse anti-VSV Indiana G, at a concentration of 600 ng/ml. The antibody-virus mixture was then used to replace the media on VeroE6 cells. 16 hours post infection, the cells were washed and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde before visualization on an S6 FluoroSpot Analyzer (CTL, Shaker Heights OH). Individual infected foci were enumerated and the values compared to control wells without serum. The focus reduction neutralization titer 50% (FRNT₅₀) was measured as the greatest serum dilution at which focus count was reduced by at least 50% relative to control cells that were infected with pseudotype virus in the absence of mouse serum. FRNT₅₀ titers for each sample were measured in two to three technical replicates performed on separate days. *3.8.8 Flow Cytometry*

Mouse spleens were harvested and placed in RPMI (Gibco, # 11875-085) with 10% FBS (Corning, #35-010-CV). Spleens were smashed between two slides to make single cells suspension. Cells were filtered through a 70um cell strainer (Biologix, Cat # 15-1070). ACK lysis buffer (Quality Biological, Cat # 118-156-101) was used to lyse red blood cells. Remaining cells were then resuspended in RPMI containing 10% FBS, glutamine (Corning, #25-005-Cl), and β -mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, #M7522). Peptide pools containing SFTSV Gn or SFTSV Gc peptides (GenScript, Piscataway, NJ) were added to cells at 1.5 ug/ml for an hour at 37 C in the presence of α -CD28 antibody (BD, #553295). Golgi plug (BD, #555029) and golgi stop (BD, #554724) were then added to cells and incubated overnight at 37 C. If staining for CD107a PE-Cy7 (BD, #560647), antibody was added along with golgi plug/golgi stop and stained overnight. Extracellular staining was then done in FACS buffer for 30 minutes at 4 C with L/D Aqua (Invitrogen, #L34957), α -CD8 Pacific Blue (Biolegend, #100725), and α -CD4 PerCP/Cy5.5 (Biolegend, #100434). Cells were fixed using BD fix/perm solution (Cat #554722) then stained intracellularly with α -IL-2 BV711(Biolegend, #503837), α -TNFa PE-Cy7(BD, #557644), α-IFNg AF-700(BD, Ca#557998), α-CD3 APC-Cy7 (BD, #557596), α -Granzyme B (BD, #560213). Cells were analyzed on a BD LSRII flow

cytometer with high-througput system using FACSDIVA software (BD Biosciences). Flow data was then analyzed and prepared for presentation with FloJo software (FloJo LLC). 3.8.9 Serum and Tissue Virus Titers

Virus titers were assayed using an infectious cell culture assay as previously described¹⁸⁷. Briefly, a specific volume of tissue homogenate or serum was serially diluted and added to quadruplicate wells of Vero E6 (African green monkey kidney) cell monolayers in 96-well microtiter plates. The viral cytopathic effect (CPE) was determined 10 days after plating and the 50% endpoints were calculated as described¹⁸⁸. The assay lower limits of detection were 1.67 log₁₀ CCID₅₀/ml serum and 2.27 log₁₀ CCID₅₀/g tissue. *3.8.10 Statistical and Data Analysis*

All serological assays were analyzed with two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with tukey's multiple comparisons test. T-cell assays were analyzed with ordinary oneway ANOVAs with tukey's multiple comparisons test. All statistical evaluations were completed on Prism 9 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA).



Figure 3.S1 Single dose RS and prime-boost regimens RS+RS and VS+RS continue having strong cellular responses 14 days after immunization Gating strategies like those used in Figure 3.3 were used for analysis of flow cytometry data from spleenocytes stimulated overnight with SFTSV Gn or Gc peptide pools 14 days after immunization. Cytokine profiling of CD8+ T-cells in single dose immunized animals (A) and prime-boost immunized animals (B). Throughout figure, Gn peptide pool stimulated cells are shown on the left and Gc peptide pool stimulated cells are shown on the right. CD4+ T-cell cytokine profiling in single dose immunized animals (C) and prime-boost immunized animals (D). Analysis of degranulation in CD8+ T-cells by CD107a and Granzyme B are shown in single dose immunized animals (E) and prime-boost immunized animals (F). Each panel includes data from 6 mice per group with equally split sexes. Ordinary one-way ANOVAs with tukeys multiple comparisons test was used in panels A-F (p= *<0.0332, **<0.0021, ***<0.0002, ****<0.0001). In panels A-D analysis was run on total cytokine positive cell percentage, not based on specific cytokine profiles.



Figure 3.S2 No immunization conditions are positive for the type 2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-5 at 14 days post immunization. Gating strategies like those used in Figure 3.4 were used for analysis of flow cytometry data from spleenocytes stimulated overnight with SFTSV Gn or Gc peptide pools 14 days after immunization. IL-4 cytokine profiling of CD4+ T-cells in single dose immunized animals (A) and prime-boost immunized animals (B). Throughout figure, Gn peptide pool stimulated cells are shown on the left and Gc peptide pool stimulated cells are shown on the right. CD4+ T-cell IL-5 cytokine profiling in single dose immunized animals (C) and prime-boost immunized animals (D). Each panel includes data from 5-6 mice per group with equally split sexes. Ordinary one-way ANOVAs with tukeys multiple comparisons test was used in panels A-D, no significant comparisons were found.

CHAPTER 4: Discussion

4.1 – Summary of findings

Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus (SFTSV) is an emerging bunyavirus with a high case fatality ratio, posing considerable risk of causing large, deadly outbreaks. Currently, no therapeutics or vaccines are approved for treatment or prevention of SFTSV infection. The goal of this dissertation was to explore recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus (rVSV) and mRNA vaccine platforms against SFTSV and to determine the safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of these exploratory vaccines in small animal models.

In chapter 2, we assessed an rVSV-SFTSV vaccine in a single dose model. A common concern with rVSV based vaccines is neuropathogenesis, which is commonly observed in wild type VSV and sometimes reported in rVSVs^{98,109,110}. To address this safety concern, we performed intracerebral injections into 4-week old wild type mice. None of the mice infected with rVSV-SFTSV developed any signs of neuropathy or succumbed to infection. To further demonstrate safety, we showed that immunization of the immunocompromised *lfnar*^{-/-} mouse strain was not lethal. This finding indicates that an rVSV-SFTSV vaccine may be safe in immunocompromised humans. Immunogenicity and challenge experiments showed that the rVSV-SFTSV vaccine induced high levels of neutralizing antibodies and was protective from lethal SFTSV challenge. Antibodies appear to be a correlate of protection from SFTSV infection as passive transfer of sera from immunized mice to naïve mice was protective upon lethal challenge with SFTSV. We then evaluated the ability of rVSV-SFTSV immunization to cross protect from lethal challenge with a mouse adapted strain of the closely related Heartland virus (HRTV). Despite a lack of detectable neutralizing antibodies, we found that rVSV-SFTSV

immunization induced partial protection from lethal HRTV challenge. Taken together, this work demonstrated the safety and efficacy of rVSV-SFTSV as a vaccine against SFTSV.

In chapter 3, we developed a novel mRNA based SFTSV vaccine and compared it to our previously described rVSV-SFTSV vaccine both in single dose, and prime-boost regimens. To assess the immunogenicity of our vaccines in an immunocompetent animal model, we first used an α-IFNAR antibody blockade to make wild-type mice susceptible to lethal SFTSV challenge. Once a working immunocompetent animal model was developed, we began assessing the immunogenicity of our vaccine platforms. In single dose immunizations we found that mRNA vaccines induced similar titers of total IgG, and higher levels of neutralizing antibodies against the SFTSV glycoproteins Gn/Gc than immunizations with rVSV-SFTSV. Interestingly, rVSV-SFTSV immunization induced only weak T-cell responses while mRNA robustly activated both CD8+ and CD4+ T-cells. Despite the weaker immune response observed in rVSV-SFTSV immunized animals relative to mRNA immunization, both groups were protected from lethal challenge with SFTSV, showing no weight loss upon challenge.

In prime-boost studies, trends were consistent with those observed in single dose immunizations. Animals receiving homologous mRNA vaccinations demonstrated higher total IgG and neutralizing antibody titers than homologous rVSV-SFTSV immunized animals. Similarly, homologous mRNA immunized animals had potent activation of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells while homologous rVSV-SFTSV receiving mice had mild cellular responses. In a lethal SFTSV challenge model, both prime-boost regimens were equally effective in protecting animals from death and preventing weight loss. Further analysis of immune polarization showed that cellular responses from mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV vaccines in both single dose and prime-boost models were skewed towards a type 1 cytokine profile with no detectable levels of type 2 cytokines. Interestingly, antibody

isotype analysis indicated that rVSV-SFTSV vaccines drove a strong type 1 response (with high titers of primarily IgG2c), while mRNA immunization drove a mixed type 1/2 response with high titers of IgG1 and IgG2c. When homologous immunizations were compared to a heterologous (rVSV-SFTSV prime, mRNA boost) strategy, we found that total IgG and neutralizing antibody titers were similar to homologous mRNA immunization. T-cell response analysis showed heterologous immunization had similar cytokine profile compared to homologous mRNA strategies. As with all other conditions, no type 2 cytokines were detected in heterologous immunized animals; though, the type 2 associated antibody isotype IgG1 was detected at intermediate levels between those seen with homologous mRNA and rVSV-SFTSV immunizations. Heterologous immunization was protective from lethal challenge with no weight loss in challenged mice. Ultimately, our data suggests that all tested vaccine platforms and strategies are safe and immunogenic.

4.2 – General discussion and future directions

4.2.1 rVSV-SFTSV vaccine

Our studies in chapter 2 and 3 demonstrate that rVSV-SFTSV is protective but does not induce cellular and humoral responses as robust as seen with mRNA immunization. This finding was surprising as rVSV based vaccines have frequently been shown to induce high levels of antibodies and good cellular responses^{102,106,107}. While good antibody responses were achieved, T-cell activity was limited in our studies. The cause of this limited activity is likely due to rVSV-SFTSV being overly attenuated. We and other groups have shown that while rVSV-SFTSV reaches similar titers to wild-type VSV, it lags about 36 hours behind wild-type VSV^{112,190}. The slower growth of rVSV-SFTSV relative to wild-type VSV is clearly seen when comparing the much smaller plaque sizes of rVSV-SFTSV relative to wild-type VSV^{112,190}. This slowed growth

combined with VSV's sensitivity to IFN likely result in the rapid control of rVSV-SFTSV in immunized animals preventing robust activation of T-cells. Several potential methods are available to address the over-attenuation of rVSV-SFTSV.

It is well described that VSV buds at the plasma membrane, with budding mediated by the matrix protein⁶. In contrast, SFTSV buds into the endoplasmic reticulum-Golgi intermediate compartment (ERGIC) and Golgi, with SFTSV Gn/Gc demonstrating strong Golgi localization signals^{6,195}. This mislocalization of the glycoprotein and the VSV proteins to different cellular locations is the likely cause of rVSV-SFTSV attenuation. Our vaccine strain rVSV-SFTSV likely relies on SFTSV Gn/Gc leaking from the Golgi to the plasma membrane, VSV components mislocalizing to the Golgi and exiting the cell similarly to SFTSV, or a combination of these. The localization signals maintaining SFTSV Gn/Gc in the ER/Golgi have not yet been fully mapped; However, preliminary data from our lab and others, suggest that a coat protein complex I (COPI) binding motif (RxxKxx) in the c-terminus of Gc may contribute to the observed ERGIC/Golgi localization¹⁹⁵. A single amino acid mutation (K-3A) to the COPI motif has been shown to increase Gn/Gc localization to the plasma membrane thereby allowing us to correct viral component mislocalization¹⁹⁵. Indeed, preliminary work from our lab shows that VSV pseudotype virus production with K-3A mutant Gn/Gc leads to much higher virus titers than wild type SFTSV Gn/Gc. Future work is needed to characterize whether an rVSV-SFTSV K-3A mutant would induce superior immunogenicity when used as a vaccine.

An alternative solution to solve attenuation of rVSV-SFTSV is the manipulation of the VSV genome. Wild type VSV has its genome organized from the 3' end with the nucleoprotein (N) encoded first, followed by the phosphoprotein (P), the matrix protein (M), the glycoprotein (G), and finally the large RdRP (L). This organization is important

as the RdRp transcribes mRNAs sequentially from the 3' end with a probability of dislodging from the template strand after each mRNA is produced^{6,203}. This leads to a higher quantity of N mRNA being produced than P, and more P than M and so on²⁰⁴. Altering the gene order can alter the relative levels of protein produced²⁰⁴. Therefore, changing the gene order for rVSV-SFTSV from it's current N-P-M-Gn/Gc-L to Gn/Gc-N-P-M-L may lead to increased production of SFTSV Gn/Gc, resulting in higher titers and a less attenuated rVSV-SFTSV. Some studies have shown that genome alterations like those described above can attenuate VSV, while other genetic modifications, such as the addition of a fluorescent protein open reading frame, have resulted in minimal virus attenuation^{205,206}. If attenuation is observed, it may be possible to further manipulate protein levels and restore virulence with 2A self-cleaving peptides. These peptides allow 2 proteins to be encoded by one mRNA by inducing ribosomal skipping at the 2A sequence, which results in the release of the nascent protein. Once ribosomal translation begins again, a second protein is produced²⁰⁷. Development of next generation VSV platforms featuring altered genome organizations will require extensive testing to assess effects on virulence. Next generation rVSVs may also be useful in attenuating rVSVs that are too virulent. For example, the rVSV-EBOV vaccine virus that is currently FDA approved for use in humans is lethal in *Ifnar^{-/-}* mice and is known to cause severe side effects in humans^{97,165}. A next generation rVSV-EBOV vaccine could potentially offer improved immunogenicity and safety. Importantly, development of an rVSV-SFTSV K-3A or next generation rVSV-SFTSV platforms will require further evaluation of vaccine safety. It is likely that as we attempt to increase virulence to improve immunogenicity, we will in turn negatively impact safety, an ideal vaccine candidate must balance safety and immunogenicity.

Two alternatives to increase immunogenicity without altering our current rVSV-SFTSV platform include increasing immunization dosage, and the use of adjuvants. Immunizations in chapters 2 and 3 were done using 10⁶ PFU inoculums. This is a high dose of virus considering that the only rVSV vaccine currently approved for human use has been found to have optimal immunogenicity at 2x10⁷ PFU^{208,209}. Using too high of a dose may lead to inflammation and serious side effects. Furthermore, increasing inoculum titer leads to a reliance on production of more virus, which takes longer to grow and requires more resources, thereby making production inefficient. Adjuvants offer a viable alternative to overcome issues surrounding dosing by stimulating the immune system and thus amplifying immune responses upon vaccination. Unfortunately, most adjuvants in use today drive a type 2 immune response, which is not well suited to respond viral infections²¹⁰. Type 1 response driving adjuvants have been developed in research settings but are not yet approved for human use^{211,212}. Further work is required to determine whether novel adjuvants may improve rVSV-SFTSV immunogenicity and to achieve approval of type 1 skewing adjuvants in humans.

A final consideration of rVSV based vaccines is their ability to elicit rapid nonspecific responses. In our *Ifnar^{-/-}* studies, mice immunized with a single dose of rVSV-SFTSV 7 days prior to lethal challenge were fully protected. Other studies have demonstrated that immunization with rVSVs expressing Marburg glycoproteins provided rapid protection from challenge when administered 3-7 days prior to challenge and even when administered post-exposure¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵. One potential use for this property of rVSV vaccines is in post-exposure prophylaxis. Laboratory needle sticks are a relatively common source of infection, using an rVSV vaccine post-exposure may be protective in some circumstances. Another interesting application of rVSV based vaccines was seen in our α -IFNAR studies where we observed that rVSV-EBOV immunized animals were

protected from lethal challenge in single dose, and when receiving mRNA luciferase boosts. In contrast, vaccination with mRNA luciferase alone did not elicit protective responses. Non-specific rapid protection has been observed in several vaccines such as the live attenuated polio vaccine and the pertussis vaccine¹⁹⁶⁻¹⁹⁹. Similarly to what has been observed in our own work, studies suggest this non-specific protection may last over a month. Due to kinetics and functional characteristics of the adaptive immune response, this protection cannot be mediated by B- and T-cells and is thus likely due to upregulation of innate immune factors such as IFN stimulated genes (ISGs). ISGs are known to have antiviral functions that act broadly and rapidly. A potential use of this broad non-specific protection elicited by rVSVs is in remote and economically disadvantaged areas where it is difficult to follow up with patients and/or maintain a cold chain. Immunization with rVSV based vaccines (which can be lyophilized and maintain infectivity) could potentially protect patients from infection against the immunogen delivered and provide non-specific protection against other common pathogens¹⁰⁸. Taken together, rVSV is a powerful vaccine platform that may be effectively used against many pathogens, and can be modified to provide the best possible responses.

4.2.2 mRNA SFTSV vaccine

Using the mRNA vaccine platform, we developed a novel SFTSV vaccine candidate and demonstrated strong immunogenicity. In both single dose and prime-boost regimens, mRNA SFTSV vaccination induced powerful cellular and humoral responses. Interestingly, we observed mRNA vaccines generated powerful cellular type 1 immunity characterized by the type 1 cytokines IFN, TNF, and IL-2. We did not detect CD4+ T-cells positive for the type 2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-5. Despite the lack of type 2 cytokines, mRNA immunization led to a mixed antibody response with both IgG2c (type 1 isotype), and IgG1 (type 2 isotype, IL-4 is required for class switch to IgG1). Other

studies have reported similar findings of mixed antibody responses and largely type 1 skewed CD4+ responses^{124,127}. These studies found that while CD4+ T-cells remain type 1 skewed, a subset of CD4+ cells called follicular helper T-cells (Tfh) shows mixed type 1/2 polarization^{124,127}. This explains the discrepancy we observed in the skewing of immune responses in antibodies and secreted cytokines. These same studies also suggest that different antigens encoded by mRNA vaccines may impact the immune polarization with some antigens skewing responses to type 1 while other antigens favor a mixed response^{124,127}. Further work is required to dissect the responses incurred by our mRNA SFTSV vaccine to various cellular subsets.

mRNA vaccine technologies allow for the delivery of many potential immunogens. In our studies we used SFTSV Gn/Gc, but other SFTSV targets may be used alone or in conjunction to Gn/Gc. Protein subunit vaccine studies have demonstrated that neutralizing antibodies may be made to either subunit of SFTSV Gn/Gc, which highlights the possibility of mRNA vaccines encoding only Gn or Gc⁴⁵. Immunization with individual Gn/Gc subunits may drive immune responses to target certain epitopes of SFTSV Gn/Gc more potently. Epitope mapping of SFTSV Gn/Gc would also be beneficial in order to establish which epitopes may drive strong T-cell responses allowing for targeted vaccine development. Targeting non-surface SFTSV proteins, such as the nucleoprotein (N), is also an interesting proposition. With nonstructural targets, cellular responses such as CD8+ T-cells would be critical. We have demonstrated that our mRNA vaccines drive strong CD8+ responses in mice though other studies suggests this may not necessarily translate to other animal models^{124,127,130}. It is important to consider the impact that different immunogens may have on the polarization of the immune response as previous work has demonstrated that changes in mRNA vaccine immunogens may alter immune polarization.

Nevertheless, exploring different mRNA immunogens against SFTSV warrants further work.

4.2.3 Heterologous vaccines

Historically, heterologous vaccination strategies in humans have been avoided; However, since the COVID19 pandemic, heterologous immunizations have received renewed attention and emergency authorization has been granted to "mix-and-match" COVID19 vaccines¹⁹². Few studies have done in depth analysis of immunologic responses to heterologous immunizations^{140-142,192}. Preliminary analyses show that heterologous immunization induces similar to slightly inferior levels of antibodies as homologous mRNA immunization, and equivalent to slightly superior cellular responses^{140-142,192}. These results are largely similar to what we have shown, though our studies dive into more immunologic detail. We also compare rVSV+mRNA immunization while other studies have studied an adenovirus prime in the context of COVID19.

Our studies demonstrated that heterologous immunization induces similar immunogenicity to homologous mRNA immunization despite an attenuated rVSV prime. Antibody responses in heterologous immunization demonstrated the highest fold increase in neutralizing antibody titers. Increasing the virulence of the rVSV-SFTSV prime may lead to higher antibody titers after prime and potentially superior titers to homologous mRNA after boost. Similarly, T-cell responses with a single dose of rVSV-SFTSV were lacking in comparison to responses in mice receiving a single dose of mRNA SFTSV; However, upon boost, mice receiving heterologous immunizations had slightly superior T-cell responses in CD4+ T-cells and CD8+ T-cell granzyme B degranulation. These results are particularly interesting due to the relative lack of T-cell stimulation observed upon immunization with rVSV-SFTSV. These results imply that rVSV-SFTSV did prime T-cells to mount a robust response despite our results. Further

characterization of the response to rVSV-SFTSV is necessary to determine whether certain cellular subsets, organs, or response timing can explain the discrepancies observed between the prime and boost immunizations. Taken together, increasing the immunogenicity of the first dose may lead to heterologous immunization eliciting superior antibody and T-cell responses.

Heterologous immunization demonstrated robust T-cell activation, however, Tcell contributions to protection from SFTSV currently remain unknown. Previous studies have suggested that T-cells may contribute to protection from lethal challenge with SFTSV while other studies have suggested CD8+ T-cells are not necessary^{45,54,146}. Currently, no studies have been done to directly determine the contribution of T-cells. Further work is thus required in the form of adoptive transfers to conclusively assess Tcell contributions to protection from lethal SFTSV challenge. Further studies such as these could be used to determine whether CD4+, CD8+ T-cells populations, both, or neither are sufficient to impart protection from SFTSV. Currently, antibodies are the only known correlate of protection for SFTSV, therefore, determining the impact of T-cells would further our understanding of the correlates of protection for SFTSV infection and inform future vaccine development.

Attaining approval for two vaccine platforms simultaneously presents one of the primary obstacles to heterologous vaccines platforms. Vaccine approval requires that all reagents in the vaccine exhibit favorable safety profiles and meet good manufacturing practices. Having multiple platforms in a vaccine regimen would complicate safety trials and impose more work on pharmaceutical companies than using a single platform. As vaccine development is already relatively unprofitable for pharmaceutical companies, they are unlikely to push for vaccine strategies that may impose further financial barriers for approval unless governments impose incentives. The current COVID19 pandemic,

however, demonstrates that governments may embrace heterologous immunizations in times of vaccine shortages or emergency situations. Additionally, if evidence appears for mRNA vaccination inducing superior responses to other platforms it is reasonable that boosters may be given to individuals previously immunized with different vaccine platforms. However, an enduring difficulty of mRNA vaccines is the necessity for cold chains. The delivery of these vaccines to rural and hard to reach areas remains difficult and further work is necessary to address cold chain requirements of mRNA vaccines. *4.2.4 Animal models & cross protection*

A concession that must be made in developing vaccines is that animal models do not accurately represent human immune responses. Nevertheless, it is necessary to select a model that has a similar disease progression and immune system for vaccine trials to occur. Most SFTSV work currently relies on the *Ifnar*^{-/-} mouse which is immunosuppressed; therefore, these mice are not representative of the immune competent humans we would like to protect with vaccinations. The novel α -IFNAR blockade model attempts to address these shortcomings by using mice that have functional immune systems and are only temporarily immunosuppressed to sensitize animals to lethal disease. Further work is necessary to validate other candidate SFTSV vaccine platforms and assess whether immunogenicity of these vaccines is altered in animals with fully competent immune systems. Additionally, validation of the α -IFNAR blockade mouse model with other related bunyaviruses such as HRTV is required to assess its suitability for research of other pathogenic bunyaviruses lacking adequate mouse models.

We have demonstrated that rVSV-SFTSV immunization was cross-protective from lethal challenge with HRTV. Neutralizing antibody data demonstrated only low titers of cross-neutralizing antibodies, suggesting protection was mediated by cellular

responses or other non-neutralizing antibody functions. This is contradictory to previously published data where SFTSV/HRTV cross-neutralization was observed¹¹². In this previous study, a different strain of SFTSV Gn/Gc was delivered as an immunogen than what was used in our studies, suggesting that cross-neutralization and maybe cross-protection may be determined to some extent by the immunogen strain¹¹². Further work is necessary to assess SFTSV strain impacts upon cross-protection from HRTV or other pathogenic bunyaviruses. In preliminary experiments we observed crossneutralization of the Puumala (PUUV) hantavirus upon immunization with rVSV-SFTSV. This suggests that conserved epitopes may exist that could be targets for the development of vaccines targeting highly divergent bunyaviruses. Further work is necessary to determine whether such epitopes can be targeted and what vaccine platforms and immunogens may effectively drive an immune response towards these epitopes.

4.3 – Closing remarks

Overall, this work addresses the lack of SFTSV targeting vaccines by analyzing the safety and immunogenicity of two vaccine platforms. Additionally, we explored novel animal models for use in SFTSV research, and used a heterologous vaccine regimen that proved to be effective at inducing robust immune responses. The two vaccine platforms we explored have favorable immunogenicity and represent strong candidates for the development of anti-SFTSV vaccines for human use. As evidenced by the recent COVID19 pandemic, it is necessary to have easily modified vaccine platforms with well described safety and immunogenicity to facilitate the rapid response to global disease threats. Further work is necessary with both vaccine platforms to address safety, immunogenicity, and delivery concerns; however, these platforms are strong options for use against future emergent pathogens.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1 Ryu, w.-S. Molecular Virology of Human Pathogenic Viruses. (2016).
- Leendertz, S. A., Gogarten, J. F., Dux, A., Calvignac-Spencer, S. & Leendertz, F.
 H. Assessing the Evidence Supporting Fruit Bats as the Primary Reservoirs for
 Ebola Viruses. *Ecohealth* 13, 18-25, doi:10.1007/s10393-015-1053-0 (2016).
- Han, H. J., Yu, H. & Yu, X. J. Evidence for zoonotic origins of Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus. *J Gen Virol* 97, 274-280, doi:10.1099/jgv.0.000342 (2016).
- 4 Sharp, P. M. & Hahn, B. H. Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* **1**, a006841, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006841 (2011).
- Soldan, S. S. & Gonzalez-Scarano, F. Emerging infectious diseases: the Bunyaviridae. *J Neurovirol* 11, 412-423, doi:10.1080/13550280591002496 (2005).
- 6 Fields, B. N. K. D. M. H. P. M. *Fields virology*. (Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2013).
- 7 Maes, P. *et al.* Taxonomy of the family Arenaviridae and the order Bunyavirales: update 2018. *Arch Virol* **163**, 2295-2310, doi:10.1007/s00705-018-3843-5 (2018).
- 8 Hartman, A. Rift Valley Fever. *Clin Lab Med* 37, 285-301,
 doi:10.1016/j.cll.2017.01.004 (2017).
- 9 Ikegami, T. & Makino, S. The pathogenesis of Rift Valley fever. *Viruses* 3, 493519, doi:10.3390/v3050493 (2011).
- Mir, M. A. Hantaviruses. *Clin Lab Med* **30**, 67-91, doi:10.1016/j.cll.2010.01.004
 (2010).
- 11 CDC. Reported Cases of Hantavirus Disease. (2021).
- Shayan, S., Bokaean, M., Shahrivar, M. R. & Chinikar, S. Crimean-Congo
 Hemorrhagic Fever. Lab Med 46, 180-189, doi:10.1309/LMN1P2FRZ7BKZSCO
 (2015).
- Whitehouse, C. A. Crimean-Congo hemorrhagic fever. *Antiviral Res* 64, 145-160, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2004.08.001 (2004).
- 14 Xu, B. *et al.* Metagenomic analysis of fever, thrombocytopenia and leukopenia syndrome (FTLS) in Henan Province, China: discovery of a new bunyavirus. *PLoS Pathog* 7, e1002369, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002369 (2011).
- 15 Yu, X. J. *et al.* Fever with thrombocytopenia associated with a novel bunyavirus in China. *N Engl J Med* **364**, 1523-1532, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1010095 (2011).
- 16 McMullan, L. K. *et al.* A new phlebovirus associated with severe febrile illness in Missouri. *N Engl J Med* **367**, 834-841, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1203378 (2012).
- Tran, X. C. *et al.* Endemic Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome,
 Vietnam. *Emerg Infect Dis* 25, 1029-1031, doi:10.3201/eid2505.181463 (2019).
- Ye, X. L. *et al.* Infection with severe fever with thrombocytopenia virus in healthy population: a cohort study in a high endemic region, China. *Infect Dis Poverty* **10**, 133, doi:10.1186/s40249-021-00918-0 (2021).
- Takahashi, T. *et al.* The first identification and retrospective study of Severe
 Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome in Japan. *J Infect Dis* 209, 816-827,
 doi:10.1093/infdis/jit603 (2014).
- 20 Yoo, J. R. *et al.* Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Virus in Ticks and SFTS Incidence in Humans, South Korea. *Emerg Infect Dis* 26, 2292-2294, doi:10.3201/eid2609.200065 (2020).

- 21 Mendoza, C. A., Ebihara, H. & Yamaoka, S. Immune Modulation and Immune-Mediated Pathogenesis of Emerging Tickborne Banyangviruses. *Vaccines* (*Basel*) 7, doi:10.3390/vaccines7040125 (2019).
- Bopp, N. E. *et al.* Baseline mapping of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virology, epidemiology and vaccine research and development. *NPJ Vaccines* 5, 111, doi:10.1038/s41541-020-00257-5 (2020).
- Brault, A. C., Savage, H. M., Duggal, N. K., Eisen, R. J. & Staples, J. E.
 Heartland Virus Epidemiology, Vector Association, and Disease Potential.
 Viruses 10, doi:10.3390/v10090498 (2018).
- Yun, S. M. *et al.* Molecular detection of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome and tick-borne encephalitis viruses in ixodid ticks collected from vegetation, Republic of Korea, 2014. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* 7, 970-978, doi:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2016.05.003 (2016).
- Park, S. W. *et al.* Prevalence of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus in Haemaphysalis longicornis ticks in South Korea. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis* 5, 975-977, doi:10.1016/j.ttbdis.2014.07.020 (2014).
- Godsey, M. S., Savage, H. M., Burkhalter, K. L., Bosco-Lauth, A. M. & Delorey,
 M. J. Transmission of Heartland Virus (Bunyaviridae: Phlebovirus) by
 Experimentally Infected Amblyomma americanum (Acari: Ixodidae). *J Med Entomol* 53, 1226-1233, doi:10.1093/jme/tjw080 (2016).
- Niu, G. *et al.* Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus among domesticated animals, China. *Emerg Infect Dis* **19**, 756-763, doi:10.3201/eid1905.120245 (2013).

- Raghavan, R. K. *et al.* Potential Spatial Distribution of the Newly Introduced
 Long-horned Tick, Haemaphysalis longicornis in North America. *Sci Rep* 9, 498,
 doi:10.1038/s41598-018-37205-2 (2019).
- Hoogstraal, H., Roberts, F. H., Kohls, G. M. & Tipton, V. J. Review of Haemaphysalis (kaiseriana) Longicornis Neumann (resurrected) of Australia, New Zealand, New Caledonia, Fiji, Japan, Korea, and Northeastern China and USSR, and its parthenogenetic and bisexual populations (Ixodoidea, Ixodidae). J Parasitol 54, 1197-1213 (1968).
- 30 Rainey, T., Occi, J. L., Robbins, R. G. & Egizi, A. Discovery of Haemaphysalis longicornis (Ixodida: Ixodidae) Parasitizing a Sheep in New Jersey, United States. *J Med Entomol* 55, 757-759, doi:10.1093/jme/tjy006 (2018).
- 31 Yu, K. M. *et al.* Shedding and Transmission Modes of Severe Fever With Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Phlebovirus in a Ferret Model. *Open Forum Infect Dis* 6, doi:10.1093/ofid/ofz309 (2019).
- Jung, I. Y. *et al.* Nosocomial person-to-person transmission of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 25, 633 e631-633 e634, doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2019.01.006 (2019).
- Yamanaka, A. *et al.* Direct Transmission of Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia
 Syndrome Virus from Domestic Cat to Veterinary Personnel. *Emerg Infect Dis* 26, 2994-2998, doi:10.3201/eid2612.191513 (2020).
- 34 Tsuru, M. *et al.* Pathological Characteristics of a Patient with Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome (SFTS) Infected with SFTS Virus through a Sick Cat's Bite. *Viruses* **13**, doi:10.3390/v13020204 (2021).
- 35 NIAID. NIAID emerging infectious diseases/pathogens. (2018).

- 36 WHO. 2018 Annual review of diseases prioritized under the Research and Development Blueprint. (2018).
- 37 Hofmann, H. *et al.* Severe fever with thrombocytopenia virus glycoproteins are targeted by neutralizing antibodies and can use DC-SIGN as a receptor for pHdependent entry into human and animal cell lines. *J Virol* 87, 4384-4394, doi:10.1128/JVI.02628-12 (2013).
- 38 Zhang, S. *et al.* NSs protein of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus suppresses interferon production through different mechanism than Rift Valley fever virus. *Acta Virol* **61**, 289-298, doi:10.4149/av_2017_307 (2017).
- Koch, J., Xin, Q., Tischler, N. D. & Lozach, P. Y. Entry of Phenuiviruses into
 Mammalian Host Cells. *Viruses* 13, doi:10.3390/v13020299 (2021).
- 40 Lundu, T. *et al.* Targeting of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus structural proteins to the ERGIC (endoplasmic reticulum Golgi intermediate compartment) and Golgi complex. *Biomed Res* **39**, 27-38, doi:10.2220/biomedres.39.27 (2018).
- Halldorsson, S. *et al.* Structure of a phleboviral envelope glycoprotein reveals a consolidated model of membrane fusion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **113**, 7154-7159, doi:10.1073/pnas.1603827113 (2016).
- Liu, T. *et al.* SNX11 Identified as an Essential Host Factor for SFTS Virus Infection by CRISPR Knockout Screening. *Virol Sin* 34, 508-520, doi:10.1007/s12250-019-00141-0 (2019).
- Drake, M. J. *et al.* A role for glycolipid biosynthesis in severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus entry. *PLoS Pathog* 13, e1006316, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1006316 (2017).

- Wu, Y. *et al.* Structures of phlebovirus glycoprotein Gn and identification of a neutralizing antibody epitope. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **114**, E7564-E7573, doi:10.1073/pnas.1705176114 (2017).
- 45 Kang, J. G. *et al.* Vaccination with single plasmid DNA encoding IL-12 and antigens of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus elicits complete protection in IFNAR knockout mice. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **14**, e0007813, doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0007813 (2020).
- Suzuki, T. *et al.* Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus targets B cells in lethal human infections. *J Clin Invest* **130**, 799-812, doi:10.1172/JCI129171 (2020).
- 47 Matsuno, K. *et al.* Animal Models of Emerging Tick-Borne Phleboviruses:
 Determining Target Cells in a Lethal Model of SFTSV Infection. *Front Microbiol* 8, 104, doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017.00104 (2017).
- Park, S. J. *et al.* Ferret animal model of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome phlebovirus for human lethal infection and pathogenesis. *Nat Microbiol* 4, 438-446, doi:10.1038/s41564-018-0317-1 (2019).
- 49 Matsuno, K. *et al.* Fatal Tickborne Phlebovirus Infection in Captive Cheetahs, Japan. *Emerg Infect Dis* **24**, 1726-1729, doi:10.3201/eid2409.171667 (2018).
- Park, E. S. *et al.* Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Phlebovirus causes lethal viral hemorrhagic fever in cats. *Sci Rep* 9, 11990, doi:10.1038/s41598-019-48317-8 (2019).
- 51 Liu, Y. *et al.* The pathogenesis of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus infection in alpha/beta interferon knockout mice: insights into the pathologic mechanisms of a new viral hemorrhagic fever. *J Virol* **88**, 1781-1786, doi:10.1128/JVI.02277-13 (2014).

- 52 Tani, H. *et al.* Efficacy of T-705 (Favipiravir) in the Treatment of Infections with Lethal Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Virus. *mSphere* 1, doi:10.1128/mSphere.00061-15 (2016).
- Gowen, B. B. *et al.* Modeling Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome
 Virus Infection in Golden Syrian Hamsters: Importance of STAT2 in Preventing
 Disease and Effective Treatment with Favipiravir. *J Virol* 91,
 doi:10.1128/JVI.01942-16 (2017).
- 54 Park, S. C. *et al.* Pathogenicity of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus in mice regulated in type I interferon signaling: Severe fever with thrombocytopenia and type I interferon. *Lab Anim Res* **36**, 38, doi:10.1186/s42826-020-00070-0 (2020).
- Vetter, V., Denizer, G., Friedland, L. R., Krishnan, J. & Shapiro, M.
 Understanding modern-day vaccines: what you need to know. *Ann Med* 50, 110-120, doi:10.1080/07853890.2017.1407035 (2018).
- Rodrigues, C. M. C. & Plotkin, S. A. Impact of Vaccines; Health, Economic and Social Perspectives. *Front Microbiol* **11**, 1526, doi:10.3389/fmicb.2020.01526 (2020).
- 57 Minor, P. D. Live attenuated vaccines: Historical successes and current challenges. *Virology* **479-480**, 379-392, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2015.03.032 (2015).
- 58 Pulendran, B. & Ahmed, R. Immunological mechanisms of vaccination. Nat Immunol 12, 509-517, doi:10.1038/ni.2039 (2011).
- 59 Esteves, K. Safety of oral poliomyelitis vaccine: results of a WHO enquiry. *Bull World Health Organ* **66**, 739-746 (1988).

- Kengsakul, K., Sathirapongsasuti, K. & Punyagupta, S. Fatal myeloencephalitis
 following yellow fever vaccination in a case with HIV infection. *J Med Assoc Thai* 85, 131-134 (2002).
- 61 Schrauder, A. *et al.* Varicella vaccination in a child with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Lancet* **369**, 1232, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60567-4 (2007).
- 62 Centers for Disease, C. & Prevention. Measles pneumonitis following measlesmumps-rubella vaccination of a patient with HIV infection, 1993. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **45**, 603-606 (1996).
- Bozzo, P., Narducci, A. & Einarson, A. Vaccination during pregnancy. *Can Fam Physician* 57, 555-557 (2011).
- Di Pasquale, A., Preiss, S., Tavares Da Silva, F. & Garcon, N. Vaccine
 Adjuvants: from 1920 to 2015 and Beyond. *Vaccines (Basel)* 3, 320-343,
 doi:10.3390/vaccines3020320 (2015).
- 65 Ramezanpour, B., Haan, I., Osterhaus, A. & Claassen, E. Vector-based genetically modified vaccines: Exploiting Jenner's legacy. *Vaccine* 34, 6436-6448, doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.06.059 (2016).
- Vrba, S. M., Kirk, N. M., Brisse, M. E., Liang, Y. & Ly, H. Development and
 Applications of Viral Vectored Vaccines to Combat Zoonotic and Emerging Public
 Health Threats. *Vaccines (Basel)* 8, doi:10.3390/vaccines8040680 (2020).
- Mendonca, S. A., Lorincz, R., Boucher, P. & Curiel, D. T. Adenoviral vector vaccine platforms in the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. *NPJ Vaccines* 6, 97, doi:10.1038/s41541-021-00356-x (2021).
- Khan, K. H. DNA vaccines: roles against diseases. *Germs* 3, 26-35, doi:10.11599/germs.2013.1034 (2013).

- Pardi, N., Hogan, M. J., Porter, F. W. & Weissman, D. mRNA vaccines a new era in vaccinology. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 17, 261-279, doi:10.1038/nrd.2017.243 (2018).
- Corbett, K. S. *et al.* SARS-CoV-2 mRNA vaccine design enabled by prototype pathogen preparedness. *Nature* 586, 567-571, doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2622-0 (2020).
- Chaplin, D. D. Overview of the immune response. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 125, S3-23, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.12.980 (2010).
- 72 Murphy, K. & Weaver, C. Janeway's Immunobiology 9th Edition. (2017).
- Li, D. & Wu, M. Pattern recognition receptors in health and diseases. *Signal Transduct Target Ther* 6, 291, doi:10.1038/s41392-021-00687-0 (2021).
- 74 New, J. S., King, R. G. & Kearney, J. F. Manipulation of the glycan-specific natural antibody repertoire for immunotherapy. *Immunol Rev* 270, 32-50, doi:10.1111/imr.12397 (2016).
- Eilat, D., Webster, D. M. & Rees, A. R. V region sequences of anti-DNA and anti-RNA autoantibodies from NZB/NZW F1 mice. *J Immunol* **141**, 1745-1753 (1988).
- Layton, E. D. *et al.* T Cells Specific for a Mycobacterial Glycolipid Expand after Intravenous Bacillus Calmette-Guerin Vaccination. *J Immunol* 206, 1240-1250, doi:10.4049/jimmunol.2001065 (2021).
- Tai, Y., Wang, Q., Korner, H., Zhang, L. & Wei, W. Molecular Mechanisms of T
 Cells Activation by Dendritic Cells in Autoimmune Diseases. *Front Pharmacol* 9, 642, doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.00642 (2018).
- Annunziato, F., Romagnani, C. & Romagnani, S. The 3 major types of innate and adaptive cell-mediated effector immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 135, 626-635, doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2014.11.001 (2015).

- 79 Brossart, P. & Bevan, M. J. Presentation of exogenous protein antigens on major histocompatibility complex class I molecules by dendritic cells: pathway of presentation and regulation by cytokines. *Blood* **90**, 1594-1599 (1997).
- 80 Wieczorek, M. *et al.* Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) Class I and MHC Class II Proteins: Conformational Plasticity in Antigen Presentation. *Front Immunol* 8, 292, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00292 (2017).
- Pan-Hammarstrom, Q., Zhao, Y. & Hammarstrom, L. Class switch
 recombination: a comparison between mouse and human. *Adv Immunol* 93, 161, doi:10.1016/S0065-2776(06)93001-6 (2007).
- Stebegg, M. *et al.* Regulation of the Germinal Center Response. *Front Immunol*9, 2469, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02469 (2018).
- Akkaya, M., Kwak, K. & Pierce, S. K. B cell memory: building two walls of protection against pathogens. *Nat Rev Immunol* 20, 229-238, doi:10.1038/s41577-019-0244-2 (2020).
- Forthal, D. N. Functions of Antibodies. *Microbiol Spectr* **2**, 1-17 (2014).
- 85 Spellberg, B. & Edwards, J. E., Jr. Type 1/Type 2 immunity in infectious diseases. *Clin Infect Dis* **32**, 76-102, doi:10.1086/317537 (2001).
- Olatunde, A. C., Hale, J. S. & Lamb, T. J. Cytokine-skewed Tfh cells: functional consequences for B cell help. *Trends Immunol* 42, 536-550, doi:10.1016/j.it.2021.04.006 (2021).
- Heinzel, F. P., Sadick, M. D., Mutha, S. S. & Locksley, R. M. Production of interferon gamma, interleukin 2, interleukin 4, and interleukin 10 by CD4+
 lymphocytes in vivo during healing and progressive murine leishmaniasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 88, 7011-7015, doi:10.1073/pnas.88.16.7011 (1991).

- Fulginiti, V. A. *et al.* Respiratory virus immunization. I. A field trial of two inactivated respiratory virus vaccines; an aqueous trivalent parainfluenza virus vaccine and an alum-precipitated respiratory syncytial virus vaccine. *Am J Epidemiol* **89**, 435-448, doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a120956 (1969).
- 89 Prince, G. A. *et al.* Enhancement of respiratory syncytial virus pulmonary pathology in cotton rats by prior intramuscular inoculation of formalin-inactiva ted virus. *J Virol* **57**, 721-728, doi:10.1128/JVI.57.3.721-728.1986 (1986).
- Polack, F. P. Atypical measles and enhanced respiratory syncytial virus disease (ERD) made simple. *Pediatr Res* 62, 111-115, doi:10.1203/PDR.0b013e3180686ce0 (2007).
- Roberts, A., Buonocore, L., Price, R., Forman, J. & Rose, J. K. Attenuated vesicular stomatitis viruses as vaccine vectors. *J Virol* 73, 3723-3732, doi:10.1128/JVI.73.5.3723-3732.1999 (1999).
- Johnson, K. M., Vogel, J. E. & Peralta, P. H. Clinical and serological response to laboratory-acquired human infection by Indiana type vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV). *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 15, 244-246, doi:10.4269/ajtmh.1966.15.244 (1966).
- Schnell, M. J., Buonocore, L., Kretzschmar, E., Johnson, E. & Rose, J. K.
 Foreign glycoproteins expressed from recombinant vesicular stomatitis viruses are incorporated efficiently into virus particles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 11359-11365, doi:10.1073/pnas.93.21.11359 (1996).
- 94 Cross, R. W. *et al.* Quadrivalent VesiculoVax vaccine protects nonhuman primates from viral-induced hemorrhagic fever and death. *J Clin Invest* **130**, 539-551, doi:10.1172/JCI131958 (2020).
- Liu, G. *et al.* Vesicular Stomatitis Virus: From Agricultural Pathogen to Vaccine
 Vector. *Pathogens* 10, doi:10.3390/pathogens10091092 (2021).

- 96 USFDA. First FDA-approved vaccine for the prevention of Ebola virus disease,marking a critical milestone in public health preparedness and response. (2019).
- 97 Henao-Restrepo, A. M. *et al.* Efficacy and effectiveness of an rVSV-vectored vaccine in preventing Ebola virus disease: final results from the Guinea ring vaccination, open-label, cluster-randomised trial (Ebola Ca Suffit!). *Lancet* 389, 505-518, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32621-6 (2017).
- van den Pol, A. N., Mao, G., Chattopadhyay, A., Rose, J. K. & Davis, J. N.
 Chikungunya, Influenza, Nipah, and Semliki Forest Chimeric Viruses with
 Vesicular Stomatitis Virus: Actions in the Brain. *J Virol* 91,
 doi:10.1128/JVI.02154-16 (2017).
- Lo, M. K. *et al.* Single-dose replication-defective VSV-based Nipah virus vaccines provide protection from lethal challenge in Syrian hamsters. *Antiviral Res* 101, 26-29, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2013.10.012 (2014).
- 100 Liu, R. *et al.* A recombinant VSV-vectored MERS-CoV vaccine induces neutralizing antibody and T cell responses in rhesus monkeys after single dose immunization. *Antiviral Res* **150**, 30-38, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2017.12.007 (2018).
- 101 Emanuel, J. *et al.* A VSV-based Zika virus vaccine protects mice from lethal challenge. *Sci Rep* **8**, 11043, doi:10.1038/s41598-018-29401-x (2018).
- Yahalom-Ronen, Y. *et al.* A single dose of recombinant VSV-G-spike vaccine provides protection against SARS-CoV-2 challenge. *Nat Commun* **11**, 6402, doi:10.1038/s41467-020-20228-7 (2020).
- Marzi, A. *et al.* Single Dose of a VSV-Based Vaccine Rapidly Protects Macaques
 From Marburg Virus Disease. *Front Immunol* **12**, 774026,
 doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.774026 (2021).

- 104 Daddario-DiCaprio, K. M. *et al.* Postexposure protection against Marburg haemorrhagic fever with recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus vectors in nonhuman primates: an efficacy assessment. *Lancet* **367**, 1399-1404, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68546-2 (2006).
- 105 Geisbert, T. W. *et al.* Postexposure treatment of Marburg virus infection. *Emerg Infect Dis* **16**, 1119-1122, doi:10.3201/eid1607.100159 (2010).
- 106 Publicover, J., Ramsburg, E. & Rose, J. K. A single-cycle vaccine vector based on vesicular stomatitis virus can induce immune responses comparable to those generated by a replication-competent vector. *J Virol* **79**, 13231-13238, doi:10.1128/JVI.79.21.13231-13238.2005 (2005).
- Dahlke, C. *et al.* Dose-dependent T-cell Dynamics and Cytokine Cascade
 Following rVSV-ZEBOV Immunization. *EBioMedicine* 19, 107-118,
 doi:10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.03.045 (2017).
- 108 Toniolo, S. P. *et al.* Spray dried VSV-vectored vaccine is thermally stable and immunologically active in vivo. *Sci Rep* **10**, 13349, doi:10.1038/s41598-020-70325-2 (2020).
- Hastie, E., Cataldi, M., Marriott, I. & Grdzelishvili, V. Z. Understanding and altering cell tropism of vesicular stomatitis virus. *Virus Res* 176, 16-32, doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2013.06.003 (2013).
- 110 Muik, A. *et al.* Pseudotyping vesicular stomatitis virus with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus glycoproteins enhances infectivity for glioma cells and minimizes neurotropism. *J Virol* **85**, 5679-5684, doi:10.1128/JVI.02511-10 (2011).
- Poetsch, J. H. *et al.* Detectable Vesicular Stomatitis Virus (VSV)-SpecificHumoral and Cellular Immune Responses Following VSV-Ebola Virus

Vaccination in Humans. *J Infect Dis* **219**, 556-561, doi:10.1093/infdis/jiy565 (2019).

- 112 Dong, F. *et al.* Single dose of a rVSV-based vaccine elicits complete protection against severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus. *NPJ Vaccines* **4**, 5, doi:10.1038/s41541-018-0096-y (2019).
- 113 USFDA. Comirnaty and Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 Vaccine. (2021).
- 114 USFDA. Spikevax and Moderna COVID-19 Vaccine. (2022).
- Chaudhary, N., Weissman, D. & Whitehead, K. A. mRNA vaccines for infectious diseases: principles, delivery and clinical translation. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 20, 817-838, doi:10.1038/s41573-021-00283-5 (2021).
- Alberer, M. *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of a mRNA rabies vaccine in healthy adults: an open-label, non-randomised, prospective, first-in-human phase 1 clinical trial. *Lancet* **390**, 1511-1520, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31665-3 (2017).
- Gallie, D. R. The cap and poly(A) tail function synergistically to regulate mRNA translational efficiency. *Genes Dev* 5, 2108-2116, doi:10.1101/gad.5.11.2108 (1991).
- 118 Kariko, K. *et al.* Incorporation of pseudouridine into mRNA yields superior nonimmunogenic vector with increased translational capacity and biological stability. *Mol Ther* **16**, 1833-1840, doi:10.1038/mt.2008.200 (2008).
- 119 Kariko, K., Buckstein, M., Ni, H. & Weissman, D. Suppression of RNA recognition by Toll-like receptors: the impact of nucleoside modification and the evolutionary origin of RNA. *Immunity* 23, 165-175, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.06.008 (2005).
- 120 Kariko, K., Muramatsu, H., Ludwig, J. & Weissman, D. Generating the optimal mRNA for therapy: HPLC purification eliminates immune activation and improves

translation of nucleoside-modified, protein-encoding mRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res* **39**, e142, doi:10.1093/nar/gkr695 (2011).

- 121 Isaacs, A., Cox, R. A. & Rotem, Z. Foreign nucleic acids as the stimulus to make interferon. *Lancet* **2**, 113-116, doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(63)92585-6 (1963).
- 122 Cui, S. *et al.* Correlation of the cytotoxic effects of cationic lipids with their headgroups. *Toxicol Res (Camb)* **7**, 473-479, doi:10.1039/c8tx00005k (2018).
- Lonez, C., Vandenbranden, M. & Ruysschaert, J. M. Cationic lipids activate intracellular signaling pathways. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 64, 1749-1758, doi:10.1016/j.addr.2012.05.009 (2012).
- 124 Lederer, K. *et al.* SARS-CoV-2 mRNA Vaccines Foster Potent Antigen-Specific Germinal Center Responses Associated with Neutralizing Antibody Generation. *Immunity* **53**, 1281-1295 e1285, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2020.11.009 (2020).
- Laczko, D. *et al.* A Single Immunization with Nucleoside-Modified mRNA
 Vaccines Elicits Strong Cellular and Humoral Immune Responses against SARS CoV-2 in Mice. *Immunity* 53, 724-732 e727, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2020.07.019
 (2020).
- 126 Alameh, M. G. *et al.* Lipid nanoparticles enhance the efficacy of mRNA and protein subunit vaccines by inducing robust T follicular helper cell and humoral responses. *Immunity* 54, 2877-2892 e2877, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2021.11.001 (2021).
- 127 Bettini, E. & Locci, M. SARS-CoV-2 mRNA Vaccines: Immunological Mechanism and Beyond. *Vaccines (Basel)* **9**, doi:10.3390/vaccines9020147 (2021).
- Wajnberg, A. *et al.* Robust neutralizing antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 infection persist for months. *Science* **370**, 1227-1230, doi:10.1126/science.abd7728 (2020).

- 129 Dan, J. M. *et al.* Immunological memory to SARS-CoV-2 assessed for up to 8 months after infection. *Science* **371**, doi:10.1126/science.abf4063 (2021).
- Corbett, K. S. *et al.* Evaluation of the mRNA-1273 Vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 in Nonhuman Primates. *N Engl J Med* 383, 1544-1555, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2024671 (2020).
- 131 Pardi, N. *et al.* Zika virus protection by a single low-dose nucleoside-modified mRNA vaccination. *Nature* **543**, 248-251, doi:10.1038/nature21428 (2017).
- 132 Richner, J. M. *et al.* Modified mRNA Vaccines Protect against Zika Virus Infection. *Cell* **169**, 176, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.03.016 (2017).
- 133 Geall, A. J. *et al.* Nonviral delivery of self-amplifying RNA vaccines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **109**, 14604-14609, doi:10.1073/pnas.1209367109 (2012).
- 134 Fleeton, M. N. *et al.* Self-replicative RNA vaccines elicit protection against influenza A virus, respiratory syncytial virus, and a tickborne encephalitis virus. *J Infect Dis* **183**, 1395-1398, doi:10.1086/319857 (2001).
- Freyn, A. W. *et al.* A Multi-Targeting, Nucleoside-Modified mRNA Influenza Virus
 Vaccine Provides Broad Protection in Mice. *Mol Ther* 28, 1569-1584,
 doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2020.04.018 (2020).
- Hu, S. L., Klaniecki, J., Dykers, T., Sridhar, P. & Travis, B. M. Neutralizing antibodies against HIV-1 BRU and SF2 isolates generated in mice immunized with recombinant vaccinia virus expressing HIV-1 (BRU) envelope glycoproteins and boosted with homologous gp160. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* 7, 615-620, doi:10.1089/aid.1991.7.615 (1991).
- 137 USFDA. Coronavirus (COVID-19) Update: FDA Takes Additional Actions on the Use of a Booster Dose for COVID-19 Vaccines. (2021).

- Nordstrom, P., Ballin, M. & Nordstrom, A. Effectiveness of heterologous
 ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 and mRNA prime-boost vaccination against symptomatic
 Covid-19 infection in Sweden: A nationwide cohort study. *Lancet Reg Health Eur* 11, 100249, doi:10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100249 (2021).
- 139 Barros-Martins, J. *et al.* Immune responses against SARS-CoV-2 variants after heterologous and homologous ChAdOx1 nCoV-19/BNT162b2 vaccination. *Nat Med* 27, 1525-1529, doi:10.1038/s41591-021-01449-9 (2021).
- 140 Liu, X. *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of heterologous versus homologous prime-boost schedules with an adenoviral vectored and mRNA COVID-19 vaccine (Com-COV): a single-blind, randomised, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* **398**, 856-869, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01694-9 (2021).
- Hillus, D. *et al.* Safety, reactogenicity, and immunogenicity of homologous and heterologous prime-boost immunisation with ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 and BNT162b2: a prospective cohort study. *Lancet Respir Med* 9, 1255-1265, doi:10.1016/S2213-2600(21)00357-X (2021).
- 142 Spencer, A. J. *et al.* Heterologous vaccination regimens with self-amplifying RNA and adenoviral COVID vaccines induce robust immune responses in mice. *Nat Commun* **12**, 2893, doi:10.1038/s41467-021-23173-1 (2021).
- 143 Egan, M. A. *et al.* Priming with plasmid DNAs expressing interleukin-12 and simian immunodeficiency virus gag enhances the immunogenicity and efficacy of an experimental AIDS vaccine based on recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus. *AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses* **21**, 629-643, doi:10.1089/aid.2005.21.629 (2005).
- Kwak, J. E. *et al.* Development of a SFTSV DNA vaccine that confers complete protection against lethal infection in ferrets. *Nat Commun* 10, 3836, doi:10.1038/s41467-019-11815-4 (2019).

- Gupta, R. K. Aluminum compounds as vaccine adjuvants. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev* 32, 155-172, doi:10.1016/s0169-409x(98)00008-8 (1998).
- 146 Yoshikawa, T. *et al.* A highly attenuated vaccinia virus strain LC16m8-based vaccine for severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome. *PLoS Pathog* 17, e1008859, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1008859 (2021).
- Munier, C. M. L. *et al.* The primary immune response to Vaccinia virus vaccination includes cells with a distinct cytotoxic effector CD4 T-cell phenotype.
 Vaccine 34, 5251-5261, doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.09.009 (2016).
- Swain, S. L., McKinstry, K. K. & Strutt, T. M. Expanding roles for CD4(+) T cells in immunity to viruses. *Nat Rev Immunol* **12**, 136-148, doi:10.1038/nri3152 (2012).
- 149 Tian, L. *et al.* A rabies virus vectored severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome (SFTS) bivalent candidate vaccine confers protective immune responses in mice. *Vet Microbiol* **257**, 109076, doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2021.109076 (2021).
- 150 Kim, Y. R. *et al.* Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Virus Infection, South Korea, 2010. *Emerg Infect Dis* 24, 2103-2105, doi:10.3201/eid2411.170756 (2018).
- Li, D. X. Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome: a newly discovered emerging infectious disease. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 21, 614-620, doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2015.03.001 (2015).
- Lozach, P. Y. *et al.* DC-SIGN as a receptor for phleboviruses. *Cell Host Microbe* **10**, 75-88, doi:10.1016/j.chom.2011.06.007 (2011).

- 153 Wu, X. *et al.* A single-domain antibody inhibits SFTSV and mitigates virusinduced pathogenesis in vivo. *JCI Insight* 5, doi:10.1172/jci.insight.136855 (2020).
- Kim, H. C. *et al.* Ticks collected from selected mammalian hosts surveyed in the Republic of Korea during 2008-2009. *Korean J Parasitol* 49, 331-335, doi:10.3347/kjp.2011.49.3.331 (2011).
- 155 Chong, S. T. *et al.* Seasonal distribution of ticks in four habitats near the demilitarized zone, Gyeonggi-do (Province), Republic of Korea. *Korean J Parasitol* **51**, 319-325, doi:10.3347/kjp.2013.51.3.319 (2013).
- 156 Seo, M. G. *et al.* Nationwide Temporal and Geographical Distribution of Tick Populations and Phylogenetic Analysis of Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Virus in Ticks in Korea, 2020. *Microorganisms* 9, doi:10.3390/microorganisms9081630 (2021).
- 157 Sato, Y. *et al.* Isolation of Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Virus from Various Tick Species in Area with Human Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Cases. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis* **21**, 378-384, doi:10.1089/vbz.2020.2720 (2021).
- Beard, C. B. *et al.* Multistate Infestation with the Exotic Disease-Vector Tick
 Haemaphysalis longicornis United States, August 2017-September 2018.
 MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 67, 1310-1313, doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6747a3
 (2018).
- Heath, A. Biology, ecology and distribution of the tick, Haemaphysalis longicornis
 Neumann (Acari: Ixodidae) in New Zealand. *N Z Vet J* 64, 10-20,
 doi:10.1080/00480169.2015.1035769 (2016).

- Sutherst, R. W. & Bourne, A. S. Development, survival, fecundity and behaviour of Haemaphysalis (Kaiseriana) longicornis (Ixodidae) at two locations in southeast Queensland. *Int J Parasitol* **21**, 661-672, doi:10.1016/0020-7519(91)90077-k (1991).
- 161 Chen, X. P. *et al.* Infection and pathogenesis of Huaiyangshan virus (a novel tick-borne bunyavirus) in laboratory rodents. *J Gen Virol* 93, 1288-1293, doi:10.1099/vir.0.041053-0 (2012).
- Jin, C. *et al.* Pathogenesis of emerging severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus in C57/BL6 mouse model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 109, 10053-10058, doi:10.1073/pnas.1120246109 (2012).
- 163 Yu, K. M. *et al.* Cross-genotype protection of live-attenuated vaccine candidate for severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus in a ferret model. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, doi:10.1073/pnas.1914704116 (2019).
- Marzi, A. *et al.* Stat1-Deficient Mice Are Not an Appropriate Model for Efficacy
 Testing of Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus-Based Filovirus Vaccines. *J Infect Dis* **212 Suppl 2**, S404-409, doi:10.1093/infdis/jiv188 (2015).
- 165 McWilliams, I. L. *et al.* Pseudovirus rVSVDeltaG-ZEBOV-GP Infects Neurons in Retina and CNS, Causing Apoptosis and Neurodegeneration in Neonatal Mice. *Cell Rep* 26, 1718-1726 e1714, doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.01.069 (2019).
- van den Pol, A. N., Dalton, K. P. & Rose, J. K. Relative neurotropism of a recombinant rhabdovirus expressing a green fluorescent envelope glycoprotein.
 J Virol 76, 1309-1327, doi:10.1128/jvi.76.3.1309-1327.2002 (2002).
- Johnson, J. E. *et al.* Neurovirulence properties of recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus vectors in non-human primates. *Virology* 360, 36-49, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2006.10.026 (2007).

- Brunker, K. & Mollentze, N. Rabies Virus. *Trends Microbiol* 26, 886-887, doi:10.1016/j.tim.2018.07.001 (2018).
- 169 Wang, X. *et al.* Clinical manifestations of death with severe fever and thrombocytopenia syndrome: A meta-analysis and systematic review. *J Med Virol* 93, 3960-3968, doi:10.1002/jmv.26518 (2021).
- 170 Cox, R. J. Correlates of protection to influenza virus, where do we go from here? *Hum Vaccin Immunother* **9**, 405-408, doi:10.4161/hv.22908 (2013).
- 171 Khoury, D. S. *et al.* Neutralizing antibody levels are highly predictive of immune protection from symptomatic SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Nat Med* 27, 1205-1211, doi:10.1038/s41591-021-01377-8 (2021).
- 172 Muller, U. *et al.* Functional role of type I and type II interferons in antiviral defense. *Science* **264**, 1918-1921, doi:10.1126/science.8009221 (1994).
- Durbin, J. E., Hackenmiller, R., Simon, M. C. & Levy, D. E. Targeted disruption of the mouse Stat1 gene results in compromised innate immunity to viral disease.
 Cell 84, 443-450, doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81289-1 (1996).
- 174 Smee, D. F., Jung, K. H., Westover, J. & Gowen, B. B. 2'-Fluoro-2'-deoxycytidine is a broad-spectrum inhibitor of bunyaviruses in vitro and in phleboviral disease mouse models. *Antiviral Res* **160**, 48-54, doi:10.1016/j.antiviral.2018.10.013 (2018).
- Wang, W., Zhang, A., Wu, Q., Zhu, L. & Yang, J. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome in southern Anhui Province, 2011-2020. *Jpn J Infect Dis*, doi:10.7883/yoken.JJID.2021.391 (2021).

- 176 Yun, S. M. *et al.* Genetic and pathogenic diversity of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus (SFTSV) in South Korea. *JCI Insight* 5, doi:10.1172/jci.insight.129531 (2020).
- Sun, J. *et al.* The changing epidemiological characteristics of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome in China, 2011-2016. *Sci Rep* 7, 9236, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-08042-6 (2017).
- Seo, M. G. *et al.* Nationwide Incidence of Chigger Mite Populations and
 Molecular Detection of Orientia tsutsugamushi in the Republic of Korea, 2020.
 Microorganisms 9, doi:10.3390/microorganisms9081563 (2021).
- Liu, R. *et al.* Immunization with recombinant SFTSV/NSs protein does not promote virus clearance in SFTSV-infected C57BL/6J mice. *Viral Immunol* 28, 113-122, doi:10.1089/vim.2014.0100 (2015).
- Song, P. *et al.* Deficient humoral responses and disrupted B-cell immunity are associated with fatal SFTSV infection. *Nat Commun* 9, 3328, doi:10.1038/s41467-018-05746-9 (2018).
- 181 Kim, K. H. *et al.* An anti-Gn glycoprotein antibody from a convalescent patient potently inhibits the infection of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus. *PLoS Pathog* **15**, e1007375, doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1007375 (2019).
- 182 Kim, C., Fang, F., Weyand, C. M. & Goronzy, J. J. The life cycle of a T cell after vaccination - where does immune ageing strike? *Clin Exp Immunol* **187**, 71-81, doi:10.1111/cei.12829 (2017).
- Williams, M. A. & Bevan, M. J. Effector and memory CTL differentiation. *Annu Rev Immunol* 25, 171-192, doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141548 (2007).

- 184 Fill, M. A. *et al.* Novel Clinical and Pathologic Findings in a Heartland Virus-Associated Death. *Clin Infect Dis* **64**, 510-512, doi:10.1093/cid/ciw766 (2017).
- 185 Muehlenbachs, A. *et al.* Heartland virus-associated death in tennessee. *Clin Infect Dis* 59, 845-850, doi:10.1093/cid/ciu434 (2014).
- Haines, K. M., Vande Burgt, N. H., Francica, J. R., Kaletsky, R. L. & Bates, P.
 Chinese hamster ovary cell lines selected for resistance to ebolavirus
 glycoprotein mediated infection are defective for NPC1 expression. *Virology* 432, 20-28, doi:10.1016/j.virol.2012.05.018 (2012).
- 187 Gowen, B. B. *et al.* In vitro and in vivo activities of T-705 against arenavirus and bunyavirus infections. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **51**, 3168-3176, doi:10.1128/AAC.00356-07 (2007).
- 188 Reed, L. J. & Muench, H. A simple method of estimating fifty percent endpoints.
 American Journal of Hygiene 27, 493-497 (1938).
- Lin, T. L. *et al.* The first discovery of severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome virus in Taiwan. *Emerg Microbes Infect* 9, 148-151, doi:10.1080/22221751.2019.1710436 (2020).
- Hicks, P. *et al.* Safety, Immunogenicity and Efficacy of a Recombinant Vesicular Stomatitis Virus Vectored Vaccine Against Severe Fever with Thrombocytopenia Syndrome Virus and Heartland Bandaviruses. *BioRxiv*, doi:10.1101/2021.11.29.470508 (2021).
- 191 Tenforde, M. W. *et al.* Effectiveness of SARS-CoV-2 mRNA Vaccines for Preventing Covid-19 Hospitalizations in the United States. *Clin Infect Dis*, doi:10.1093/cid/ciab687 (2021).
- Atmar, R. L. *et al.* Homologous and Heterologous Covid-19 BoosterVaccinations. *N Engl J Med*, doi:10.1056/NEJMoa2116414 (2022).

- 193 Smith, D. R. *et al.* Neuropathogenesis of Zika Virus in a Highly Susceptible Immunocompetent Mouse Model after Antibody Blockade of Type I Interferon. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **11**, e0005296, doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0005296 (2017).
- Collins, A. M. IgG subclass co-expression brings harmony to the quartet model of murine IgG function. *Immunol Cell Biol* 94, 949-954, doi:10.1038/icb.2016.65 (2016).
- 195 Overby, A. K., Popov, V. L., Pettersson, R. F. & Neve, E. P. The cytoplasmic tails of Uukuniemi Virus (Bunyaviridae) G(N) and G(C) glycoproteins are important for intracellular targeting and the budding of virus-like particles. *J Virol* 81, 11381-11391, doi:10.1128/JVI.00767-07 (2007).
- 196 Sorup, S. *et al.* Oral Polio Vaccination and Hospital Admissions With Non-Polio Infections in Denmark: Nationwide Retrospective Cohort Study. *Open Forum Infect Dis* **3**, ofv204, doi:10.1093/ofid/ofv204 (2016).
- 197 Andersen, A. *et al.* National Immunization Campaigns with Oral Polio Vaccine Reduce All-Cause Mortality: A Natural Experiment within Seven Randomized Trials. *Front Public Health* 6, 13, doi:10.3389/fpubh.2018.00013 (2018).
- 198 Cauchi, S. & Locht, C. Non-specific Effects of Live Attenuated Pertussis Vaccine Against Heterologous Infectious and Inflammatory Diseases. *Front Immunol* 9, 2872, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02872 (2018).
- 199 Gowen, B. B. *et al.* Extended protection against phlebovirus infection conferred by recombinant adenovirus expressing consensus interferon (DEF201). *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **56**, 4168-4174, doi:10.1128/AAC.00376-12 (2012).

- Pardi, N., Muramatsu, H., Weissman, D. & Kariko, K. In vitro transcription of long RNA containing modified nucleosides. *Methods Mol Biol* 969, 29-42, doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-260-5_2 (2013).
- Baiersdorfer, M. *et al.* A Facile Method for the Removal of dsRNA Contaminant from In Vitro-Transcribed mRNA. *Mol Ther Nucleic Acids* 15, 26-35, doi:10.1016/j.omtn.2019.02.018 (2019).
- 202 Maier, M. A. *et al.* Biodegradable lipids enabling rapidly eliminated lipid nanoparticles for systemic delivery of RNAi therapeutics. *Mol Ther* **21**, 1570-1578, doi:10.1038/mt.2013.124 (2013).
- Abraham, G. & Banerjee, A. K. Sequential transcription of the genes of vesicular stomatitis virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 73, 1504-1508, doi:10.1073/pnas.73.5.1504 (1976).
- Ball, L. A., Pringle, C. R., Flanagan, B., Perepelitsa, V. P. & Wertz, G. W.
 Phenotypic consequences of rearranging the P, M, and G genes of vesicular stomatitis virus. *J Virol* 73, 4705-4712, doi:10.1128/JVI.73.6.4705-4712.1999 (1999).
- 205 Flanagan, E. B., Zamparo, J. M., Ball, L. A., Rodriguez, L. L. & Wertz, G. W. Rearrangement of the genes of vesicular stomatitis virus eliminates clinical disease in the natural host: new strategy for vaccine development. *J Virol* **75**, 6107-6114, doi:10.1128/JVI.75.13.6107-6114.2001 (2001).
- van den Pol, A. N. & Davis, J. N. Highly attenuated recombinant vesicular stomatitis virus VSV-12'GFP displays immunogenic and oncolytic activity. *J Virol* 87, 1019-1034, doi:10.1128/JVI.01106-12 (2013).
- 207 Liu, Z. *et al.* Systematic comparison of 2A peptides for cloning multi-genes in a polycistronic vector. *Sci Rep* 7, 2193, doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02460-2 (2017).

- Heppner, D. G., Jr. *et al.* Safety and immunogenicity of the rVSVG-ZEBOV-GP
 Ebola virus vaccine candidate in healthy adults: a phase 1b randomised,
 multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-response study. *Lancet Infect Dis* 17, 854-866, doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30313-4 (2017).
- Coller, B. G. *et al.* Clinical development of a recombinant Ebola vaccine in the midst of an unprecedented epidemic. *Vaccine* 35, 4465-4469, doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.05.097 (2017).
- Bergmann-Leitner, E. S. & Leitner, W. W. Adjuvants in the Driver's Seat: How
 Magnitude, Type, Fine Specificity and Longevity of Immune Responses Are
 Driven by Distinct Classes of Immune Potentiators. *Vaccines (Basel)* 2, 252-296, doi:10.3390/vaccines2020252 (2014).
- 211 Fisher, D. G., Coppock, G. M. & Lopez, C. B. Virus-derived immunostimulatory RNA induces type I IFN-dependent antibodies and T-cell responses during vaccination. *Vaccine* **36**, 4039-4045, doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.05.100 (2018).
- Pashine, A., Valiante, N. M. & Ulmer, J. B. Targeting the innate immune response with improved vaccine adjuvants. *Nat Med* 11, S63-68, doi:10.1038/nm1210 (2005).